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NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwdmdking statements within the meaning of the Pav@ecurities Litigation Reform Act
1995. These statements include, among other thitgements regarding plans, objectives, goalatesfies, future events or performance
underlying assumptions and other statements, waiehother than statements of historical facts. Beodwooking statements may app
throughout this report, including without limitatio the following sections: Item 1 “Business,” ItetiA “Risk Factors,”and Item
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan@aindition and Results of Operations.” Forwérdking statements generally can
identified by words such as “anticipates,” “belisye“estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “edicts,” “projects,” “will be,” ‘will
continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expregons. These forwarlboking statements are based on current expectasiod assumptions tl
are subject to risks and uncertainties, which caddse our actual results to differ materially frémose reflected in the forwatdeking
statements. Factors that could cause or contritouseich differences include, but are not limitedttmse discussed in this Annual Repor
Form 10-K, and in particular, the risks discussadar the caption “Risk Factor#i Item 1A and those discussed in other documestdila
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SH@)ortant factors that in our view could cause maltedverse affects on our financ
condition and results of operations include, bt aote limited to, the risks and uncertaintiesteglato our future operational and finan
results, competitive factors, the timing of the wpgs of other clubs, the availability of accepgafihancing to fund corporate expansion effi
our dependence on key personnel, the ability toagaroperations and the future operational streofjthanagement, and the laws goveri
the operation of adult entertainment businesses.uéertake no obligation to revise or publicly esde the results of any revision to

forward{ooking statements, except as required by law. Bihese risks and uncertainties, readers are ceaatioot to place undue reliance
such forward-looking statements.

As used herein, the “Company,” “we,” “our,” and dimn terms include Ricls Cabaret International, Inc. and its subsidiatiesess the conte
indicates otherwise.
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PART |
Item 1. Business.
INTRODUCTION
Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. was incorporatethe State of Texas in 1994. Through our subsiel§, as of September 30, 2013, we op
a total of thirty-nine establishments that offareliadult entertainment, and/or restaurant and parations. We also intend, through c

subsidiaries, to open an additional three locatmnthe end of the calendar year. We have onartage segment, nightclubs.

SCHEDULE OF CLUBS

Date
Name of Nightcluk Acquired/Opene

Club Onyx, Houston, T2 1995
Rick's Cabaret, Minneapolis, M 1998
XTC Cabaret, Austin, T? 1998
XTC Cabaret, San Antonio, T 1998
XTC Cabaret North, Houston, T 2004
Rick's Cabaret, New York City, N 2005
Club Onyx, Charlotte, N( 2005
Rick's Cabaret, San Antonio, 1 2006
XTC Cabaret South, South Houston, 2006
Rick's Cabaret, Fort Worth, T 2007
Tootsie's Cabaret, Miami Gardens, 2008
XTC Cabaret, Dallas, T. 2008
Club Onyx, Dallas, T> 2008
Club Onyx, Philadelphia, P. 2008
Rick's Cabaret, North Austin, T 2009
Cabaret North, Fort Worth, T 2009
Cabaret East, Fort Worth, T 2010
XTC Cabaret, Fort Worth, T. 2010
Rick's Cabaret DFW, Fort Worth, T 2011
Downtown Cabaret, Minneapolis, M 2011
Rick's Cabaret, Indianapoalis, | 2011
Temptations, Aledo, T3 2011
Silver City Cabaret, Dallas, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Odessa, - 2012
Jaguars Club, Phoenix, £ 2012
Jaguars Club, Lubbock, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Longview, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Tye, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Edinburg, T 2012
Jaguars Club, El Paso, 1 2012
Jaguars Club, Harlingen, T 2012
Rick's Cabaret, Lubbock, T 2012
Jaguar's Club, Beaumont, 1 2012
Rick's Cabaret, Odessa, TX | 2012
Vee Lounge, Fort Worth, T. 2013
Bombshells, Dallas, T. 2013
Ricky Bobby Sport Saloon, Fort Worth, 1 2013
Temptations, Sulphur, L, 2013
Temptations, Beaumont, T 2013
Vivid Cabaret, Los Angeles, C 2013
Vivid Cabaret, New York, NY (1 2013
Bombshells, Beaumont, TX (. 2013
Jaguars, Houston, TX (. 2013
Bombshells, Austin, TX (2 2013
Bombshells, Webster, TX (i 2013
The Black Orchid, Dallas, TX (¢ 2013

(1) To be opened in Calendar 2013.
(2) To be opened in Calendar 2014.
(3) Acquired in October 2013.




As noted above, we have the following nightclubstAigrant under construction or contract:

« Vivid Cabaret in New York — the building is beingnmodeled and should open in the fall.
« Rick’s Cabaret Odessa, Texas — under constructapening in spring of 2014.

« Bombshells Beaumont — the building is being remed@ind should open in the fall.

« Jaguars Houston to be opened in December 2013.

« Bombshells Austin to be opened in Spring 2014.

« Bombshells Webster to be opened in Spring 2014.

Our website address is www.Ricks.comWe also have an investors’ website — www.rickestor.com. Upon written request, we me
available free of charge our Annual Report on F&O¥K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Repon Form &, and all amendmer
to those reports as soon as reasonably practiedielesuch material is electronically filed withet®EC under the Securities Exchange A
1934, as amended. Information contained in the ite=bball not be construed as part of this FornkK10-

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES—NIGHTCLUBS

Prior to the opening of the first Rick's Cabarel®83 in Houston, Texas, the adult entertainmegtitolub business was characterized by ¢
establishments generally managed by their owneer&ing policies of these establishments were dégnthe sites were generally dimly
standards for performers' personal appearance emrsdnmlity were not maintained and it was custonfiaryperformers to alternate betw:
dancing and waiting tables. The quantity and gualitbar service was low and food was not frequyeotfered. Music was usually "hard" rc
and roll, played at a loud level by a disc jockggually, only cash was accepted. Many businessmlénricomfortable in such environme|
Recognizing a void in the market for a fid&ss adult nightclub, we designed Rick's Cabartarget the more affluent customer by providi
unique quality entertainment environment. The felllgy summarizes our areas of operation that diststgus:

Female EntertainersOur policy is to maintain high standards for bp#rsonal appearance and personality for the airiers an
waitresses. Of equal importance is a performeilgyato present herself attractively and to engageonversation with customers. '
prefer that performers who work at our clubs beeedgmced entertainers. We make a determination adéther a particular applici
is suitable based on such factors of appearaniteidat dress, communication skills and demeanbalAclubs, except for our Rick’
Minnesota location, the entertainers are indepenctantractors. We do not schedule their work hours.

Management We often recruit staff from inside the adult eta@ment industry, as well as from large restatieamd club chains,
the belief that management with experience in #wos adds to our ability to grow and attract gyadintertainers as well as client
Management with experience is able to train newuitcfrom outside the industry.

Compliance Policies/EmployeesNe have a policy of ensuring that our businessesoperated in conformity with local, state
federal laws. In particular, we have a "no toleegingolicy as to illegal drug use in or around therpises. Posters placed througl
the nightclubs reinforce this policy, as do per@odnannounced searches of the entertainers' lodkatsrtainers and waitresses \
arrive for work are not allowed to leave the pressisvithout notifying management. If an entertaidees leave the premises, sh
not allowed to return to work until the next dayeWontinually monitor the behavior of entertainergjtresses and customer
ensure that proper standards of behavior are obderv

Compliance Policies/Credit CardsWe review all credit card charges made by outctners. We have in place a formal po
requiring that all credit card charges must be aygud, in writing, by management before any chaagesaccepted. Managemer
trained to review credit card charges to ensurettigaonly charges approved for payment are fod faoink and entertainment.




Food and Drink. We believe that a key to the success of our lm@drabult nightclubs is a quality, firstass bar and restaur
operation to compliment our adult entertainment. &kfgloy service managers who recruit and traingesibnal wait staff and ens
that each customer receives prompt and courteawiscee We employ chefs with restaurant experier@ar bar managers orc
inventory and schedule bar staff. We believe thatdperation of a first class restaurant is a reecgscomponent to the operation
premiere adult cabaret, as is the provision of jemwine, liquor and beer in order to ensure thatdcustomer perceives and obt
good value. At most locations, our restaurant apmsra provide business lunch buffets and full luacid dinner menu service with
and cold appetizers, salads, seafood, steak, astelo An extensive selection of quality winesvaikable at most locations.

Controls. Operational and accounting controls are essetatile successful operation of a cash intensightoiub and bar busine
At each location, we have designed and implemeimtexinal procedures and controls to ensure thagiityeof our operational ar
accounting records. Wherever practicable, we sépananagement personnel from all cash handlindgyabrmanagement is isola
from and does not handle any cash. We use a cotidrinat accounting and physical inventory contr@aehanisms to maintain a h
level of integrity in our accounting practices.dnhation technology plays a significant role in tajmg and analyzing a variety
information to provide management with the inforimatnecessary to efficiently manage and controheadghtclub. Deposits of ca
and credit card receipts are reconciled each daydaily income report. In addition, we review odaily basis (i) cash and credit ¢
summaries which tie together all cash and credid ¢eansactions occurring at the front door, theskia the club and the cast
station, (i) a summary of the daily bartenderstaitout reports, and (iii) a daily cash requirementalysis which reconciles t
previous day's cash on hand to the requirementthénext day's operations. These daily compufgorts alert local management
any variances from expected financial results baselistorical norms. We conduct a monthly overvaveur financial condition ar
operating results.

Atmosphere We maintain a high design standard in our faediand decor. The furniture and furnishings inrtghtclubs create tl
feeling of an upscale restaurant. The sound sygt@vides quality sound at levels at which convéosat can still take place. T
environment is carefully monitored for music seil@tt entertainer and waitress appearance and édices of customer service o
continuous basis.

VIP Room. In keeping with our emphasis on serving the wguet of the businessmen's market, some of our didgigénclude a VI
room, which provides a higher level of service andiry.

Advertising and PromotionOur consumer marketing strategy is to position“ick's Cabaretbrand clubs as premiere entertainn
facilities that provide exceptional adult entertaant in a fun, yet discreet, environment. We usaregety of highly targeted methods
reach our customers including hotel publicationsal radio, cable television, newspapers, billbsatdxicab reader boards, and
Internet, as well as a variety of promotional caimpps. These campaigns ensure that the Rick's Ctatremee is kept before the public.

Rick's Cabaret has received a significant amoumh@dia exposure over the years in national magaaneh as Playboy, Penthoi
Glamour Magazine, The Ladies Home Journal, Time &4age, Time Out New York, and Texas Monthly MagaziSegments abc
Rick's have aired on national and local televiswaograms such as “20/20"Extra" and "Inside Edition", and we have provi
entertainers for Pay-P&fiew features as well. Business stories about Ri€ldbaret have appeared in Forbes, Newsweek, THi
Street Journal, The New York Times, The New YorktPbos Angeles Times, Houston Business Journdlnamerous other natiol
and regional publications:orbes named Rick's Cabaret one of America's 200 BestllSDaenpanies since 2008. Rick's Cabaret
been profiled inThe Wall Street Journal Fortune, MarketWatch, Corporate Board MemberSmart Money USA Today, The
New York Daily Newand other publications

NIGHTCLUB LOCATIONS

We currently operate clubs under the name “Riclébatet’in San Antonio, Austin, Lubbock, and Fort Worth,x@e (2); Minneapoli
Minnesota; New York, New York; and Indianapolisdigna. We also operate a similar nightclub undemame “Tootsie’s Cabareiti Miami
Gardens, Florida. We operate a total of four nilgifie (one in Houston, one in Dallas, one in Cha|dtlorth Carolina and one in Philadelp
Pennsylvania), as “Club Onyxiypscale venues that welcome all customers but especially to urban professionals, businessmer
professional athletes. Additionally, we own sixhtigjubs that operate as “XTC Cabargt"San Antonio, Austin, Dallas, Fort Worth and tim
Houston, Texas, one that operates as “Cabaret Eag®¥rt Worth, one that operates as "Cabaret NdrtbFort Worth, one that operates
Silver City in Dallas and one that operates as “Bmwn Cabaretin Minneapolis. We also operate a club in South@aiifornia that operat
as “Vivid Cabaret”. We operate “Temptations”lwduin Sulphur, Louisiana, Beaumont, Texas and Wantth, Texas. We operate nine clu
as “Jaguarsin Texas and one in Phoenix, Arizona. We sold oewNDrleans, Louisiana nightclub in March 1999, ibwbntinues to use tl
name “Rick’s Cabaret” under a licensing agreemeit. addition to the adult nightclubs, we currentlyecate three bar/restaurants in
Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex as Vee Lounge, Bombishahd Ricky Bobby Sport Saloon.




RECENT TRANSACTIONS
See Note M of Notes to Consolidated Financial &tats for acquisitions during fiscal years endegt&aber 30, 2013 and 2012.
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES — MEDIA GROUP

The RCI Media Group is the leading business comoaiitins company serving the multi-billiatollar adult nightclubs industry. It own:
national industry convention and tradeshow; twdomal industry trade publications; two national ustty awards shows; and more that
industry websites. Included in the Media Group BB Bublications, publishers of the bimonthly ED CIBblletin, the only national busine
magazine serving the 3,5@04s adult nightclubs in North America, which haaenual revenues in excess of $5 billion, accordmghe
Association of Club Executives. ED Publicationgyrfded in 1991, also publishes the Annual VIP Guidadult nightclubs, touring entertain
and industry vendors; produces the Annual Gentlésn€ub Owners EXPO, a national convention andesiadw which marked its 20eal
Anniversary in 2012; and offers the exclusive EDP\WClub Card, honored at more than 850 adult nightclAlso in the Media Group
Storerotica, founded in 2004, which publishes theomthly Storerotica Magazine, the industry tradmlfcation for the multi-billiondollar
erotic apparel and adult novelty retail sales imdles. The Media Group produces two nationally gggped industry awards show for
readers of both ED Club Bulletin and Storeroticayamnes, and maintains a number of B-to-B and aneswebsites for both industries.

COMPETITION

The adult entertainment and the restaurant/banbases are highly competitive with respect to pseevice and location. All of our nightclt
compete with a number of locally owned adult cligmsne of whose names may have name recognitioedouats that of ours. While there n
be restrictions on the location of a called "sexually oriented business”, there are basriers to entry into the adult cabaret entertaini
market. The names "Rick's" and "Rick's CabaretdfBie’s Cabaret”, "XTC Cabaret", “Silver City” afi@lub Onyx” are proprietary. In the
restaurant/bar business, “Bombshells” and “RickypBoSports Saloon” are also proprietarWe believe that the combination of our exis
brand name recognition and the distinctive entemaint environment that we have created will allemaicompete effectively in the indus
and within the cities where we operate. The seyuaikented business industry is highly competitivieh respect to price, service and locat
as well as the professionalism of the entertainglthough we believe that we are well positionedctaimpete successfully, there can b
assurance that we will be able to maintain our tegiel of name recognition and prestige within mi@rketplace.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

We are subject to various federal, state and llaeed affecting our business activities. In partcuin Texas the authority to issue a perm
sell alcoholic beverages is governed by the TexXashblic Beverage Commission (“TABC*hich has the authority, in its discretion, to &
the appropriate permits. We presently hold a MiBedterage Permit and a Late Hour Permit at numefexas locations. Previously subjec
annual renewal, the TABC recently changed to awahevery two years, provided we have complied witirules and regulations govern
the permits. Renewal of a permit is subject to gghtwhich may be made by a law enforcement agendy the public. In the event o
protest, the TABC may hold a hearing at which timeviews of interested parties are expressed TRERC has the authority after such hea
not to issue a renewal of the protested alcohaicebage permit. Rick's has never been the subjextpootest hearing against the renew:
Permits. Minnesota, North Carolina, Nevada, Pemasyh, Florida, and New York have similar laws thety limit the availability of a pern
to sell alcoholic beverages or that may providesfmspension or revocation of a permit to sell abtiolbeverages in certain circumstances.
our policy, prior to expanding into any new marketfake steps to ensure compliance with all licenand regulatory requirements for the
of alcoholic beverages as well as the sale of food.

In addition to various regulatory requirements difeg the sale of alcoholic beverages, in mangsitvhere we operate, the location of an i
entertainment cabaret is subject to restrictiorciby ordinance. For example, adult entertainmeghtulubs in Houston, Texas are subjer
"The Sexually Oriented Business Ordinance", whichtains prohibitions on the location of an adulbar@t (see legal Proceedings” herei
The prohibitions deal generally with distance freahools, churches, and other sexually orientednbases and contain restrictions base
the percentage of residences within the immediatimity of the sexually oriented business. The granof a Sexually Oriented Busin
Permit is not subject to discretion; the Businessrit must be granted if the proposed operatioisfeed the requirements of the Ordinance
all states where we operate, management believeseni@ compliance with applicable city, countgtstor other local laws governing the :
of alcohol and sexually oriented businesses.




TRADEMARKS

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's", "Rick's Gaba “Tootsie’s Cabaret”, “Club Onyx,” “XTC Cabet,” “Temptations,” “Jaguars,”
“Downtown Cabaret,” “Cabaret East,” Cabaret NortAgmbshells,” “Ricky Bobby Sports Saloon,” “Vee lime” and “The Black Orchidare
established under common law, based upon our sulzdtand continuous use of these tradenames énsitatte commerce, some of which t
been in use at least as early as 1987. We havatessi our service markRICK'S AND STARS DESIGN", with the United Statest&# ani
Trademark Office. We have also obtained servicekmagistrations from the Patent and Trademark ©ffior the “RICK’S”, 'RICK'S
CABARET", “CLUB ONYX”, “XTC CABARET” “RICKY BOBBY S PORTS SALOON?", SILVER CITY CABARET”", “BOMBSHELLS"
and “EXOTIC DANCER”service marks. We also own the rights to numermgenhames associated with our media division. Tbanebe n
assurance that the steps we have taken to pratestovice marks will be adequate to deter misgmmton.

EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

As of September 30, 2013, we and our subsidiarges dpproximately 1,750 employees, of which apprexély 100 are in managem
positions, including corporate and administratipemtions and approximately 1,650 of which are gadan entertainment, food and beve!
service, including bartenders, waitresses, andrtairiers. None of our employees are represented bpion. We consider our emplo
relations to be good. Additionally, as of Septen®@r2013, we had independent contractor relatipsshith approximately 3,000 entertain:
who are self-employed and conduct business atamatibns on a non-exclusive basis as independentamtors. Our entertainers at Rigk’
Cabaret in Minneapolis, Minnesota act as commigsloemployees. We believe that the adult entertaibrimelustry standard of treati
entertainers as independent contractors providesithssafe harbor protection to preclude payrol &ssessment for prior years. We
prepared plans that we believe will protect ourfiability in the event that the sexually orientbdsiness industry is required in all state
convert entertainers who are now independent cotottinto employees.

SHARE REPURCHASES

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors ai#td us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of common stock in the open markefs
of April, 2013, we completed the repurchase of$alimillion in stock authorized under this plan. @pril 25, 2013, our Board of Directc
authorized us to repurchase up to an additionah#i®n worth of our common stock in the open mar&ein privately negotiated transactic
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013pwehased 179,955 shares of common stock in tha amrket at prices ranging fr
$7.84 to $8.95 and during the fiscal year endede®aper 30, 2012, 140,280 shares of common stottkeimpen market at prices ranging fi
$6.32 to $8.24. Under the Board's authority, weetfs®.6 million remaining to purchase additionalrskas of September 30, 2013.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in our common stock involves a higigrge of risk. You should carefully consider theksi described below before decidin
purchase shares of our common stock. If any ofetrents, contingencies, circumstances or condité@sribed in the risks below actui
occurs, our business, financial condition or resoft operations could be seriously harmed. Therngagrice of our common stock could,
turn, decline and you could lose all or part of ymvestment.

Our Business Operations are Subject to Requlatoceliainties Which May Affect Our Ability to Contie Operations of Existing Nightclul
Acquire Additional Nightclubs or Be Profitable

Adult entertainment nightclubs are subject to lpstdte and federal regulations. Our businessyislaged by local zoning, local and state lic
licensing, local ordinances and state and fedared place and manner restrictions. The adult eaitertent provided by our nightclubs
elements of speech and expression and, therefajeysesome protection under the First Amendmentht® United States Constitutic
However, the protection is limited to the express@nd not the conduct of an entertainer. Whileroghtclubs are generally well establishe
their respective markets, there can be no assutaatéocal, state and/or federal licensing anceotiegulations will permit our nightclubs
remain in operation or profitable in the future.

Beginning January 1, 2008, our Texas clubs becarhga to a new state law requiring each club titecband pay a $5 surcharge for e\
club visitor. A lawsuit was filed by the Texas Erthinment Association (“TEA")an organization to which we are a member, allegfiregfet
amounts to an unconstitutional tax. On March 2ZB)& a State District Court Judge in Travis Couftgxas ruled that the new state
violates the First Amendment to the United Stateadfitution and is therefore invalid. The judgerder enjoined the State from collectin
assessing the tax. The State appealed the Gawfthg. In Texas, when the State gives noticeabeal, it supersedes and suspend
judgment, including the injunction. Given the susgien of the judgment, the State gave notice ofight to collect the tax pending 1
outcome of its appeal but has taken no affirmagistion to enforce that right.




On June 5, 2009, the Court of Appeals for the Thirstrict (Austin) affirmed the District Coug’judgment, holding that the Sexually Orier
Business (“SOB”"Yee violated the First Amendment to the U.S. Cauatstin, but on August 26, 2011, the Texas SupremerQeversed tt
judgment of the Court of Appeals and remanded &ése ¢o the District Court to determine whetherfégeviolates the Texas Constitutic

TEA appealed the Texas Supreme Court's decisiotihg¢oU.S. Supreme Court (regarding the constitutignaf the fee under the Fil
Amendment of the U.S. Constitution), but the U.8pi®@me Court denied the appeal on January 23, Zli#sequently, the case was rema
to the District Court for consideration of the ranilag issues raised by TEA. On June 28, 2012, tietritx Court in Travis County held
hearing on TEAS Texas Constitutional claims and on July 9 enteredrder finding that the tax was a constitutioDatupations Tax. Tl
Court denied the remainder of TEAConstitutional claims. TEA is now in the proce$sppealing this new decision to the Texas Thiodi
of Appeals.

We have not made any payments of these taxes thiadast quarter of 2009 and plan not to make sugh payments while the case is pen
in the courts. However, we will continue to accara expense the potential tax liability on our ficial statements, so any ultimate neg:
ruling will not have any effect on our income staent and will only affect our balance sheet, aswdised below. If the final decision of
courts is ultimately in our favor, as we believeiill be, then we will have a one-time gain of #gire amount previously expensed.

Since the inception of the tax, we have paid mbes t$2 million to the State of Texas under protesstll four quarters of 2008 and the f
quarter of 2009, expensing it in the consolidatadrfcial statements (except for two locations itld@3awhere the taxes have not been paic
we are accruing and expensing the liability). &bsubsequent quarters, as a result of the Thinah& 2009 decision, we have accrued the
but not paid the State. Accordingly, as of Septen8D, 2013, we have approximately $13.0 millioragtrued liabilities for this tax. Pat
tax expense amounted to $3.2 million, $3.0 miléo $2.9 million for the years ended September®(B22012 and 2011, respectively.

Our Texas clubs have filed a separate lawsuit agaéle State in which we raise additional challengethe statute imposing the fee or
demanding repayment of the taxes we have paid uthierstatute. The courts have not yet addressesketladditional claims. If we :
successful in the remaining litigation, the amowethave paid under protest should be repaid oiiegppd any future, constitutional admiss
tax or other Texas state tax liabilities.

Our Business has been, and may Continue to be, rdglyeAffected by Conditions in the U.S. Finandidérkets and Economic Conditic
Generally

Our nightclubs are often acquired with a purchadeepbased on historical EBITDA (Earnings Befordehest, Taxes, Depreciation :
Amortization). This results in certain nightclubarying a substantial amount of intangible valu@stly allocated to licenses and goody
Generally accepted accounting principles requiraramual impairment review of these indefinite livesbets. If difficult market and econol
conditions continue over the next year and/or weeernce a decrease in revenue at one or morechight we could incur a decline in 1
value of one or more of our nightclubs. This corddult in future impairment charges of up to thmltgalue of the indefinite lived intangit
assets.

We May Need Additional Financing or Our Businespéision Plans May Be Significantly Limited

If cash generated from our operations is insuffiti® satisfy our working capital and capital exgiéunre requirements, we will need to r¢
additional funds through the public or private safeour equity or debt securities. The timing amdoant of our capital requirements \
depend on a number of factors, including cash #md cash requirements for nightclub acquisitiohadtitional funds are raised through
issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, percentage ownership of our thesting shareholders will be reduced. We cannstra
you that additional financing will be available terms favorable to us, if at all. Any future equiityancing, if available, may result in diluti
to existing shareholders, and debt financing, #ilable, may include restrictive covenants. Anyluia by us to procure timely additiol
financing will have material adverse consequencesu business operations.

There is Substantial Competition in the Nightclubtdftainment Industry, Which May Affect Our Ability Operate Profitably or Acqu
Additional Clubs

Our nightclubs face competition. Some of these aditgrs may have greater financial and managenssaturces than we do. Additionally,
industry is subject to unpredictable competitivantts and competition for general entertainmentadaliThere can be no assurance that wi
be able to remain profitable in this competitivdustry.




Risk of Adult Nightclubs Operations

Historically, the adult entertainment, restauramdl dar industry has been an extremely volatile stigu The industry tends to be extren
sensitive to the general local economy, in thatwleonomic conditions are prosperous, entertaininglistry revenues increase, and w
economic conditions are unfavorable, entertainniadhistry revenues decline. Coupled with this ecaoosansitivity are the trendy persa
preferences of the customers who frequent aduliretd We continuously monitor trends in our cugiantastes and entertainment prefere
so that, if necessary, we can make appropriateggsamhich will allow us to remain one of the premi@dult cabarets. However,
significant decline in general corporate conditiamsuncertainties regarding future economic protpétat affect consumer spending c«
have a material adverse effect on our businesaddiition, we have historically catered to a cliéstease from the upper end of the ma
Accordingly, further reductions in the amounts pfegtainment expenses allowed as deductions fraonie under the Internal Revenue C
of 1954, as amended, could adversely affect salesstomers dependent upon corporate expense dscoun

Permits Relating to the Sale of Alcohol

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesrirthe sale of alcoholic beverages. States in wivieloperate may have laws which may |
the availability of a permit to sell alcoholic beages or which may provide for suspension or retiocaf a permit to sell alcoholic bevera
in certain circumstances. The temporary or permiagigspension or revocations of any such permitddvoave a material adverse effect on
revenues, financial condition and results of openst In all states where we operate, managemdgvbs we are in compliance w
applicable city, county, state or other local lay@serning the sale of alcohol.

Activities or Conduct at Our Nightclubs May Cause td Lose Necessary Business Licenses, Expose Umlbdity, or Result in Advers
Publicity, Which May Increase Our Costs and Dianagemerns Attention from Our Business

We are subject to risks associated with activitiesonduct at our nightclubs that are illegal arlaie the terms of necessary business lice
Our nightclubs operate under licenses for sexuaignted businesses and some protection underitsteArendment to the U.S. Constituti
While we believe that the activities at our nightid comply with the terms of such licenses, antlttteaelement of our business that consti
an expression of free speech under the First Amentito the U.S. Constitution is protected, aciégtand conduct at our nightclubs ma
found to violate the terms of such licenses or iygrotected under the U.S. Constitution. This pitideds limited to the expression and not
conduct of an entertainer. An issuing authority nsagpend or terminate a license for a nightclumdoto have violated the license ter
lllegal activities or conduct at any of our nighiis may result in negative publicity or litigatidBuch consequences may increase our ¢
doing business, divert managemsrdttention from our business and make an invedtinaur securities unattractive to current andeptit
investors, thereby lowering our profitability andrestock price.

We have developed comprehensive policies aimedstrimg that the operation of each nightclub isdemted in conformance with local, si
and federal laws. We have a “no tolerangglicy on illegal drug use in or around the fa@kt We continually monitor the actions
entertainers, waitresses and customers to ensatr@ithper behavior standards are met. However, pakities, no matter how well desigr
and enforced, can provide only reasonable, notlatescassurance that the policiejectives are being achieved. Because of the émh
limitations in all control systems and policiesgrth can be no assurance that our policies willgredeliberate acts by persons attemptir
violate or circumvent them. Notwithstanding theefgoing limitations, management believes that odicies are reasonably effective
achieving their purposes.

Our Acquisitions May Result in Disruptions in Ouagness and Diversion of Managenisrittention

We have made and may continue to make acquisibbrtc®@mplementary nightclubs, restaurants or relajeerations. Any acquisitions w
require the integration of the operations, prodacis personnel of the acquired businesses andatiminy and motivation of these individu
Such acquisitions may disrupt our operations angertimanagement’s attention from dayetamy operations, which could impair
relationships with current employees, customers padners. We may also incur debt or issue equétyusties to pay for any futu
acquisitions. These issuances could be substagndidlitive to our stockholders. In addition, ounfitability may suffer because of acquisition-
related costs or amortization, or impairment céstsacquired goodwill and other intangible assdtsnanagement is unable to fully integt
acquired business, products or persons with egistperations, we may not receive the benefits efatquisitions, and our revenues and ¢
trading price may decrease.

We Must Continue to Meet NASDAQ Global Market Coniéd Listing Requirements or We Risk Delisting

Our securities are currently listed for trading the NASDAQ Global Market. We must continue to $gtiNSASDAQ’s continued listin
requirements or risk delisting which would haveaaiverse effect on our business. If our securitieseaer ddisted from NASDAQ, they me
trade on the over-the-counter market, which max kess liquid market. In such case, our sharehglddility to trade or obtain quotations
the market value of shares of our common stock dvén@ severely limited because of lower trading r@s and transaction delays. Tt
factors could contribute to lower prices and larggreads in the bid and ask prices for our seesrifihere is no assurance that we will be
to maintain compliance with the NASDAQ continuestiig requirements.




In the Future, We Will Incur Significant Increas€dsts as a Result of Operating as a Public Com@ard/Our Management Will Be Requi
to Devote Substantial Time to New Compliance ltiies

In the future, we will incur significant legal, ammting and other expenses. The Sarbanes-Oxleyp2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act'ds
well as new rules subsequently implemented by tB€,Shave imposed various new requirements on puoliapanies, including requiri
changes in corporate governance practices. Our geament and other personnel will need to devotebstantial amount of time to the
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules agltations will increase our legal and financialhgdiance costs and will make some activ
more timeeonsuming and costly. For example, we expect theles and regulations to make it more difficult andre expensive for us
obtain director and officer liability insurance,dawe may be required to incur substantial costedintain the same or similar coverage.

In addition, the Sarban&dxley Act requires, among other things, that we ntan effective internal controls for financial mting anc
disclosure controls and procedures. In particdammencing in fiscal 2008, we have been requiregetdorm system and process evaluz
and testing on the effectiveness of our internaltrads over financial reporting, as required by t®ec404 of the Sarban&xley Act. Ther
beginning in fiscal 2010, our independent registepeblic accounting firm has reported on the effeetess of our internal controls o
financial reporting, as required by Section 404hef Sarbane®xley Act. In the future, our testing, or the sulpsent testing by our independ
registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficies in our internal controls over financial sgfng that are deemed to be mate
weaknesses. Our compliance with Section 404 wijlire that we incur substantial accounting expears® expend significant managen
efforts. Moreover, if we are not able to complywihe requirements of Section 404 in a timely manoeif we or our independent registe
public accounting firm identifies deficiencies imrointernal controls over financial reporting tlaae deemed to be material weaknesse:
market price of our stock could decline, and wel@de subject to sanctions or investigations bySE€ or other regulatory authorities, wt
would require additional financial and managemesburces.

Uninsured Risks

We maintain insurance in amounts we consider adedaapersonal injury and property damage to whighbusiness of the Company ma
subject. However, there can be no assurance tliragured liabilities in excess of the coverage paedi by insurance, which liabilities may
imposed pursuant to the Texas "Dram Shop" statusénalar "Dram Shop" statutes or common law theef liability in other states where
operate or expand. For example, the Texas "Dranp'S$tatute provides a person injured by an intadeidgerson the right to recover dam:
from an establishment that wrongfully served aldichoeverages to such person if it was apparettdoserver that the individual being s
served or provided with an alcoholic beverage wagausly intoxicated to the extent that he presgm@telear danger to himself and others
employer is not liable for the actions of its enygle who ovesserves if (i) the employer requires its employeesittend a seller trainil
program approved by the TABC; (ii) the employee hetially attended such a training program; ariyl ttie employer has not directly
indirectly encouraged the employee to violate #he. It is our policy to require that all serversad€ohol working at our clubs in Texas
certified as servers under a training program amgmdy the TABC, which certification gives statytdammunity to the sellers of alcohol frc
damage caused to third parties by those who hamsuooed alcoholic beverages at such establishmestamnt to the Texas Alcoha
Beverage Code. There can be no assurance, howkatyninsured liabilities may not arise in the keds in which we operate which co
have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Our Previous Liability Insurer May Be Unable to Pide Coverage to Us and Our Subsidiaries

We and our subsidiaries were insured under a iiplpblicy issued by Indemnity Insurance Corporati®RRG (“1IC”) through October 2
2013—we switched to a different insurer on thatdaBy order dated November 7, 2013, the Court of Chgnof the State of Delawe
declared IIC impaired, insolvent and in an unsafiedition and placed IIC under the supervision &f lilsurance Commissioner of the Stal
Delaware (“Commissioner”) in her capacity as reeeivThe order empowers the Commissioner to rehabillt&ehrough a variety of meai
including gathering assets and marshaling thosetsass necessaryFurther, the order has stayed or abated pendinguigsvinvolving 1IC a
the insurer until May 6, 2014 As a result, it is unclear to what degree, if amg,and our subsidiaries will have insurance covetatger th
liability policy with 1IC until after the rehabild@tion plan is completed and the stay is lifted oayM, 2014. Currently, there are multiple ci
lawsuits pending or threatened against us anduhsidiaries. There is also the potential that other lawsuita/bich we currently are unaw:
could be filed against us for incidents that ocedrbefore October 25, 2013There can be no assurances we will have adequsueaimc
coverage for any of these lawsuits. It is unkn@wthis time what effect, if any, this uncertaimtil have on the Company.




Limitations on Protection of Service Marks

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's", "Rick's Gaba “Tootsie’s Cabaret”, “Club Onyx,” “XTC Cabet,” “Temptations,” “Jaguars,”
“Downtown Cabaret,” “Cabaret East,” Cabaret NortAgmbshells,” “Ricky Bobby Sports Saloon,” “Vee lime” and “The Black Orchidare
established under common law, based upon our sulzdtand continuous use of these tradenames énsitatte commerce, some of which t
been in use at least as early as 1987. "RICK'®ATARS DESIGN" logo, “RICKS,” "RICK'S CABARET", “CUB ONYX", “XTC
CABARET,” “RICKY BOBBY SPORTS SALOON?", SILVER CITYCABARET", “BOMBSHELLS"” and “EXOTIC DANCER"are registere
through service mark registrations issued by théedrStates Patent and Trademark Office. We algo the rights to numerous tradena
associated with our media division. There can bassurance that these steps we have taken to pitst&ervice Marks will be adequate
deter misappropriation of oysrotected intellectual property rights. Litigationay be necessary in the future to protect our sighbrr
infringement, which may be costly and time consugnifihe loss of the intellectual property rights egnor claimed by us could haw
material adverse affect on our business.

Anti-takeover Effects of Issuance of Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors has the authority to isspeai1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock in oneare series, to fix the number of shi
constituting any such series, and to fix the riginid preferences of the shares constituting angssevithout any further vote or action by
stockholders. The issuance of Preferred Stock byBitard of Directors could adversely affect theéntsgof the holders of common stock.
example, such issuance could result in a clasgafrities outstanding that would have preferenciéls r@spect to voting rights and divide!
and in liquidation over the common stock, and cduldon conversion or otherwise) enjoy all of thghts appurtenant to common stock.
Board's authority to issue Preferred Stock coustalirage potential takeover attempts and couldydmigrevent a change in control of
Company through merger, tender offer, proxy contesitherwise by making such attempts more diffitmlachieve or more costly. There
no issued and outstanding shares of Preferred Stoeke are no agreements or understandings foisiuance of Preferred Stock, and
Board of Directors has no present intention toesBteferred Stock.

We Have Not Paid Dividends on Common Shares Pt

Since our inception we have not paid any dividesrd®ur common stock.

Future Sales of Our Common Stock May Depress CaokRrice

The market price of our common stock could dectisa result of sales of substantial amounts otommon stock in the public market, or i
result of the perception that these sales couldrodn addition, these factors could make it moifiadilt for us to raise funds through futt
offerings of common stock.

Our Stock Price Has Been Volatile and May Fluctuiatine Future

The trading price of our securities may fluctuagmgicantly. This price may be influenced by mdagtors, including:

our performance and prospec

the depth and liquidity of the market for our séties;

sales by selling shareholders of shares issuesboable in connection with certain convertible ag
investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate

changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatiems by analyst:

general financial and other market conditions;

domestic economic conditior

Public stock markets have experienced, and mayriexpe, extreme price and trading volume volatiliihese broad market fluctuations r
adversely affect the market price of our securities




Our Management Controls a Significant PercentageuwfCurrent Outstanding Common Stock and Thearkdts May Conflict with Those
Our Shareholders

As of December 1, 2013, our Directors and executifieers and their respective affiliates colleeliw and beneficially owned approximat
16.8% of our outstanding common stock, includinigwarrants exercisable within 60 days. This conitn of voting control gives o
Directors and executive officers and their respectffiliates substantial influence over any mattghich require a shareholder vote, incluc
without limitation, the election of Directors, evértheir interests may conflict with those of ottehareholders. It could also have the effe
delaying or preventing a change in control of drestvise discouraging a potential acquirer fromrafteng to obtain control of us. This co
have a material adverse effect on the market micgur common stock or prevent our shareholdemnfrealizing a premium over the tf
prevailing market prices for their shares of comratotk.

We are Dependent on Key Personnel

Our future success is dependent, in a large partetaining the services of Mr. Eric Langan, ouedfdent and Chief Executive Officer. |
Langan possesses a unique and comprehensive kmmadéaur industry. While Mr. Langan has no pregsans to leave or retire in the n
future, his loss could have a negative effect on @perating, marketing and financial performancevé are unable to find an adeqt
replacement with similar knowledge and experiendthiav our industry. We maintain keyan life insurance with respect to Mr. Lang
Although Mr. Langan is under an employment agrednf@sn described herein), there can be no assuthat®r. Langan will continue to
employed by us. The loss of Mr. Langan could hamegative effect on our operating, marketing, andrfcing performance.

Cumulative Voting is Not Available to Stockholders

Cumulative voting in the election of Directors ispeessly denied in our Articles of Incorporationcodrdingly, the holder or holders o
majority of the outstanding shares of our commarclstmay elect all of our Directors. Managemsntrge percentage ownership of
outstanding common stock helps enable them to miaittieir positions as such and thus control ofluginess and affairs.

Our Directors and Officers Have Limited Liabilitpé Have Rights to Indemnification

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provids, germitted by governing Texas law, that our Doestand officers shall not be person
liable to us or any of our stockholders for mongt@amages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Directoofficer, with certain exceptions. T
Articles further provide that we will indemnify olirectors and officers against expenses and iiegsilthey incur to defend, settle, or sat
any civil litigation or criminal action brought aigat them on account of their being or having bi#erDirectors or officers unless, in s
action, they are adjudged to have acted with gnegtigence or willful misconduct.

The inclusion of these provisions in the Articleayrhave the effect of reducing the likelihood ofidative litigation against Directors a
officers, and may discourage or deter stockholdersanagement from bringing a lawsuit against Doexcand officers for breach of their d
of care, even though such an action, if successfigiht otherwise have benefited us and our stocldrsl

The Articles provide for the indemnification of oafficers and Directors, and the advancement tantbé expenses in connection with |
proceedings and claims, to the fullest extent pgechiby Texas law. The Articles include relatedvsimns meant to facilitate the indemnit
receipt of such benefits. These provisions covenporay other things: (i) specification of the methotl determining entitlement
indemnification and the selection of independeninsel that will in some cases make such deternoimatii) specification of certain tin
periods by which certain payments or determinationsst be made and actions must be taken, andtlfié) establishment of certi
presumptions in favor of an indemnitee.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisinghder the Securities Act may be permitted to owedalors, officers and controlling pers
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have laekised that in the opinion of the Securities ardiange Commission, such indemnifica
is against public policy as expressed in the SaesrAct and is therefore unenforceable.

A failure to maintain food safety throughout th@gly chain and foodborne illness concerns may have an adverse effestiobusiness.

Food safety is a top priority, and we dedicate twri&l resources to ensuring that our guests esgby, quality food products. However, fi
safety issues could be caused at the point of eoordoy food suppliers or distributors and, as sulte be out of our control. In additic
regardless of the source or cause, any reportaafborne illnesses such as E. coli, hepatitis A, inickis or salmonella, and other food sa
issues including food tampering or contaminationp@e of our restaurants could adversely affectréprtation of our brands and hav
negative impact on our sales. Even instances af-fmone iliness, food tampering or food contaminatiaaurring solely at restaurants of
competitors could result in negative publicity abthe food service industry generally and adverselyact our sales. The occurrence of fooc
borne illnesses or food safety issues could alseradly affect the price and availability of affedtingredients, resulting in higher costs
lower margins.




We may experience high#inananticipated costs associated with the opening of @stablishments which may adversely affect ounlie®i
operations.

Our sales and expenses can be impacted significéytlthe number and timing of the opening of newhtélub and bar/restaur:
establishments. We incur substantial ppening expenses each time we open a new establighithe expenses of opening new locations
be higher than anticipated. An increase in sucleesps could have an adverse effect on our redul{senations.

Other Risk Factors May Adversely Affect Our Finalderformance

Other risk factors that could cause our actualltesa differ materially from those indicated inetfiorwardlooking statements by affectir
among many things, pricing, consumer spending ams$umer confidence, include, without limitationaoles in economic conditions
financial and credit markets, credit availabilitpcreased fuel costs and availability for our enmgpks, customers and suppliers, he
epidemics or pandemics or the prospects of thesetg@\such as reports on avian flu), consumer pgores of food safety, changes
consumer tastes and behaviors, governmental mgnptdicies, changes in demographic trends, tetratss, energy shortages and rol
blackouts, and weather (including, major hurricazied regional snow storms) and other acts of God.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item 2. Properties.

Our principal executive office is located at 10958tten Road, Houston, Texas 77066, and consisés 9000 square feet office/warehc
building. We believe that our offices are adequateour present needs and that suitable spacebeithvailable to accommodate our fu
needs.

Our nightclubs and their locations are summarizethe “Schedule of Clubsh Item 1, which is incorporated herein by refen®f thes
clubs, we own the real estate for 34 and leasettier 12. We also own three other properties whiehare leasing to third parties. The le
for the properties we lease are typically for a&dixental rate without revenue percentage rentais.lease terms generally have initial ternr
ten to twenty years with renewal terms of five wenty years. At September 30, 2013, certain of auned properties were collateral
mortgage debt amounting to approximately $38.7 iomll Also see more information in the following Metto Consolidated Financ
Statements: D. - Property and Equipment, F. - Ldagn Debt and J. - Commitments and Contingencies.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

See the “Legal Matters” section within Note J oftéoto Consolidated Financial Statements withia fmnual Report on Form 10-for the
requirements of this Item, which section is incagted herein by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable
PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities.

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global k¢aunder the symbol "RICK". The following tabletséorth the quarterly high a
low of sales prices per share for the common sfocthe last two fiscal years.

COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE

HIGH LOW

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2!
First Quarte
Second Quarte $ 8.44 $ 7.69
Third Quartel $ 9.12 $ 7.98
Fourth Quarte $ 892 $ 8.21

$ 12.65 $ 8.70
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2!
First Quarte
Second Quarte $ 8.94 $ 6.06
Third Quartel $ 10.50 $ 8.27
Fourth Quarte $ 9.84 $ 7.32



8.75 $ 7.17




On December 6, 2013, the last sales price for tmnton stock as reported by NASDAQ was $10.42. Opebwer 2, 2013, there w
approximately 181 stockholders of record of our owm stock (excluding shares held by shareholdesgré@et name).

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
The transfer agent and registrar for our commocoksi®American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 626ith Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219.
DIVIDEND POLICY

We have not paid cash dividends on our common stck current policy is to retain all earningsaify, to provide funds for operation ¢
expansion of our business. The declaration of divit$, if any, will be subject to the discretiontledé Board of Directors, which may consi
such factors as our results of operation, finarmaldition, capital needs and acquisition strategypng others.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directorsa@iztd us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of common stock in the open market.
As of April, 2013, we completed the repurchaselb$a million in stock authorized under this pla®n April 25, 2013, our Board of Directt
authorized us to repurchase up to an additionah#i®n worth of our common stock in the open mar&ein privately negotiated transactic
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013pwehased 179,955 shares of common stock in tha amrket at prices ranging fr
$7.84 to $8.95 and during the fiscal year endedeseiper 30, 2012, 140,280 shares of common stotieimpen market at prices ranging fi
$6.32 to $8.24. During the year ended Septembe2@0B, we also purchased 12,500 shares of commachk 8bm put option holders at pric
ranging from $8.12 to $8.63 per share.

Following is a summary of our purchases by month:

(in thousands, except per share data)

Period: €) (b) (c) (d)
Maximum
Total Number (or
Number of Approximate
Shares (0 Dollar Value)
Units) of Shares (o
Purchased ¢ Units) that
Part of May Yet be
Total Numbei Publicly Purchase!
of Shares (o Average Announcec Under the
Units) Price Paic Plans ol Plans ol
Month Ending Purchase! per Share ( Programs(1 Programs
Ju-13 16 $ 8.93 16 $ 2,555
Aug-13 - - - 2,555
Sep-13 - - - 2,555
Total for the three months ended Sept 30, - 16 $ 8.93 16 $ 2,555

(1) All shares were purchased pursuant to the repuegblas approved in April 2013, as described ab
(2) Prices include any commissions and transactiorsc




EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
The following table sets forth all equity compensatplans as of September 30, 2013:

(in thousands, except per share data)

Number of
securities
remaining
available
for future
Number of issuance
securities to Weightec- under
be issued average equity
upon exercise compensation
exercise of price of plans
outstanding outstanding (excluding
options, options, securities
warrants warrants reflected in
and rights and rights column (a))

Plan category
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs 765 $ 8.41 -

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting andirriely qualified personnel, we believe that ounfatsuccess will depend in part on
continued ability to attract and retain highly dfietl personnel. We pay wages and salaries thdielieve are competitive. We also believe
equity ownership is an important factor in our @pilo attract and retain skilled personnel. Weédadopted stock option plans (the “Plarfsf)
employees and directors. The purpose of the Psatwsfurther our interests, our subsidiaries andstackholders by providing incentives in
form of stock options to key employees and directeno contribute materially to our success anditataifity. The grants recognize and rew
outstanding individual performances and contrimgi@nd will give such persons a proprietary inteineais, thus enhancing their persc
interest in our continued success and progress.Pl&ies also assist us and our subsidiaries inctitigpand retaining key employees
directors. The Plans are administered by the Bo&mirectors. The Board of Directors has the exeipower to select the participants in
Plans, to establish the terms of the options gdatdeeach participant, provided that all optionanged shall be granted at an exercise
equal to at least 85% of the fair market valuehaf tommon stock covered by the option on the gilate and to make all determinati
necessary or advisable under the Plans.

In August 1999, we adopted the 1999 Stock Optiam Pthe “1999 Planjvith 500,000 shares authorized to be granted alddusaler the 19¢
Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approved an Ament to the 1999 Plan (the “Amendmentihich increased the total number of sh
authorized to 1 million. In July 2007, shareholdapproved an Amendment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amerd”), which increased the to
number of shares authorized to 1.5 million. TheQlB@an was terminated by law in July 2009. Ourr8a# Directors approved the 2010 St
Option Plan (“the 2010 Planhn September 30, 2010. The 2010 Plan was apptoyelbe shareholders of the Company for adoptiothe
2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. As of Septer8be2013, there are 765,000 stock options oudgtgn

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following chart compares theygar cumulative total stock performance of our canratock, the NASDAQ Composite Index and a
group consisting of: B§' Restaurant Group, Cheesecake Factory, Ark Restauand Buffalo Wild Wings. The graph assumes $180 wa
invested at inception in our common stock and itheaf the indices and that all dividends were regted. The measurement points utilize
the graph consist of the last trading day as oft@sper 30 each year, representing the last dayuoffiscal year. The historical stc
performance presented below is not intended tonaaginot be indicative of future stock performance.




El

The following table sets forth certain of the Comga historical financial data. The selected histdrimansolidated financial data as
September 30, 2013 and 2012 and for the years eBdptbmber 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011 have been defriom the Compang audite:
consolidated financial statements and the relatgdsnincluded elsewhere herein. The selected fdatoconsolidated financial data as
September 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008 and for the ywated September 30, 2010 and 2009 have been didrora the Compang audite:
financial statements for such years, which areimdtided in this Annual Report on Form KO-The selected historical consolidated finar
data set forth are not necessarily indicative ef isults of future operations and should be reazbhjunction with the discussion under
heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofRcial Condition and Results of Operatioresit the historical consolidated finan
statements and accompanying notes included heram.historical results are not necessarily indieatf the results to be expected in
future period.

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data.

Please read the following selected consolidatednfifal data in conjunction with “ManagementDiscussion and Analysis of Finan
Condition and Results of Operatioraid our consolidated financial statements andelaead notes appearing elsewhere in this Annuabfi
on Form 10-K for a discussion of information thall enhance understanding of this data.

(in thousands, except per share d

Year Ended September & 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Revenue $ 112,208 $ 95,220 $ 83,491 $ 74,063 $ 65,415
Income from continuing operatiol $ 9,545 $ 7,962 $ 10,252 $ 3,905 $ 7,948
Fully diluted income from continuing operations per

common shar $ 0.98 $ 0.80 $ 1.01 $ 0.38 $ 0.81
Total asset $ 223,10C $ 192,393 $ 153,377 $ 148,371 $ 145,077
Total Rick's permanent stockholders' eq; $ 93,781 $ 84,306 $ 76,913 $ 69,939 $ 70,092
Total Lon¢-term debt $ 78,592 $ 63,528 $ 35,554 $ 42,686 $ 37,812

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.
OVERVIEW

The following Management's Discussion and Analg§iBinancial Condition and Results of Operationd[P&A") is intended to help the
reader understand Rick’s Cabaret International, bur operations and our present business envieahriviD&A is provided as a supplement
to — and should be read in conjunction with — oomsolidated financial statements and the accompgmydtes thereto contained in "ltem 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" efrdport. This overview summarizes the MD&A, whinbludes the following sections:

« Our Business —a general description of our business and the algiitclub industry, our objective, our strategitopties, our cor
capabilities, and challenges and risks of our assi
« Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — a d&sion of accounting policies that require criticalgments and estimates.




« Operations Review —an analysis of our Company's consolidated restiltgerations for the three years presented in onsalidate
financial statement:
» Liquidity and Capital Resources — an analysis shcows; aggregate contractual obligations andwaview of financial position.

GENERAL INFORMATION
We operate in the adult nightclub industry:

1. We own and/or operate upscale adult nightclubsirsgrgrimarily businessmen and professionals. Oghteiubs are in Houstc
Austin, San Antonio, Dallas, Fort Worth, Beaumdmingview, Harlingen, Edinburg, Abilene, Lubbock, Bdso and Odessa, Te;
Charlotte, North Carolina; Minneapolis, Minnesoftdéew York, New York; Miami Gardens, Florida; Los Aelgs, Californic
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Phoenix, Arizona arttiamapolis, Indiana. No sexual contact is permitétedny of our location:

2. We own a media division, including the leadiragle magazine serving the mubillion dollar adult nightclubs industry. We alswia
an industry trade show, one other industry traddipations and more than 15 industry websi

Our nightclub revenues are derived from the saldicqufor, beer, wine, food, merchandise, cover casrgnembership fees, indepen:
contractors' fees, commissions from vending and Amathines, valet parking and other products andcesr. Media revenues include the
of advertising content and revenues from an anBxypb convention. Our fiscal year end is SeptemBer 3

Our goal is to use our Company's assetou+ brands, financial strength and the talent anohg commitment of our management
associates — to become more competitive and tdexete growth in a manner that creates value foshareholders.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Managemens discussion and analysis of financial conditiod eesults of operations are based upon our finhataéements, which have bt
prepared in accordance with United States geneaaltgpted accounting principles (“GAAP'GAAP consists of a set of standards issue
the FASB and other authoritative bodies in the fafiFASB Statements, Interpretations, FASB Staf§iftlans, Emerging Issues Task Fc
consensuses and American Institute of Certified liPubccountants Statements of Position, among athdhe FASB recognized 1
complexity of its standardetting process and embarked on a revised prone8804 that culminated in the release on July D926f the
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC"Yhe ASC does not change how Company accounts gdrahsactions or the nature of reli
disclosures made. Rather, the ASC results in asatghow the Company references accounting stasdéthin its reports. This change \
made effective by the FASB for periods ending omfter September 15, 2009. The Company has updetectnces to GAAP in this Anni
Report on Form 16 to reflect the guidance in the ASC. The preparadf these consolidated financial statementsiregwur management
make estimates and assumptions that affect thertegb@mounts of assets, liabilities, revenues axuerses, and related disclosure
contingent assets and liabilities. On a regulaihave evaluate these estimates, including investimpairment. These estimates are bas
managemen$ historical industry experience and on various eottassumptions that are believed to be reasonablgeru th
circumstances. Actual results may differ from thestimates.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Prossior depreciation and amortization are made ustrgjghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasmsléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 29 to 40 yekrsniture, equipment and leasehold improvemente lestimated useful lives between
and 40 years. Expenditures for major renewals atigttments that extend the useful lives are capéiel Expenditures for normal maintena
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costsetsasold or abandoned and the related accumuaf@dciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditertén the accompanying consolidated statememanfime of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

FASB ASC 350,ntangibles- Goodwill and Otheraddresses the accounting for goodwill and othemigible assets. Under FASB ASC :
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite bvare no longer amortized, but reviewed on an dnmasis for impairment. Definite live
intangible assets are amortized on a straightdia&s over their estimated lives. Fully amortizedets are writteoff against accumulat
amortization.




Impairment of LoneLived Assets

In accordance with ASC 205, loriged assets, such as property, plant, and equipraed purchased intangible assets subject to @ation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or gharin circumstances indicate that the carryinguamof an asset may not be recover:
Recoverability of assets to be held and used isored by a comparison of the carrying amount odsset to estimated undiscounted fu
cash flows expected to be generated by the agsbie lcarrying amount of an asset exceeds its agtignfuture cash flows, an impairm
charge is recognized by the amount by which theyitay amount of the asset exceeds the fair valubehsset. Assets to be disposed of w
be separately presented in the balance sheet poded at the lower of the carrying amount or faitue less costs to sell, and are no lo
depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a delpgoup classified as held for sale would be presk separately in the appropriate asse
liability sections of the balance sheet.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have indefingeful lives are tested annually for impairment are tested for impairment more freque
if events and circumstances indicate that the asggiit be impaired in accordance with ASC 350. Arpairment loss is recognized to
extent that the carrying amount exceeds the asket’value. For goodwill, the impairment deteration is made at the reporting unit level.
implied fair value of goodwill is determined by @thting the fair value of the reporting unit in ammer similar to a purchase price alloca
The residual fair value after this allocation ie tmplied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill

None of our reporting units were at risk of failisgp one of the impairment test (i.e. that falugavas not substantially in excess of carr
value) in either year.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company calculates the fair value of its assetkliabilities which qualify as financial instremis and includes this additional informa
in the notes to consolidated financial statemertierwthe fair value is different than the carryirgjue of these financial instruments.
estimated fair value of accounts receivable, actopayable and accrued liabilities approximatertbairying amounts due to the relativ
short maturity of these instruments. The carryiafug of short and lonterm debt also approximates fair value since tlestuments be
market rates of interest. None of these instrumargdeld for trading purposes.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for financial instruments #ratindexed to and potentially settled in, its ostock, including stock put options,
accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 815-B@rivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Owguity . Under certai
circumstances that would require the Company tilestiiese equity items in cash, and without regarprobability, FASB ASC 8130 woulc
require the classification of all or part of thent as a liability and the adjustment of that rexifasl amount to fair value at each reporting ¢
with such adjustments reflected in the Compargonsolidated statements of income. The firdtunsent to meet the requirements of F/
ASC 81540 for derivative accounting occurred in the quagteded June 30, 2009 when the Company renegotiaeguhyback terms of cert
put options and agreed to pledge as collateradittain holders a second lien on certain property.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise, other tmgeand services at the pointsatie
upon receipt of cash, check, or credit card charge.

Revenues from the sale of magazines and advertisintent are recognized when the issue is publisinedshipped. Revenues and exte
expenses related to the Company’s annual Expo otioveare recognized upon the completion of theveation in August.

Sales and Liguor Taxes

The Company recognizes sales and liquor taxes amidevenues and an equal expense in accordance=Wg@B ASC 605-45Revenu
Recognitior— Principal Agent ConsiderationsTotal sales and liquor taxes aggregated $8.3am]l56.8 million and $6.0 million for the ye
ended September 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011, resggctive

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilyjngosed of costs related to public advertisemeni$ giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing eerges are expensed as incurred and are includempérating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of income.




Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiaimethod in accordance with FASB ASC 746come Taxes. Deferred tax assets
liabilities are recognized for the future tax cansences attributable to differences between thanfiral statement carrying amounts of exis
assets and liabilities and their respective taxebaBeferred tax assets and liabilities are medsusag enacted tax rates expected to apj
taxable income in the years in which those tempodiferences are expected to be recovered oresdeflihe effect on deferred tax assets
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized@come in the period that includes the enactnueié. In addition, a valuation allowanc
established to reduce any deferred tax asset farhwhis determined that it is more likely thantribat some portion of the deferred tax &
will not be realized.

FASB ASC 740 creates a single model to addressuatiog for uncertainty in tax positions by presarga minimum recognition thresholi
tax position is required to meet before being redcoed in the financial statements. FASB ASC 740 g@isovides guidance on derecognit
measurement, classification, interest and penaltiesounting in interim periods, disclosure anchddon. There are no unrecognized
benefits to disclose in the notes to the consdididfihancial statements.

Put Options

In certain situations, the Company has issued icestr common shares as partial consideration fquiaitions of certain businesses
assets. Pursuant to the terms and conditions eofgtiverning acquisition agreements, the holderughsshares has the right, but not
obligation, to put a fixed number of the sharesaomonthly basis back to the Company at a fixedepper share. The Company may ¢
during any given month to either buy the monthlgrgls or, if management elects not to do so, theéehalan sell the monthly shares in the ¢
market, and any deficiency between the amount wtietholder receives from the sale of the monthlres and the agreed fixed price of
shares will be paid by the Company. The Compansydtaounted for these shares in accordance witguitkance established by FASB A
480, Distinguishing Liabilities From Equityas a reclassification of the value of the sharesi1fpermanent to temporary equity. As the st
become due, the Company transfers the value adltaees back to permanent equity, less any amoiohtg#he holder. Also sederivative
Financial Instruments” above.We finished liquidating the put options during thearter ended March 31, 2013 and we have no
obligations under the put options.

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings (loss) per sharecordance with FASB ASC 26&arnings Per Share FASB ASC 260 provides for t
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per sHBasic earnings per share includes no dilutioniamdmputed by dividing income availabl
common stockholders by the weighted average nurmbeommon shares outstanding for the period. Ddutarnings per share reflect
potential dilution of securities that could shardghe earnings of the Company.

Potential common stock shares consist of sharasihg arise from outstanding dilutive common stogkions and warrants (the numbe
which is computed using the “treasury stock methadit from outstanding convertible debentures (thabar of which is computed using
“if converted method”). Diluted EPS considers thaemtial dilution that could occur if the Compasydutstanding common stock optic
warrants and convertible debentures were conventedcommon stock that then shared in the Commargrnings (loss) (as adjusted
interest expense, that would no longer occur ifdleentures were converted).

Stock Options

The Company has adopted the fair value recognipimvisions of FASB ASC 718Compensation—Stock CompensationThe critica
estimates are volatility, expected life and riskefrate.

The compensation cost recognized for the years cerffigptember 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $847,18B4, 861 and $8,2F
respectively. There were zero stock options egegcifor the years ended September 30, 2013 and@0d 25,000 for the year ent
September 30, 2011.

OPERATIONS REVIEW
Results of Operations for the Fiscal Year Ended Sépmber 30, 2013 as Compared to the Fiscal Year Endi&eptember 30, 2012

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013, wecbasolidated total revenues of $112.2 milliormpared to consolidated total revenue
$95.2 million for the year ended September 30, 201s was an increase of $17.0 million or 17.8%eTincrease in total revenues
primarily due to revenues generated in our newscldyuired in 2013 ($3.5 million in 2013), a fullar of revenues from clubs purchase
2012 (increase of $14.2 million) and increasesirenues from certain of our existing clubs, esplgdiam our XTC Austin, Ricks DFW an
Rick’s Minnesota locations. Revenues from nighiabperations for same-location same-period decdelagd .2%.




Our operating margin (income (loss) from operatidivided by total revenues) was 19.7% for the yarated September 30, 2013 compart
17.3% for the prior year.

Our income from operations for our nightclub opiera for the same-location-same-period decreaseld19.

Our net income was $9.2 million for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2013 compared to $7.6 milliothe previous year. The increas
our net income is explained in the following paggirs.

Following is a comparison of the Compasyhcome statement for the years ended Septemb@038 and 2012 with percentages compar
total revenue:

Following is an explanation of significant variasda the above amounts.

2013 % 2012 %

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 43,189 385% $ 38,687 40.6 %
Sales of food and merchand 12,249 10.9% 8,810 9.3%
Service Revenue 49,974 44.5% 41,942 44.0%
Other 6,796 6.1% 5,781 6.1%

Total Revenue 112,208 100.0% 95,220 100.0%
Cost of Goods Sol 14,152 12.6 % 12,644 13.3%
Salaries & Wage 25,145 22.4% 20,857 21.9%
Stoclk-based Compensatic 847 0.8% 315 0.3%
Taxes and permit 17,607 15.7 % 14,639 15.4%
Charge card fee 1,482 1.3% 1,352 1.4%
Rent 3,642 3.2% 2,872 3.0%
Legal & professiona 3,114 2.8% 5,861 6.2 %
Advertising and marketin 4,611 4.1 % 4,046 42 %
Depreciation and amortizatic 5,314 4.7 % 4,921 5.2%
Insurance 2,208 2.0% 1,439 15%
Utilities 2,241 2.0% 1,762 1.9%
Gain (loss) on sale of assets and o 16 0.0% 332 0.3%
Other 9,716 8.7 % 7,667 8.1%
Total operating expens 90,095 80.3% 78,707 82.7%

Income from operatior 22,113 19.7 % 16,513 17.3%
Interest incomt 9 0.0% 19 0.0%
Interest expens (6,538 -5.8% (4,003 -4.2 %
Interest expens- loan origination cost (539 -0.5% (310 -0.3%
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivatimstiument: 1 0.0% 117 0.1%
Income from continuing operations before income $ 15046 134%$% 12,336 13.0%

Other revenues include ATM commissions earned,ovigiimes and other vending and certain promotios daarged to our entertainers.
Company recognizes revenue from other revenueseamites at the point-of-sale upon receipt of cabhck, or credit card charge.

Cost of goods sold includes cost of alcoholic and-@icoholic beverages, food, cigars and cigaretteschandise, media printing/binding i
media. Our cost of goods sold for the nightcluleragions for the year ended September 30, 201312#&86 of our total revenues from c
operations compared to 13.3% for the year endeteSdger 30, 2012. Cost of goods sold for same-lonagameperiod decreased to 12.8%
the year ended September 30, 2013 compared to 1f83the year ended September 30, 2012, princighlly to the addition of the Jagt
locations, which are BYOB (Bring Your Own Boozelthwiower costs, for the entire year. We continuadedforts to achieve reductions in ¢
of goods sold of the club operations through imprbinventory management. We are continuing a progeaimprove margins from liquor a
food sales and food service efficiency.

The increase in payroll and related costs, stasetBalaries & Wagesabove, was primarily due to the addition of the reubs in 2013 ar
2012. Payroll for same-location-sameriod of club continuing operations decreased8siigo $16.78 million for the year ended Septenti@
2013 from $16.84 million for the previous year. dMgement currently believes that its labor and memeent staff levels are appropriate.




The increase in stodkased compensation in 2012 results from the issuafi©ptions in June and July 2012 to employees Board o
Directors. These options vested after one yedythus, the cost of these options were principatiyensed in the 2013 fiscal year.

Taxes and permits consists principally of payrales, property taxes, sales and alcohol taxegisiseand permits and the patron tax ir
nightclubs in Texas. The increase in 2013 requiitscipally from the new clubs acquired. Patroretaamounted to $3.2 million and ¢
million for the years ended September 30, 2013281, respectively.

Legal and professional expenses decreased prihyciba to certain onéme lawsuit and other legal settlements amourtin$2.5 million an
$462,000 in legal fees related to new acquisitiarz012.

Insurance expense increased due to the new clutaEdaudue to a general increase in the insurasrceur industry and due to our loss his
for general liability insurance.

Depreciation and amortization increased approxim&@.4 million from the year ended September 3M2 due to the new clubs purche
during 2013 and 2012.

Utilities increased principally due to new clubs.
Other expenses increased due to the new clubsradqui

We added more debt from acquisitions while we pdiidiebt as we amortize the loans. As of SepterBbeR013, the balance of lortgrm dek
was $78.6 million compared to $63.5 million a yearlier. The increase is principally attributabdeadding $24.8 million in debt in the 2(
acquisitions, principally real estate.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our financial information presentiedaccordance with GAAP, management uses certan-®AAP financial measuresvithin
the meaning of the SEC Regulation G, to clarify antlance understanding of past performance anggutssfor the future. Generally, a non
GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure abmpanys operating performance, financial position or clstws that excludes
includes amounts that are included in or excludedhfthe most directly comparable measure calculatetl presented in accordance 1
GAAP. We monitor norGAAP financial measures because it describes tleeatipg performance of the company and helps maneagean
investors gauge our ability to generate cash flexeluding some recurring charges that are inclidede most directly comparable meas
calculated and presented in accordance with GAA#atRe to each of the ndBAAP financial measures, we further set forth ationale a
follows:

Nor-GAAP Operating Income and Non-GAAP Operating Margfi/e exclude from GAAP operating income and GAAP afirg margil
amortization of intangibles, patron taxes, gaing lasses from asset sales, stock-based compenshtoges, litigation and other otigie lega
settlements and acquisition costs. We believe éxatuding these items assists investors in evalgaperiod-ovemperiod changes in o
operating income and operating margin without thpdct of items that are not a result of our dagdg-business and operations.

Nor-GAAP Net Income and Non-GAAP Net Income per Baiséce and per Diluted SharéVe exclude from GAAP net income and GAAP
income per diluted share and per basic share aratdin of intangibles, patron taxes, income taxegge, impairment charges, gains and I
from asset sales, stock-based compensation, idigaibss from discontinued operations and othextome legal settlements and acquisi
costs, and include the Non-GAAP provision for ineotaxes, calculated as the tax-effect at 35% effe¢hx rate of the pre-tax ndBAAP
income before taxes less stdeksed compensation, because we believe that emglsdich measures helps management and investoes
understand our operating activities.

Adjusted EBITD/. We exclude from GAAP net income depreciation esgge amortization of intangibles, income tax, iastrexpense, inter
income, gains and losses from asset sales, ac¢gnisibsts, litigation and other orieae legal settlements and impairment charges Isecex
believe that adjusting for such items helps managgrand investors better understand operatingitietivAdjusted EBITDA provides a cc
operational performance measurement that compese#ts without the need to adjust for Federalesaat local taxes which have consider
variation between domestic jurisdictions. Also, @eclude interest cost in our calculation of AdpstEBITDA. The results are, therefc
without consideration of financing alternatives aapital employed. We use Adjusted EBITDA as onedgline to assess our unlevera
performance return on our investments. AdjustedTER is also the target benchmark for our acquisgiof nightclubs.




The following tables present our non-GAAP meastweshe periods indicated (in thousands, excepsspare amounts):

For the Year Ende

September 3(

(in thousands 2013 2012 2011
Reconciliation of GAAP net income tc
Adjusted EBITDA
GAAP net income $ 9,191 $ 7578 $ 7,846
Income tax expens 5,501 4,374 5,403
Interest expense and income and gain on deriv 7,067 4,177 4,042
Litigation and other or-time settlement 707 2,533 -
Acquisition costt 166 - 119
Loss from discontinued operatio 143 172 2,195
Depreciation and amortizatic 5,314 4,921 3,904
Adjusted EBITDA $ 28,089 $ 23,755 $ 23,509
Reconcilation of GAAP net income (loss) t
non-GAAP net income
GAAP net income $ 9,191 $ 7578 $ 7,846
Patron tay 3,236 3,019 2,875
Amortization of intangible: 409 463 459
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of derivatinstiuments (1) (117 (229
Stocl-based compensatic 847 315 8
Litigation and other or-time settlement 707 2,533 -
Income tax expens 5,501 4,374 5,403
Acquisition costt 166 462 100
Loss from discontinued operations, net of inconxes 143 172 2,195
Non-GAAP provision for income taxe (6,773 (6,469 (6,562
Non-GAAP net income $ 13,426 $ 12,330 $ 12,195
Reconciliation of GAAP diluted net income
per share to non-GAAP diluted net income per
share
Fully diluted share 9,615 9,697 9,932
GAAP net income $ 0.96 $ 0.78 $ 0.79
Patron tay 0.34 0.31 0.29
Amortization of intangible: 0.04 0.05 0.05
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of derivatinstiument: (0.00) (0.01 (0.01
Stoclk-based compensatic 0.09 0.03 0.00
Litigation and other or-time settlement 0.07 0.26 -
Income tax expens 0.57 0.45 0.54
Acquisition costt 0.02 0.05 0.01
Loss from discontinued operations, net of incomxes 0.01 0.02 0.22
Non-GAAP provision for income taxe (0.70 (0.67 (0.66
Non-GAAP diluted net income per she $ 140 $ 1.27 $ 1.23
Reconciliation of GAAP operating income tc
non-GAAP operating income
GAAP operating incom $ 22,113 % 16,513 $ 18,794
Patron tay 3,236 3,019 2,875
Amortization of intangible: 409 463 459
Stoclk-based compensatic 847 315 8
Litigation and other or-time settlement 707 2,533 -
Acquisition cost 166 462 100
Non-GAAP operating incom $ 27,478 $ 23,305 $ 22,236
Reconciliation of GAAP operating margin to
non-GAAP operating margin
GAAP operating incom 19.7% 17.3% 225%
Patron tay 29% 3.2% 3.4%
Amortization of intangible: 0.4 % 0.5% 0.5%
Stoclk-based compensatic 0.8 % 0.3% 0.0%



Litigation and other or-time settlement 0.6 % 2.7% 0.0%
Acquisition costt 0.1% 0.5% 0.1%

Non-GAAP operating margi 24.5 o 24.5 oy 26.6 o4




Discontinued Operations

In March 2011, we made the decision to sell o Wagas location and, in April 2011, sharply redlite operations in order to elimin
losses as we sought a buyer for the property. Weveethat we had done everything possible to ntalselocation viable since its acquisitior
2008 and believed it was in our shareholdbest interests not to continue these efforts. Thie was shuttered and the landlord took ove
property in June 2011. Therefore, this club is gaimed as a discontinued operation in the accompgnfinancial statements and |
recognized a loss on the closure of $2.0 milliodistontinued operations for the year ended Sepme® 2012.

In August 2011, the Company sold a controlling jportof the membership interest in the entity thavpusly operated its Rick’Cabaret i
Austin, Texas. Accordingly, the Company deconsédidahe subsidiary and carried it as an egoigthod investment. The Company had
received any cash flows from the entity since @le and did not anticipate any in the near futdreew nightclub has not been opened ir
space since the Company sold its controlling irstier® June 2013, the Company sold the remainintjguoof its membership interest in
entity to a third party and recognized a gain giragimately $2,300 on the sale. Accordingly, thebcls recognized as a discontinued oper:
in the accompanying consolidated financial stateémen

See Note N of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statés for summarized information regarding theseadtitinued operations.

There were no revenues of discontinued operationthé years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.

Results of Operations for the Fiscal Year Ended Sépmber 30, 2012 as Compared to the Fiscal Year Endi&eptember 30, 2011

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012, wiechasolidated total revenues of $95.2 million, pared to consolidated total revenue
$83.5 million for the year ended September 30, 20tis was an increase of $11.7 million or 14.0%e Tincrease in total revenues
primarily due to revenues generated in our newscldxuired in 2012 ($4.3 million in 2012), a fullay of revenues from clubs purchase
2011 (increase of $4.0 million) and increases weneles from certain of our existing clubs, espgciabm our New York location. Revent

from nightclub operations for same-location sameegkeincreased by 4.2%.

Our operating margin income from operations plugaimment of assets, divided by total revenues) 1ag% for the year ended Septembe
2012 compared to 22.5% for the prior year.

Our income from operations for our nightclub opiera for the same-location-same-period decreaseid48y
Our net income (loss) was $7.6 million for the éisyear ended September 30, 2012 compared to $ifliBnfor the previous year. TI

decrease in our net income was primarily a redultestain onetime litigation and other legal settlements in 20&#fset by a growth in tt
operations.




Following is a comparison of the Compasiyicome statement for the years ended Septemb@03@ and 2011 with percentages compar
total revenue:

2012 % 2011 %

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 38,687 40.6% $ 32,575 39.0%
Sales of food and merchand 8,810 9.3 % 7,402 8.9 %
Service Revenue 41,942 44.0% 38,178 45.7 %
Other 5,781 6.1% 5,336 6.4 %

Total Revenue 95,220 100.0% 83,491 100.0%
Cost of Goods Sol 12,644 13.3% 10,427 12.5%
Salaries & Wage 20,857 21.9% 18,321 21.9%
Stoclk-based Compensatic 315 0.3% 8 0.0%
Taxes and permil 14,639 15.4 % 12,542 15.0%
Charge card fee 1,352 1.4% 1,361 1.6 %
Rent 2,872 3.0% 2,988 3.6 %
Legal & professiona 5,861 6.2 % 2,289 2.7 %
Advertising and marketin 4,046 4.2 % 3,471 4.2 %
Depreciation and amortizatic 4,921 5.2% 3,904 4.7 %
Insurance 1,439 1.5% 1,157 1.4%
Utilities 1,762 1.9% 1,605 1.9%
Impairment of asse - 0.0 % - 0.0%
Gain (loss) on sale of assets and o 332 0.3% - 0.0%
Other 7,667 8.1% 6,624 7.9%
Total operating expens 78,707 82.7% 64,697 77.5%

Income from operatior 16,513 17.7 % 18,794 225%
Interest incom 19 0.0 % 118 0.1%
Interest expens (4,003 -4.2 % (3,930 -4.7 %
Interest expens- loan origination cost (310 -0.3% (359 -0.4%
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of deriva
instruments 117 0.1% 129 0.2%
Gain on settlement of de = 0.0% 903 11%
Income from continuing operations before
income taxe: $ 12,336 13.0% $ 15655 18.8%

Following is an explanation of significant variasda the above amounts.

Other revenues include ATM commissions earned,o/gEmes and other vending and certain promotios ¢éarged to our entertainers.
Company recognizes revenue from other revenueseamites at the point-of-sale upon receipt of cakhck, or credit card charge.

Cost of goods sold includes cost of alcoholic aad-@icoholic beverages, food, cigars and cigaretteschandise, media printing/binding :
media. Our cost of goods sold for the nightclubrapens for the year ended September 30, 2012 ®a&94 of our total revenues from ¢
operations compared to 12.4% for the year endeteBdyer 30, 2011. Cost of goods sold for same-lonagameperiod increased to 13.2%
the year ended September 30, 2012 compared to 1i58e year ended September 30, 2011. We cordioue efforts to achieve reductic
in cost of goods sold of the club operations thfoirgproved inventory management. We are continairggogram to improve margins fri
liquor and food sales and food service efficiency.

The increase in payroll and related costs, statetBalaries & Wagesabove, was primarily due to the addition of the radubs in 2012 ar
2011. Payroll for same-location-sameriod of club continuing operations increased 16.8 million for the year ended September 30, !
from $14.6 million for the previous year. Managetneunrently believes that its labor and managerstff levels are appropriate.




The increase in stodkased compensation in 2012 results from the issuafi©ptions in June and July 2012 to employees Board o
Directors.

Taxes and permits consists principally of payrales, property taxes, sales and alcohol taxegisiseand permits and the patron tax ir
nightclubs in Texas. The increase in 2012 resuiitscipally from the new clubs acquired. Patron s&enounted to $3.0 million and $
million for the years ended September 30, 2012281d,, respectively.

Legal and professional expenses increased prigigak to certain onéme lawsuit and other legal settlements amourtin§2.5 million an
$462,000 in legal fees related to new acquisitiarz012.

Depreciation and amortization increased approxilpa.0 million from the year ended September 30 12 due to the new clubs purche
during 2012 and 2011.

Utilities increased due to new clubs, but onlysig due to the heat and drought in Texas in 2011.
Other expenses increased due to the new clubsradqui

Interest expense was approximately the same as@)tke added more debt from acquisitions while aid pff debt as we amortize the loz
As of September 30, 2012, the balance of l@rg: debt was $63.5 million compared to $35.6 onilla year earlier. The increase is princif
attributable to adding $30 million in debt in th@12 acquisitions.

Gain on settlement of debt in 2011 represents &lire fgom settlement of certain cross-litigationiwihe former sellers of the Las Vegas club.
See “Derivative Financial Instrument” above foramhation on the Company’s derivative financial ingtent at September 30, 2012.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We believe our ability to generate cash from opegadctivities is one of our fundamental finanagtengths. Refer to the heading "Cash F
from Operating Activities" below. The neterm outlook for our business remains strong, aadcexpect to generate substantial cash flows
operations in 2014. As a result of our expectedh ¢esvs from operations, we have significant flakth to meet our financial commitmen
The Company has not recently raised capital thrabhghissuance of equity securities. Instead, wedebé financing to lower our overall cos
capital and increase our return on shareowner#yedrefer to the heading "Cash Flows from Finagdtivities" below. We have a history
borrowing funds in private transactions and froifesg in acquisition transactions and continuedwehthe ability to borrow funds at reason
interest rates in that manner. We have historiaailized these cash flows to invest in propertd aquipment and adult nightclubs. Refer tc
heading “Cash Flows from Investing Activities” belo

As of September 30, 2013, excluding the Patron liability, we had working capital of $4.8 millionompared to working capital of $:
million as of September 30, 2012. The increaseriiscipally due to $18.4 million in cash from openat activities, net of cash utilized -
investing activities. Because of the large volurheash we handle, stringent cash controls have beplemented. At September 30, 2013,
cash and cash equivalents were $10.7 million coegptr $5.5 million at September 30, 2012.

Our depreciation for the year ended September @D3 2vas $4.9 million compared to $4.5 million fbetyear ended September 30, 2012.
amortization for the year ended September 30, 2043$409,000 compared to $463,000 for the yearceS8dptember 30, 2012.

Sources and Use of Funds
Cash flows from operating activities are generdily result of net income adjusted for depreciadind amortization expenses, deferred t
(increases) decreases in accounts receivable, tories) and prepaid expenses and increases (desyedasaccounts payable and acci

liabilities. See a summary of these activities felo

Cash flows used in investing activities generadiffect payments relating to acquisitions of bustess property and equipment and marke
securities. See a summary of these activities helow

Cash flows from financing activities generally egfl proceeds from issuance of shares and femg-debt, and payments on debt anc
options and purchase of treasury stock. See a synohthese activities below.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Following are our summarized cash flows from oppgaactivities:




Year Ended September @

2013 2012 2011

Income from continuing operatiol $ 9,545 $ 7,962 $ 10,252
Depreciation and amortizatic 5,314 4,921 3,904
Deferred taxe 261 1,855 3,776
Gain on settlement of de - - (903
Change in operating assets and liabili 2,341 3,107 672
Other 920 580 1,180

$ 18,381 $ 18,425 $ 18,881

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Following are our summarized cash flows from inivegshctivities:

Year Ended September &

2013 2012 2011
Sale, (acquisition) of marketable securif $ 500 $ (500 $ (505
Additions to property and equipme (9,675 (6,898 (11,533
Additions of businesses, net of cash acqu (2,790 (4,882 (4,281
Other (460 1,245 (21)

$ (11,425 $ (11,035 $ (16,340

Following is a reconciliation of our additions toperty and equipment for the years ended Septe8theér013 and 2012:

Years Endet
(in thousands September 3(
2013 2012 2011
Acquisition of real estat $ 16,911 $ 6,154 $ 8,726
Purchase of aircraft and upgrac 588 3,034 -
Capital expenditures funded by d (14,880 (6,236 -
New capital expenditure in new clu 5,849 1,598 1,330
Maintenance capital expenditul 1,207 2,348 1,477
Total capital expenditures in consolidated statdroénash
flows $ 9,675 $ 6,898 $ 11,533

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Following are our summarized cash flows from finagactivities:

Year Ended September @

2013 2012 2011
Proceeds from lor-term debi $ 9,498 $ - % 750
Purchase of put options and payments on deriv (138 (1,895 (2,043
Payments on lor-term debt (9,341 (8,406 (6,855
Purchase of treasury sto (1,623 (2,092 (3,267
Other (216 825 (27)
$ (1,820 $ (11,568 $ (11,442

The following table presents a summary of our dasks from operating, investing, and financing sitigs:

Year Ended September &

2013 2012 2011
Operating activitie: $ 18,381 $ 18,425 $ 18,881
Investing activities (11,425 (11,035 (16,340
Financing activitie: (1,820 (11,568 (11,442

Net increase (decrease) in ci $ 5136 $ (4,178 $ (8,901




We require capital principally for the acquisitiohnew clubs, renovation of older clubs and invesita in technology. We may also utilize
capital to repurchase our common stock as partiobare repurchase program.

Debt Financing:
See Note F of Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tates for detail regarding our long-term debt afstiv

Contractual obligations and commitments

We have long term contractual obligations primaitiythe form of operating leases and debt obligetiorhe following table summarizes
contractual obligations and their aggregate madsrias well as future minimum rent payments. Futaterest payments related to varii
interest rate debt were estimated using the inteags in effect at September 30, 2013.

Payments Due by Peric

(in thousands Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereaftel
Long-term debr $ 78,592 $ 8,830 $ 9,204 $ 7971 $ 12,932 $ 7,607 $ 32,048
Interest payment 25,689 6,590 5,705 4,824 3,864 2,987 1,719
Operating lease 33,678 4,015 3,847 3,680 3,448 3,066 15,622

Put Options

In certain situations, the Company issues resttictemmon shares as partial consideration for aitopuis of certain businesses
assets. Pursuant to the terms and conditions eofgtverning acquisition agreements, the holderush sshares has the right, but not
obligation, to put a fixed number of the sharesaomonthly basis back to the Company at a fixedepper share. The Company may ¢
during any given month to either buy the monthlgrgls or, if management elects not to do so, the#ehalan sell the monthly shares in the ¢
market, and any deficiency between the amount wthiehholder receives from the sale of the monthigres and the value of shares wil
paid by the Company. The Company has accountedhfse shares in accordance with the guidance lisbid by FASB ASC 48
Distinguishing Liabilities From Equityas a reclassification of the value of the sharesmfpermanent to temporary equity. As the st
become due, the Company transfers the value adltaees back to permanent equity, less any amoiohtg#he holder. Also sederivative
Financial Instruments” above. We finished liquidg these put options during the quarter endedcmMad, 2013.

Other than the potential loss of the Patron Tandssith the State of Texas (see Note J of Noté3awsolidated Financial Statements) we
not aware of any other event or trend that woulepiially affect liquidity. In the event such arncedevelops, we believe our working caj
and capital expenditure requirements will be adtgjyanet by cash flows from operations/Ne also believe that, in the event of loss of
Patron Tax issue, the State of Texas would waiyep@malties and allow us to pay out any liabilityena reasonable amount of timén our
opinion, working capital is not a true indicatorair financial status. Typically, businesses in imgiustry carry current liabilities in exces:
current assets because businesses in our indestive substantially immediate payment for saléy mominal receivables, while inventor
and other current liabilities normally carry longeayment terms. Vendors and purveyors often rerfiaiible with payment terms, providi
businesses in our industry with opportunities tjusidto shortterm business down turns. We consider the primadicators of financial stat
to be the long-term trend of revenue growth, the ofisales revenues, overall cash flow, profitéypiiiom operations and the level of lotepr
debt.

The following table presents a summary of suchcaidirs:

Increase Increase
2013 (Decrease 2012 (Decrease 2011

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 43,189 11.6% $ 38,687 18.8% $ 32,575
Sales of food and merchand 12,249 39.0% 8,810 19.0% 7,402
Service Revenue 49,974 19.2% 41,942 9.9% 38,178
Other 6,796 17.6 % 5,781 8.3% 5,336

Total Revenue 112,208 17.8% 95,220 14.0% 83,491
Net cash provided by operati
activities $ 18,381 -02% $ 18,425 24% $ 18,881
Adjusted EBITDA* $ 28,089 18.2% $ 23,755 1.0% $ 23,509
Long-term debi $ 78,592 23.7% $ 63,528 78.7% $ 35,554

* See definition of adjusted EBITDA above under &esof Operations.




We have not established lines of credit or finagoother than the above mentioned notes payableoanexisting debt. There can be
assurance that we will be able to obtain additidimaincing on reasonable terms in the future, dlatshould the need arise.

Share repurchase

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors aizéd us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of common stock in the open markefs
of April, 2013, we completed the repurchase of$&limillion in stock authorized under this plan. Bpril 25, 2013, our Board of Directc
authorized us to repurchase up to an additionah#i®n worth of our common stock in the open markein privately negotiated transactic
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013pwehased 179,955 shares of common stock in the aparket at prices ranging fr
$7.84 to $8.95 and during the fiscal year endedeseiper 30, 2012, 140,280 shares of common stotieimpen market at prices ranging fi
$6.32 to $8.24. Under the Board's authority, weeh®®.6 million remaining to purchase additionalreka

IMPACT OF INFLATION

We have not experienced a material overall impamrnfinflation in our operations during the pastesaV years. To the extent permittec
competition, we have managed to recover increagsis through price increases and may continue gndblowever, there can be no assur
that we will be able to do so in the future.

SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seasamabfs. Historically, we have experienced redueamues from April through Septem
with the strongest operating results occurringmyu®ctober through March.

GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our nightclub operations can caito grow organically and through careful entripimarkets and demographic segm
with high growth potential. Our growth strategy (&) to open new clubs after market analysis, ¢l@dquire existing clubs in locations that
consistent with our growth and income targets ahéckvappear receptive to the upscale club formutahave developed, (c) to form jc
ventures or partnerships to reduce stigrtand operating costs, with us contributing equitghe form of our brand name and manage
expertise, (d) to develop new club concepts thatcansistent with our management and marketingsskihd/or (e) to acquire real estat
connection with club operations, although some<imay be in leased premises.

During fiscal 2010, we acquired three existing mgfb operations for a total cost of approximat$8:2 million, including real property
approximately $4.6 million. These acquisitions wduoaded primarily with cash of approximately $5.4lliwn, real property debt i
approximately $2.5 million, and a selle’eommon stock which we owned, valued at approxmat795,000. These nightclub operations
total revenues of approximately $7.5 million, $&lion and $7.3 million and net income before tsua approximately $1.3 million, $932,C
and $609,000 for fiscal years 2013, 2012 and 2fshectively.

During fiscal 2011, we acquired three existing hifjib operations and opened another for a totdl afospproximately $11.3 million, includil
real property of approximately $6.4 million. Theaequisitions were funded with cash. These nightdpkrations had total revenues
approximately $6.8 million and $5.6 million and metome before taxes of approximately $1.4 millaord $500,000 for the fiscal years 2
and 2012, respectively.

During fiscal 2012, we acquired eleven existinghtdgub operations and two other licensed locationder development for a total cos
approximately $35.4 million, including real propeutf approximately $7.6 million. These acquisitionsre funded primarily with cash
approximately $4.9 million, debt of $22 million ameal property debt of approximately $9.0 milliofhese nightclub operations had t
revenues of approximately $18.5 million and $4.3iom and net income before taxes of approximat&2y9 million and $620,000 for fisc
years 2013 and 2012, respectively. These amountotiinclude the acquisition of approximately $1énillion of real estate relating to 1
Jaguars acquisition (see Note M of Notes to Codatdid Financial Statements) which was closed onligctl6, 2012.




During fiscal 2013, in addition to the real estatglained in the previous paragraph, we have aeduém existing licensed location
$3,000,000 ($1.5 million in cash and the balancpromissory notes). This location is being remodelad will open later in 2013. We a
acquired the remaining 50% of an unopened clut$8%3,000 of common stock in May 2013. We also aeguanother club for $300,000
cash. We previously had acquired the real estatthi®location.

We continue to evaluate opportunities to acquine nghtclubs and anticipate acquiring new locatitmat fit our business model as we
done in the past. The acquisition of additionabslwill require us to obtain additional debt omuissce of our common stock, or both. There
be no assurance that we will be able to obtaintmeail financing on reasonable terms in the futifrat all, should the need arise. An inab
to obtain such additional financing could have dwease effect on our growth strategy.

In addition to their strong cash flow, the acquositof the Media Division has enabled us to creew marketing synergies with major indu:
product suppliers and new national advertising ojymities. It also provides us with additional disification of our revenue and inco
streams while remaining within our core competency.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

The only items in our financial statements applieato this section are debt instruments with vdeaibterest rates, aggregating $6.!
September 30, 2013. The notes bear interest attithte prime with a floor of 7.5%. The prime rass been 3.25% for several yearBhus
the floor rate for our debt is 2.25% in excesshef applicable “floating rate”.Even if the prime rate were to rise, the effecoon statement
income would then only be $69,000, before taxeseéezh 1% rise above a prime rate of 5.5%.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item begins on &a8§.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINFERM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. smoisidiaries (the “Company”§s o
September 30, 2013 and 2012, and the related ¢datad statements of income, comprehensive incathanges in permanent stockholders
equity, and cash flows for each of the years inttinee-year period ended September 30, 2013. Thep&ay's management is responsible
these consolidated financial statements. Our respitity is to express an opinion on these consaéd financial statements based on
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the congalitiatincial statements are free of mat
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on & lb@sis, evidence supporting the amounts and disds in the consolidated finan
statements. An audit also includes assessing twuating principles used and significant estimatesle by management, as well as evalu
the overall financial statement presentation. Weebe that our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetmemeferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the financial position of
Company, as of September 30, 2013 and 2012, ancesudts of their operations and their cash floasdach of the years in the threea
period ended September 30, 2013, in conformity wittounting principles generally accepted in théddinStates of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of &apber 30, 2013, based on criteria establishédt@mnal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission, and our report datedenber 16, 2013, expressed an
unqualified opinion.

/s/ Whitley Penn LLP
Dallas, Texas
December 16, 2013




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKERM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc.

We have audited Rick’s Cabaret International, brad subsidiaries’ (the “Companyif)ternal control over financial reporting as of &spbe
30, 2013, based on criteria establishethternal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadrte
Treadway Commission. The Compasiyhanagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting and fis
assessment of the effectiveness of internal comivel financial reporting included in the accompagyManagemeng Report on Intern
Control Over Financial ReportingOur responsibility is to express an opinion om @ompanys internal control over financial reporting ba
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statglof the Public Company Accounting Oversight @ nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditné@inal control over financial reporting includeist@ining an understanding of internal cor
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thataderial weakness exists, and testing and evalyisiie design and operating effectivene:
internal control based on the assessed risk. Odit also included performing such other procedumeswe considered necessary in
circumstances. We believe that our audit providesagaonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financie
reporting and the preparation of financial stateisidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeealcepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgddose policies and procedures that (1) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@amdgth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalsurance regarding prevention or timely deteatfounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdaces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over figal reporting as of September 30, 2(
based on criteria establishediimernal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadwa
Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolida
balance sheets and the related consolidated statemiincome, comprehensive income, changes rimgent stockholdergquity and cas
flows of the Company, and our report dated DeceribeP013, expressed an unqualified opinion onglassolidated financial statements.

/s/ Whitley Penn LLP
Dallas, Texas
December 16, 2013




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 30
(in thousands, except per share data) 2013 2012

Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivale 10,656 $ 5,520
Accounts receivable

Trade, ne 1,382 1,743

Other, ne 319 296
Marketable securitie 555 1,059
Inventories 1,462 1,260
Deferred tax asst 4,618 3,635
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,668 1,123
Assets of discontinued operatic 21 72
Total current asse 20,681 14,708
Property and equipment, r 98,611 79,940
Other asset:
Goodwill 43,987 43,421
Indefinite lived intangibles, ne 54,966 50,608
Definite lived intangibles, ne 1,065 1,177
Other 3,790 2,539
Total other asse 103,808 97,745
Total asset 223,100 $ 192,393
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl 1,804 $ 1,865
Accrued liabilities 5,229 4,298
Texas patron tax liabilit 13,035 9,849
Current portion of derivative liabilitie - 75
Current portion of lon-term debt 8,830 6,603
Liabilities of discontinued operatiol 48 163
Total current liabilities 28,946 22,853
Deferred tax liability 26,354 23,963
Other lon¢-term liabilities 956 833
Long-term debt 69,762 56,925
Total liabilities 126,018 104,574
Commitments and contingenci
Temporary equit- Common stock, subject to put rights zero and 9eshaespectivel - 207
PERMANENT STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000 shares authorimatt issued and outstand - -
Common stock, $.01 par, 20,000 shares authoriz684%nd 9,584 shares issued and

outstanding, respective 95 96
Additional paic-in capital 61,506 61,212
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 50 59
Retained earning 32,130 22,939
Total Rick's permanent stockhold’ equity 93,781 84,306
Noncontrolling interest 3,301 3,306
Total permanent stockhold’ equity 97,082 87,612
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity 223,100 $ 192,393

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended September 30

(in thousands, except per share date 2013 2012 2011

Revenues

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 43,189 $ 38,687 $ 32,575

Sales of food and merchand 12,249 8,810 7,402

Service revenue 49,974 41,942 38,178

Other 6,796 5,781 5,336

Total revenue 112,208 95,220 83,491

Operating expense

Cost of goods sol 14,152 12,644 10,427

Salaries and wagt 25,145 20,857 18,321

Stoclk-based compensatic 847 315 8

Other general and administrati

Taxes and permit 17,607 14,639 12,542

Charge card fee 1,482 1,352 1,361

Rent 3,642 2,872 2,988

Legal and profession: 3,114 5,861 2,289

Advertising and marketin 4,611 4,046 3,471

Depreciation and amortizatic 5,314 4,921 3,904

Insurance 2,208 1,439 1,157

Utilities 2,241 1,762 1,605

Loss on sale of property and otl 16 332 -

Other 9,716 7,667 6,624

Total operating expens 90,095 78,707 64,697

Income from operation 22,113 16,513 18,794

Other income (expense

Interest incomt 9 19 118

Interest expens (6,538 (4,003 (3,930)

Interest expens— loan origination cost (539 (310 (359)

Gain on change in fair value of derivative instrums 1 117 129

Gain on settlement of de - - 903

Income from continuing operations before income 15,046 12,336 15,655

Income taxe: 5,501 4,374 5,403

Income from continuing operatiol 9,545 7,962 10,252

Loss from discontinued operations, net of inconxes (143) (172) (2,195

Net income 9,402 7,790 8,057

Less: net income attributable to noncontrollingiests (211 (212° (211

Net income attributable to Ri's Cabaret International, In $ 9,191 $ 7,578 $ 7,846

Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable t&’s shareholder:

Income from continuing operatiol $ 098 $ 0.80 $ 1.01
Loss from discontinued operatio (0.02 (0.02 (0.22
Net income $ 097 $ 0.78 $ 0.79

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributableitk’s shareholder:

Income from continuing operatiol $ 098 $ 0.80 $ 1.01
Loss from discontinued operatio (0.01 (0.02 (0.22
Net income $ 0.96 $ 0.78 $ 0.79

Weighted average number of common shares outsigr

Basic 9,518 9,691 9,930

Diluted 9,615 9,697 9,932

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgtsients.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended September 30

(in thousands, except per share date 2013 2012 2011
Net income $ 9,402 $ 7,790 $ 8,057
Other comprehensive incorr
Unrealized holding gain (loss) on securities a\déddor sale 9 49 10
Comprehensive incorr 9,393 7,839 8,067
Less net income attributable to noncontrolling iests (211 (212 (211
Comprehensive income to common stockholi $ 9,182 $ 7,620 $ 7,85¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsdsients.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PERMANENT STO CKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balance at October 1, 20
Stock options exercise
Change in temporary equi
Common stock issued fi

debt and intere
Settlement of lawsu
Purchase of treasury sha
Cancelled treasury shar
Stocl-based compensatic
Payments to noncontrollir
interest:
Change in marketab
securities
Net income

Balance at September 30, 2(

Change in temporary equi

Purchase of treasury sha

Cancelled treasury shar

Stocl-based compensatic

Warrants exercise

Payments to noncontrollir
interest:

Change in marketab
securities

Net income

Balance at September 30, 2(

Change in temporary equi

Purchase of treasury sha

Cancelled treasury shar

Stocl-based compensatic

Stock issued in busine
combinatior

Beneficial debt conversic
feature

Issuance of warran

Payments to noncontrollir
interest:

Change in marketab
securities

Net income

Balance at September 30, 2(

Years Ended September 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011
(in thousands)

Common Stock

Accumulated

Treasury Stock

Additional Other Total
Number Paid-In Comprehensive Retained Number Noncontrolling  Stockholder¢
of Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Earnings of Shares Amount Interests Equity

9,766 98 62,326 - 7,515 - = 3,314 73,253
25 - 189 - - - - - 189

- - 518 - - - - - 518

26 - 270 - - - - - 270
70 1 1,399 - - - - - 1,400

R - - - - 415 (3,267 - (3,267

(283; 3) (3,264 - - (415 3,267 - -

- - 8 - - - - 8
- - - - - - - (216, (216)

- - - 10 - - - - 10

- - - - 7,846 - - 211 8,057
9,604 96 61,446 10 15,361 - = 3,309 80,222
- - 503 - - - - - 503
- - - - - 262 (2,092 - (2,092

(140; (1) (2,091 - - (262 2,092 - -

- - 315 - - - - 315

120 1 1,039 - - - - 1,040
- - - - - - - (215 (215)

- - - 49 - - - - 49

- - - - 7,578 - - 212 7,790
9,584 $ 9% $ 61,212 $ 59 $ 22,939 - - 8 3,306 $ 87,612
- - 73 - - - - - 73
- - - - - 192 (1,623 - (1,623

(180; 2) (1,621 - - (192 1,623 - -

- - 847 - - - - - 847

100 1 862 - - - - - 863

- - 33 - - - - - 88

- - 100 - - - - - 100
- - - - - - - (216 (216)
- - - © - - - - )

- - - - 9,191 - - 211 9,402
9504 $ 95 $ 61,506 $ 50 $ 32,130 - - $ 3301 $ 97,082

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended September 3C

(in thousands 2013 2012 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss $ 9,402 $ 7,790 $ 8,057
Loss from discontinued operatio 143 172 2,195
Income (loss) from continuing operatic 9,545 7,962 10,252
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to reshcprovided by operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 5,314 4,921 3,904
Deferred taxe 261 1,855 3,776
Loss on sale of property and otl 16 332 -
Gain on settlement of de - - (903
Amortization of note discour 158 145 145
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of derivatinstiument: Q) (117 (129
Amortization of beneficial conversic 2 - -
Deferred rent: 106 49 65
Stock compensation exper 847 315 8
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 337 (82) (1,075
Inventories (202 (34) (91)
Prepaid expenses and other as (1,950 (1,220 (306
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 4,156 4,443 2,144
Cash provided by operating activities of continuapgration:s 18,589 18,569 17,790
Cash provided by (used in) operating activitieslisEontinued operatior (208 (144 1,091
Net cash provided by operating activit 18,381 18,425 18,881
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of prope 140 1,245 -
Purchase of investmer (600; (500; -
Proceeds from sale marketable secur 500 - (505;
Additions to property and equipme (9,675 (6,898 (11,533
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acqu (1,790 (4,882 (4,281
Cash used in investing activities of continuing ragiens (11,425 (11,035 (16,319
Cash used in investing activities of discontinupdrations = = (21)
Net cash used in investing activiti (11,425 (11,035 (16,340
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from stock options exerci: - - 189
Proceeds from lor-term debt 9,498 - 750
Warrants exercise - 1,040 -
Purchase of put options and payments on derivatasteument (138 (1,895 (2,043
Payments on lor-term debt (9,341 (8,406 (6,855
Purchase of treasury sto (1,623 (2,092 (3,267
Distribution to minority interest (216 (215 (216
Cash provided by (used in) financing activitiecohtinuing operation (1,820 (11,568 (11,442
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 5,136 (4,178 (8,901
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOI 5,520 9,698 18,599
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOI $ 10,656 $ 5520 $ 9,698
CASH PAID DURING PERIOD FOR
Interest $ 6,559 $ 3,832 $ 4,050
Income taxe: $ 4,933 $ 2,569 $ 2,613




Non-cash transactions:

Years Ended September .

(in thousands 2013 2012 2011
Purchase and retirement of treasury shz
Number of share 192 262 415
Cost of share $ 1,623 $ 2,092 $ 3,267
Issue of shares of common stock for debt and ist
Number of share - - 26
Value of share $ - 3 - 3 269

Issue of detachable warrants in conjunction withtdelassified as discount on debt wit
offset to additional pa-in capital)

Number of share -
100 $

Value of warrant: $ - $ =
Debt incurred with seller in connection with ac@uirbusinesses and real est $ 14,880 $ 36,236 $ -
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable secur $ 9 $ 49 $ 10
Beneficial debt conversion feature on convertit#ét $ 33 % - $ -
Transfer of shares from temporary equity to permaegquity - settlement of cross-
litigation

Number of share - - 70

Value of share $ - $ - $ 1,400
Issue of shares of common stock for acquiring aness

Number of share 100 - -

Value of share $ 863 $ - $ -

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

A. Nature of Business

Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. (the “Companig’a Texas corporation incorporated in 1994. Thhoitsysubsidiaries, the Company curre
owns and operates establishments that offer liidt @ntertainment, restaurant, and/or bar operatidhese establishmerdse located i
Houston, Austin, San Antonio, Dallas, Fort WortheSsh, Lubbock, Longview, Tye, Edinburg, El Pasaolikigen, Lubbock and Beaumc
Texas, as well as Minneapolis, Minnesota, PhilddalpPennsylvania, Charlotte, North Carolina, Nearkf New York, Miami Garden
Florida, Phoenix, Arizona, Los Angeles, Califormad Indianapolis, Indiana. The Company also owrts @uerates a media division. 1
Company’s corporate offices are located in HousTaxas.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting

The accounts are maintained and the consolidabedidial statements have been prepared using theahdasis of accounting in accorda
with accounting principles generally accepted m thmited States of America (US GAAP).

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tlkeoants of the Company and its subsidiaries in kwvhéc controlling interest
owned. Significant intercompany accounts and tretigr@s have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial states@ntonformity with accounting principles geneyalkccepted in the United States of Ame
requires management to make estimates and assustiat affect certain reported amounts in the aiadeted financial statements ¢
accompanying notes. Estimates and assumptionsagesllon historical experience, forecasted futuemtsvand various other assumptions
we believe to be reasonable under the circumstariegignates and assumptions may vary under diffeasaumptions or conditions. )
evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an and@isis. We believe the accounting policies belog aitical in the portrayal of o
financial condition and results of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewith a maturity of three months or less when pasgd to be cash equivalents.
Company maintains deposits in several financidititons, which may at times exceed amounts cal/éxe insurance provided by the L
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC").eT@ompany has not experienced any losses relateddants in excess of FDIC limits.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Trade accounts receivable for the nightclub openat primarily comprised of credit card chargehijol are generally converted to cash in

to five days after a purchase is made. The megisiah’s accounts receivable is primarily comprised othebles for advertising sales
Expo registration. The Company’s accounts receejaither is comprised of employee advances and otiseellaneous receivables. The long
term portion of notes receivable are included Imeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakhersts. The Company recognizes inti
income on notes receivable based on the termseadigheement and based upon managesientiluation that the notes receivable and int
income will be collected. The Company recognizdsvwances for doubtful accounts or notes when, bamednanagement judgme
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvaigks will not be collected.

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, &uwinpany merchandise. Inventories are carried atatlver of cost (on a first-in, firsbui
(“FIFO”) basis), or market.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies- continued
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Prossior depreciation and amortization are made ustrjghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasmsléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 29 toy#ars. Furniture, equipment and leasehold improwsnieave estimated useful lives between
and 40years. Expenditures for major renewals and bettetsribat extend the useful lives are capitalizeghefiditures for normal maintenal
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costsetsasold or abandoned and the related accumuaf@dciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditertén the accompanying consolidated statememanfime of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets and Impairment of Lang-Lived Assets

FASB ASC 350/ntangibles - Goodwill and Other@ddresses the accounting for goodwill and othemigible assets. Under FASB ASC :
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite Bvare no longer amortized, but reviewed on an drivasas for impairment, or sooner if ther
an indication of impairment. The Company reviewsperty and equipment and intangible assets witmideflives for impairment wheney
events or changes in circumstances indicate thgicgramount of an asset may not be recoverableoWReability of these assets is meas
by comparison of its carrying amounts to future isodunted cash flows the assets are expected ®rajen If property and equipment i
intangible assets with definite lives are considei® be impaired, the impairment to be recognizgdats the amount by which the carry
value of the asset exceeds its fair value. Asaptsgrouped at the lowest level for which there idamtifiable cash flows when asses:
impairment, principally at the club level. Cashwil for our club assets are identified at the irdlial club level. The Compars/annue
evaluation for goodwill and indefinitiived intangible assets was performed as of Septerdb, 2013. The Company did not recog
impairment for the years ended September 30, 22032 and 2011. All of the Compasygoodwill and intangible assets relate to
nightclubs, except for $567,000 related to the @&iton of the media division. Definite lived intgible assets are amortized on a straligte-
basis over their estimated lives. Fully amortizeseds are written-off against accumulated amorbizat

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company calculates the fair value of its assetkliabilities which qualify as financial instremis and includes this additional informa
in the notes to consolidated financial statemertienwthe fair value is different than the carryirajue of these financial instruments. -
estimated fair value of accounts receivable, actopayable and accrued liabilities approximatertbarrying amounts due to the relativ
short maturity of these instruments. The carryiafug of short and lonterm debt also approximates fair value since tlestuments be
market rates of interest. None of these instrumargdeld for trading purposes.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for financial instruments #ratindexed to and potentially settled in, its ostock, including stock put options,
accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 8Dgrivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Oquity. Under certain circumstanc
that would require the Company to settle thesetgqtéms in cash, and without regard to probahilBASB ASC 815 would require t
classification of all or part of the item as a llap and the adjustment of that reclassified antaanfair value at each reporting date, with ¢
adjustments reflected in the Compagbnsolidated statements of Income. The firdtunsent to meet the requirements of FASB ASC 8%
derivative accounting occurred in the quarter entlete 30, 2009 when the Company renegotiated Yigaphk terms of certain put options i
agreed to pledge as collateral to certain holdsexand lien on certain property.

The fair value of the derivative liabilities whemetsecurities became derivatives were estimatde t$ 3.8million in accordance with FAS
ASC 820,Fair Value Measurementausing a Black-Scholes option-pricing model udimg following weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 73 %
Expected life 3.42 year:
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 1.34%




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The related put options were recognized in tempoeguity in the amount of $ 5raillion at the time they were issued. The differemetwee
that amount and the value of the derivative of&r8illion, amounting to $ 1.4 million, was includédadditional paid-in capitalhe fair valu
of the derivative liabilities as of September 3012 were estimated to be $ 75,000 , in accordaritteFRSB ASC 820, using a Blackehole
option-pricing model using the following weightedeaage assumptions:

Volatility 32%
Expected life 17 yea
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.06 %

We finished liquidating these put options during tjuarter ended March 31, 2013. The gain (lossjhferyears ended September 30, 2
2012 and 2011 recognized in earnings amountedLtd&® , $ 116,520 and $ 128,944 , respectively.

Comprehensive Income

The Company reports comprehensive income (losag@ordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 2R@porting Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is the total of (1) net incqius (2) all other changes in net assets arigioig fnonewner sources, which are refer
to as items of other comprehensive income. An amlyf changes in components of accumulated oth@prehensive income is presente
the statement of comprehensive income.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise, other tmgeand services at the pointsatle
upon receipt of cash, check, or credit card charge.

Revenues from the sale of magazines and advertigsintent are recognized when the issue is publisinedshipped. Revenues and exte
expenses related to the Company’s annual Expo odioveare recognized upon the completion of theveation in August.

Sales and Liquor Taxes

The Company recognizes sales and liquor taxes asaidevenues and an equal expense in accordanceFARBB ASC 605,Revenu
Recognition. Total sales and liquor taxes aggregated $ 8lkomi$ 6.8 million and $ 6.0nillion for the years ended September 30, 2
2012 and 2011, respectively.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilyjngosed of costs related to public advertisemeni$ giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing emges are expensed as incurred and are includemperating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of Income.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiaimethod in accordance with FASB ASC 748come Taxes Deferred tax assets ¢
liabilities are recognized for the future tax cansences attributable to differences between thanfiral statement carrying amounts of exis
assets and liabilities and their respective taxebaBeferred tax assets and liabilities are medsusag enacted tax rates expected to apj
taxable income in the years in which those tempodiferences are expected to be recovered oreseflihe effect on deferred tax assets
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recogniaedhcome in the period that includes the enactnaeé. In addition, a valuation allowanc
established to reduce any deferred tax asset farhwhis determined that it is more likely thantribat some portion of the deferred tax &
will not be realized.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies— continued
Income Taxes - continued

FASB ASC 740 creates a single model to addressuatiog for uncertainty in tax positions by presgrgpa minimum recognition thresholi
tax position is required to meet before being redoed in the financial statements. FASB ASC 740 g@isovides guidance on derecognit
measurement, classification, interest and penaltiesounting in interim periods, disclosure anchdmdon. There are no unrecognized
benefits to disclose in the notes to the consadifinancial statements.

Accounting for Investments

Investments in companies in which the company h2@8 % to 50% interest are accounted for using the equity nuktirad carried at cost 8
are adjusted for the Company's proportionate sbfteeir undistributed earnings or lossksiestments in Companies in which the Comj
owns less than a 20% interest are accounted foosatand reviewed for any impai rmenthe 40% investment in one company at Septer
30, 2012 was recorded in other assets and was @albamount. The remaining 40% was sold duringybar ended September 30, 2(
During the year ended September 30, 2012, the Coynglao acquired a 50 % investment in a nightcark$f600,00Q which was not yet op:
at September 30, 2012. This investment was alswded in other assets at September 30, 2012. Dthingear ended September 30, 2013
Company acquired the remaining 50% of this openagiod is now consolidatedsee Note M. Also during the year ended Septembe2B3
the Company acquired approximately 12 % of anogidity for $ 600,000 . This amount was includedftiner assets as of September 30, 2011

Put Options

In certain situations, the Company has issued icestr common shares as partial consideration fouiations of certain businesses
assets. Pursuant to the terms and conditions eofgtiverning acquisition agreements, the holderuchsshares has the right, but not
obligation, to put a fixed number of the sharesaomonthly basis back to the Company at a fixedepper share. The Company may ¢
during any given month to either buy the monthlgrgls or, if management elects not to do so, the@ehalan sell the monthly shares in the «
market, and any deficiency between the amount wttiehholder receives from the sale of the monthlgras and the value of shares wil
paid by the Company. The Company has accountedhiese shares in accordance with the guidance liskidb by FASB ASC 48
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equitas a reclassification of the value of the shares fpermanent to temporary equity. As the shareserhe
due, the Company transfers the value of the sh@sto permanent equity. Also see “Derivativeafitial Instruments” above.

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings (loss) per sharecordance with FASB ASC 26&arnings Per Share FASB ASC 260 provides for t
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per shHBasic earnings per share includes no dilutioniamdmputed by dividing income availabl
common stockholders by the weighted average nurmbeommon shares outstanding for the period. Ddutarnings per share reflect
potential dilution of securities that could shamethe earnings of the Company. Potential commockstbares consist of shares that may
from outstanding dilutive common stock options avatrants (the number of which is computed using“tteasury stock method'and fron
outstanding convertible debentures (the number luthvis computed using the “if converted method)luted earnings per share (“ERS”
considers the potential dilution that could ocdithe Companys outstanding common stock options, warrants andeartible debentures we
converted into common stock that then shared irChvapanys earnings (loss) (as adjusted for interest expehaewould no longer occur
the debentures were converted).




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies— continued
Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share - continued

(in thousands, except per share d

Basic earnings per shai
Income from continuing operations attributable tolk® shareholdetr
Loss from discontinued operations, net of inconxes
Net income attributable to Rick's shareholc
Average number of common shares outstan
Basic earnings (loss) per sha
Income (loss) from continuing operations attriblgaio Rick's shareholde
Discontinued operatior
Net income (loss) attributable to Rick's shareh
Diluted earnings per shar
Income (loss) from continuing operations attriblga Rick's shareholde
Adjustment. to net earnings from assumed convesialebentures (1
Adjusted income (loss) from continuing operatis
Discontinued operatior
Adjusted net income (loss) attributable to Rickiareholder:
Average number of common shares outstanc
Common shares outstandi
Potential dilutive shares resulting from exercigarrants and options (.
Potential dilutive shares resulting from conversidulebentures (1
Total average number of common shares outstandied for dilutior
Diluted earnings (loss) per sha
Income (loss) from continuing operations attriblgao Rick's shareholde
Discontinued operatior

Net income (loss) attributable to Rick's shareh

Net earnings (loss) applicable to common stocktardwveighted average number of shares used foc basi diluted earnings (loss) per sl

computations are summarized in the table thatvialo

*EPS may not foot due to rounding.

Additional shares for options, warrants and delr@stamounting to 1,122 for the year ended Septe8he2012 were not considered since

they would be antidilutive.

FOR THE YEAR ENDELC

SEPTEMBER 30

2013 2012 2011

$ 9,334 $ 7,750 $ 10,041
(143 172 (2,195

$ 9,191 $ 7578 $ 7,846
9,518 9,691 9,930

$ 0.98 $ 0.80 $ 1.01
$ (0.02 $ (0.02 $ (0.22
$ 0.97 $ 0.78 $ 0.79
$ 9,334 $ 7,750 $ 10,041
57 - -

9,391 7,750 10,041

(143 172 (2,195

$ 9,248 $ 7578 $ 7,846
9,518 9,691 9,930

4 6 2

93 - -

9,615 9,697 9,932

$ 0.98 $ 0.80 $ 1.01
$ (0.01 $ 0.02' $ (0.22
$ 0.96 $ 0.78 $ 0.79

(1) Represents interest expense on dilutive caitdeisecurities that would not occur if they wassumed converted.

(2) All outstanding warrants and options were ddered for the EPS computation.
Convertible debentures (principal and accrued @stgroutstanding at September 30, 2013, 2012 afd ffialing $ 7,790 , $ 3,524nd ¢
7,210 , respectively, were convertible into comrstotk at a price of $ 10.25 and $ 10i6@ach year. Convertible debentures amounting

1,444 were dilutive in 2013.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies— continued
Stock Options

At September 30, 2013, the Company has stock aptotstanding, which are described more fully inteNlo The Company accounts for
stock options under the recognition and measuremantipals of fair value set forth in FASB ASC Tiop7/18 Compensation -Stocl
Compensation The compensation cost recognized for the yade@ September 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $ &173814,76land ¢
8,254 , respectively. There were zero stock optixercises for the years ended September 30, 2@L2G? and 25,008tock option exercis
for the year ended September 30, 2011.

Fair Value Accounting

In December 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 (B3@),Fair Value MeasurementsSFAS No. 157 clarifies the definition of fair ual
describes methods used to appropriately measurevdhie, and expands fair value disclosure requeres) but does not change exis
guidance as to whether or not an instrument isezhat fair value. For financial assets and ligiledi, SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal ye
beginning after November 15, 2007, which requiteel Company to adopt these provisions in fiscal 2609 nonfinancial assets and liabilit
SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years begimnafter November 15, 2008, which required the Camgga adopt these provisions in fis
2010.

SFAS No. 157 establishes a thtes-fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes thepints used in the valuation methodologies in meagufidit
value:

Level 1- Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (wedfl) for identical assets or liabilities in aetimarkets
Level 2- Include other inputs that are directly or indirgaibservable in the marketplax
Level 3— Unobservable inputs which are supported by littla@ market activity

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entitynaximize the use of observable inputs and mininfieeuse of unobservable inputs w
measuring fair value.

The Company’s derivative liabilities have been nuead principally utilizing Level 2 inputs.

We classify our marketable securities as availédiesale, which are reported at fair value. Unmdi holding gains and losses, net of the
related income tax effect, if any, on available-$ate securities are excluded from income and g@rted as accumulated other compreher
income in stockholders’ equity. Realized gains sdes from securities classified as availablestde-are included in income. We measure th
fair value of our marketable securities based astepliprices for identical securities in active nesk or Level 1 inputs. As of September 30,
2013, available-for-sale securities consisted efftilowing:

Gross
(in thousands Cost Unrealizec Fair
Available for Sale Basis Gains Value
Tax-Advantaged Bond Fur $ 505 §$ 50 $ 555

In accordance with ASC Topic 32vestments — Debt and Equity Securitiege review our marketable securities to determihether .
decline in fair value of a security below the coasis is other than temporary. Should the decl;ednsidered other than temporary, we \
down the cost basis of the security and includeldbe in current earnings as opposed to an uneshliplding loss. No losses for other t
temporary impairments in our marketable securjti@tfolio were recognized during the year ended&aper 30, 2013.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies— continued

Financial assets and liabilities measured at faluer on a recurring basis are summarized below:

(in thousands Carrying
September 30, 201 Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Marketable securitie $ 555 $ 555 $ - $ =
(in thousands Carrying
September 30, 201 Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Marketable securitie $ 1,059 $ 1,059 $ - $ =
Derivative liability $ 75 $ - 8 75 $ -

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2011 new guidance was issued regatidéngoodwill impairment testing for reporting wifThis guidance gives the entity
option to perform a qualitative assessment andrigdite that it is more likely than not that the faalue of a reporting unit is less than
carrying amount. This guidance is effective foenrmh and annual periods beginning after DecembeP@%1. The Company has eadgopte:
this guidance beginning with our Form @Ofor the quarter ending December 31, 2011. Thdementation of this guidance did not ha\
material impact on the Company’s consolidated fo@rstatements.

In June 2011 new guidance was issued regardindisatosure of the components of comprehensive icdrhis guidance gives the entity
option to present the total of comprehensive ingaiime components of net income, and the comporarither comprehensive income eil
in a single continuous statement of comprehensiveme or in two separate but consecutive statemkengsther option, an entity is requirec
present each component of net income along witi tedt income, each component of other compreherissome along with a total for otl
comprehensive income, and a total amount for cohgmgive income. This guidance eliminates the optiopresent the components of o
comprehensive income as part of the statementasfgds in stockholdersquity. This guidance does not change the itentaingt be reporte
in other comprehensive income or when an item lbéotomprehensive income must be reclassified tanaeme. This guidance is effect
for interim and annual periods beginning after Deler 15, 2011 and is required to be adopted regmsely. The Company has adopted
guidance beginning with its Form 10-Q for the geaending December 31, 2012.

In July 2012 new guidance was issued regardingntipairment testing related to indefiniiged intangible assets. This guidance permit
entity to make a qualitative assessment to determihether it is more likely than not that an ind&é-ived intangible asset, other tt
goodwill, is impaired. If an entity concludes, base an evaluation of all relevant qualitative éast that it is not more likely than not that
fair value of an indefinitdived intangible asset is less than its carryingpan, it will not be required to perform the quaaive impairment fc
that asset. This guidance is effective for inteaind annual periods beginning after September 182.20he Company has eaidyglopted thi
guidance beginning with our Form K0for the year ended September 30, 2012. The imgitation of this guidance did not have a mat
impact on the Company’s consolidated financialestents.

C. Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiesbbhform to the current year presentation.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
D. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

(in thousands, except per share d September 3(
2013 2012
Buildings and lant $ 77,760 $ 61,296
Leasehold improvemen 19,658 16,913
Furniture 6,159 4,948
Equipment 20,393 17,379
Total property and equipme 123,970 100,536
Less accumulated depreciati (25,359 (20,596
Property and equipment, r $ 98,611 $ 79,940
E. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of thimfahg:

(in thousands

September 3(
2013 2012

Indefinite useful lives

Goodwill $ 43,987 $ 43,421

Licenses 54,966 50,608

Amortization
Period

Definite useful lives

Discounted lease 18 & 6 years 168 27

Unamortized no-compete agreemer 5 years 897 1,150
Total goodwill and intangible asse $ 100,018 $ 95,206

(in thousands 2013 2012
Licenses Goodwill Licenses Goodwill

Beginning balanc $ 50,608 $ 43,421 $ 42,092 $ 23,550
Intangibles acquire 4,358 997 8,516 19,871
Other - (431 - -
Ending balanci $ 54966 $ 43,987 $ 50,608 $ 43,421

Future amortization expense related to definitediintangible assets subject to amortization ateédeiper 30, 2013 is (in thousands): 2014
$336, 2015 - $290, 2016 - $209, 2017 - $101, 208B)>-and thereafter - $119.

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets sisih of sexually oriented business licenses or gilbdvhich were obtained as part of -
acquisitions. These licenses are the result ofrgpardinances, thus are valid indefinitely, subjecfiing annual renewal applications, wh
are done at minimal costs to the Company. As dasisfare expected to continue indefinitely, in ademce with FASB ASC 350Mntangibles -
Goodwill and Other, the licenses are determined to have indefiniefulisives. The discounted cash flow method of imecapproach was us
in calculating the value of these licenses in drimss combination. There was no impairment forythars ended September 30, 2013, 20
2011.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

F. Long-term Debt
Long-term debt consisted of:
(in thousands

Notes payable at -11%, mature August 2015 and July 2(

Notes payable at 9.6%, mature December 2014 an&daf01=t

Note payable at 7%, matures December 2

Note payable at 7.25%, matures May 2!

Notes payable at 14%, mature September 30, 2088teralized by stocks ¢
Miami Gardens Square One, Inc. and Stellar ldaneent, Inc

Note payable at the greater of 2% above prime%%7(7.5% a
September 30, 2013), matures April 2!

Note payable at the greater of 2% above prime%%7(7.5% a
September 30, 2013), matures June :

Note payable at 8%, matures January z

Notes payable at 5.5%, matures January :

Notes payable at 5.5%, matures January :

8.15% note payable secured by aircraft, maturesugep 2017

Note payable refinanced at 6.25%, matures July

Notes payable at 9% and 6.3%, mature July 2018 and 2030, collateralize
by aircrafi

Notes payable at 4.75-7.25%, mature December 2014 and September

10% convertible debentur

Note payable at 9.5%, matures August 2

Notes payable at 9.5%, mature September .

6% convertible debentures, mature March 2

Note payable at 13%, matures March 2

Notes payable at-7%, mature from 2018 to 20:

Note payable at 11%, matures June 2

Convertible note payable from a related party & lthatures August 1, 20:

Total debt

Less current portio

Total lon¢-term debi
* Collateralized by real estate
** Collateralized by stock in subsidiary

Following is a summary of loi-term debt at September &
(in thousands

Secured by real este
Secured by stock in subsidie
Secured by other ass:t
Unsecurec

September 3(
2013 2012
*$ 2,381 $ 1,551
* 2,257 2,364
* 232 261
* 880 1,169
* 5,284 7,741
* 3,142 3,250
* 3,775 3,901
* 2,893 3,343
1,456 1,500
* 6,310 6,500
2,571 2,680
* 1,512 1,981
970 488
* 955 1,396
4,991 2,653
*k 20,967 22,000
* 9,267 -
*k 1,444 -
** 1,500 -
* 2,555 -
* 2,500 -
750 750
78,592 63,528
8,830 6,603
$ 69,762 $ 56,925
2013 2012
38,659 $ 25,716
29,195 29,741
3,541 3,168
7,197 4,903

78,592 $

63,528




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

F. Long-term Debt — continued

On April 29, 2009, the Company entered into a nicdifon to two secured promissory notes wherebydhe date for the $ Billion of
principal due and payable by the Company under eath was extended by two years from November 2018ovember 2012. All oth
terms and conditions of the promissory notes rentlain same. The Company paid a total of $ 1BW to the holders of the notes
consideration for their agreement to extend thesidéor two years through November 2012. The $ 080 paid will be amortized as
adjustment of interest expense over the remairiegf the notes. The Company accounted for tlsisdaction in accordance with FASB A
470,Debt.

On September 30, 2010, the two secured promissaasmwere modified agairnder the modified terms the promissory notes becbfhyez
amortized facilities that provides for equal moptplayments of $77,633 each and will be fully pard September 30, 2020, rather th¢
balloon payment for the entire amount that wouldeh&een due on November 30, 2012nterest on the modified note remains a
percent. The Company paid each holder $ 50 ,0@@msideration for entering into the extension. $nE00,000 paid will be amortized as
adjustment of interest expense over the remairfegf the notes. The Company accounted for tlisdaction in accordance with FASB A
470,Debt.

As part of the acquisition of the Platinum CluhiflDallas, the Company acquired the Real PropedmfWire Way, LLC, a Texas limitt
liability company (“Wire Way”). Pursuant to a Rdzdtate Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “RealeEstaeement”dated May 10, 2008, t
Company paid total consideration of $ 6 million,igéhwas paid $ 1.6 million in cash and $ #4ulion through the issuance of a promiss
note (the “Promissory Note"J.he Promissory Note bears interest at a varyirgatthe greater of (i) two percent (2%) aboveRfime Rate ¢
(ii) seven and one-half percent (7.5%), which isrgnteed by the Company and by Eric Langan, thep@ogis Chief Executive Office
individually . The note is payable in monthly inkteents of $ 34,999 until June 2017.

In connection with the acquisition of Joy Club afigkin (now Ricks Cabaret) in December 2009 (Note N), the Compasyraed and entet
into certain notes payable aggregating $ 2.5 milli@hese notes bear interest at rates ranging #adth % to 7.25% and are payable
monthly installments aggregating $ 42,461 , inahgdinterest. The notes mature in December 20145aptember 2019.

In April 2010, the Company acquired the real esfatéhe club in Austin, Texas formerly known agRs Cabaret . In connection with the
purchase, the Company executed a note to the aefleunting to $ 2.2 millionThe note was collateralized by the real estatevaaslpayable i
monthly installments through April 2025 of $19,7#luding principal and interest at the prime nalies 4.5% with a minimum rate of 7%. As
of September 30, 2012, the effective rate was THé.Company refinanced this debt in 2013 with & mdt$ 1.5 million, payable in monthly
installments of $ 15,090 through July 2018, inchgdprincipal and interest at 6.25 %.

In June 2010, the Company borrowed $518,192 fréemder. The funds were used to purchase an airditaét debt bears interest at 6.308th
monthly principal and interest payments of $ 3,888inning July 2010. The note matures in June 2030.

On June 25, 2010, the Company completed the sade afjgregate of approximately $ 9.2 million in 10%nvertible Debentures (th@01(
Debentures”) to certain accredited investors (2@10 Holders”). The 2010 Debentures bore interest at the rate %f A€ annum and matul
and were paid on June 25, 2013. The 2010 Debentere payable with one initial payment of intereaty due December 26, 2010, &
thereafter in ten equal quarterly principal paymesft$ 920,00(plus accrued interest thereon. At the option ef2010 Holders, the princiy
amount of the 2010 Debentures and the accruednpatidi interest thereon could be converted intoeshaf the Compang’common stock at
10.25 per share.The 2010 Debentures were redeemable by the Congiaary time if the closing price of its common &téaor 20 consecuti\
trading days is at least $13.47 per shar€onsidering the cost of the associated warramdsissue costs explained below, the effectiveras
rate on the 2010 Debentures was 13.1 %.

In connection with the sale of the 2010 Debentinehine 2010, the Company also issued an aggref/a#9,513 warrants (the “Warrants
the 2010 Holders, on a pro-rata basis. The Compssyed each Holder a number of Warrants equalOt&o2of the number of shares
common stock into which each Holder's 2010 Debentsirconvertible. The Warrants had an exercissef $ 10.2%nd expired on June :
2013. The Warrants provided that the Company hadight to require exercise of the Warrants if ¢hesing price of the Comparsg/commo
stock for 20 consecutive trading days was at [$44t35 .

The conversion price for the 2010 Convertible Débers was determined by negotiation with the cegditThe $ 10.26onversion price was
excess of the market price at date of issuance8of%. The beneficial conversion was calculateddayparing the “effective conversion price’
of the debenture to the actual stock price atriduestction date. The “effective conversion pria&s calculated by dividing the fair value of
debt, after deducting the fair value of the delsicdunt due to the issuance of warrants with thd olethe amount of $ 462,724by the
convertible shares. The resulting $ 9.74 was alfoeatock price at the transaction date; theretbere was no beneficial conversion feature.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

F. Long-term Debt — continued

The fair value of the warrants was estimated t& #34,571 in accordance with FASB ASC 8B@ijr Value Measurementsusing a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model using the followingigiged average assumptions:

Volatility 68 %
Expected life 1.5 years
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 1.18%

The cost of the warrants has been recognized ssautht on the related debt and was amortized thweelife of the debt.

The proceeds from the sale of the 2010 Debenturdsarrants in June 2010 were intended to be etilto make future acquisitions,
could be utilized for working capital and generafgorate purposes.

An adviser to the Company received compensatiothénamount of $ 460,000 which was capitalized as loan origination cost avas
amortized over the life of the debt, in connectidgth advising the Company regarding the June 2@1® af the 2010 Debentures and Warra

In August 2011, the Company borrowed $750,000 femmemployee. The note bears interest at the ral® &6 per annum and matures
August 1, 2014. The note is payable with oneadhjiiayment of interest only due January 1, 2018, #rereafter in ten intereetily quarterl
payments. The principal is payable on August 14204t the option of the holder, the principal ambof the note and the accrued but un
interest thereon may be converted into shareseoCthmpany’s common stock at $ 10.00 per sh@tee note is redeemable by the Comg
after six months at any time if the closing pri¢ét® common stock for 20 consecutive trading dayat least $13.00 per share .

On December 2, 2011, RCI Holdings entered into al Estate Sales Agreement with Bryan S. Fostewigireg for RCI Holdings to purcha
from Mr. Foster the real properties located at B282lloway Cemetery Road, Fort Worth, Texas andl2#&anana Drive, Dallas, Texas,
the aggregate purchase price of $ 5,500,000 ,dim@u$ 2,000,000 cash and $ 3,500,000 in the fdrandB% promissory note that is paya
over 10 years at $ 42,4¢fr month including interest. The Fort Worth prapeepresents the land for Cabaret East, one othlns, and tt
Dallas property represents the land at anothettegaen’s club. This transaction closed on Januan2@32.

In connection with the acquisition of Silver City January 2012, the Company executed notes tcoetlee ;1 the amount of $ 1.5 milliodhe
notes are payable over eleven years at $12,25@peth including interest and have an adjustablerést rate of 5.5%. The rate adjust
prime plus 2.5% in the 61 st month, not to exce¥d. 9n the same transaction, the Company also aatjtire related real estate and exec
notes to the seller for $ 6.5 milliofthe notes are also payable over eleven years atB5®er month including interest and have the :
adjustable interest rate of 5.5% .

In February 2012, the Company borrowed $million from a lender. The funds were used to pasghan aircraft. The debt bears intere
8.15 % with monthly principal and interest paymeoft$ 26,386 beginning March 2012. The note matiré&bruary 2017.

As consideration for the purchase of the Fosteb€I{Note M), a subsidiary paid to the sellers asiclg $ 3,500,000 cash and23,000,00
pursuant to a secured promissory note (the “CluteNoThe Club Note bears interest at the rate of 9.5%@paum, is payable in 144 eq
monthly installments of $ 256,602 per month anskisured by the assets purchased from the Companies.

The Company acquired a second adult business itomidManhattan in March 2013. The Company paidrilBon for the business, with
1.5 million paid in cash and the remaining $ 1.8iam in six percent promissory notes convertibieoi shares of Rick’ Cabaret common stc
at a conversion price of $ 10.25 . The notes ayalge over ten years at $ 16,653 per month, inolygirincipal and interest and have &6
interest rate.

In connection with the acquisition of the Fosteulfd, as explained above, the Companyholly owned subsidiary, Jaguars Holdings,
(“JHI"), entered into a Commercial Contract (thecd® Estate Agreementjyhich agreement provided for JHI to purchase tla¢ @state whe
the Foster Clubs are located. The transactioneoglaited by the Real Estate Agreement closed oob®ctl6, 2012. The purchase price o
real estate was $ 10.1 million (discounted to $rilion as explained below) and was paid with ®B80 in cash, $ 9.hillion in mortgag:
notes, and an agreement to make a one-time payh&r50,000 in twelve years that bears no intef@st note bears interest at the rat8.5f
%, is payable in 143 equal monthly installments @ndecured by the real estate properties. The @oynpas recorded a debt discount
431,252 related to the one-time payment of $650,000




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

F. Long-term Debt — continued

On January 24, 2013, we sold to an investor (i) &lConvertible Debenture with a principal amouin$ @,000,000 (the “Debentureynde
the terms and conditions set forth in the Debentame (ii) a warrant to purchase a total of 60,808res of our common stock (the “Warrant”
under the terms and conditions set forth in therdrdr The Debenture has a term of two years, isexible into shares of our common stoc
a conversion price of $ 10.Q@r share (subject to adjustment), and has an hmegest rate of 10%, with one initial paymentiatferest onl
due July 24, 2013, and thereafter, the principabam is payable in six equal quarterly principaympeants of $ 509000 plus accrued a
unpaid interest. Six months after the issue dath@Debenture, we have the right to redeem theetelbe if our common stock has a clo:
price of $ 13.00 (subject to adjustment) for 20 smmutive trading days. The Warrant has an exemise of $ 10.00per share (subject
adjustment) and expires on January 24, 2015. Iretteat there is an effective registration statemmegistering the shares of common s
underlying the Warrant, we have the right to reguéxercise of the Warrant if our common stock ha$oaing price of $13.00 (subject
adjustment) for 20 consecutive trading days. Wel sbe Debenture and Warrant to the investor in igaf@ transaction and recei
consideration of $ 3,000,000 . Brean Capital, LloB=d as exclusive placement agent for the trarmaetnd received a placement fee ¢6®1
the gross proceeds raised.

The fair value of the warrants was estimated t 88,256 in accordance with FASB ASC 8HFajr Value Measurementsusing a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model using the followingigi#ged average assumptions:

Volatility 35 %
Expected life 1.0 yeat
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.23%

The cost of the warrants has been recognized ssautht on the related debt and will be amortizeer ahe life of the debt.

The proceeds from the sale of the Debenture andamarin January 2013 are intended to be utilipechake future acquisitions, and may
utilized for working capital and general corporpteposes.

An adviser to the Company received compensatiothénamount of $ 165,000which was capitalized as loan origination cost arll be
amortized over the life of the debt, in connectidgth advising the Company regarding the debt.

In March 2013 the Company borrowed $ 1,500,000 feonindividual. The note is collateralized by asetlien on the Companys Miami
nightclub, bears interest at 13 % and interest anpayable monthly until the principal maturesMarch 2016.

During the year ended September 30, 2013, the Caynmequired four parcels of real estate at a apgtegyating $ 3,230,004nd incurred de
aggregating $ 2,600,000 in connection therewithe Tibtes bear interest at rates ranging from 5 - @nth are payable $ 25,660onthly
including principal and interest. The notes mafuwen 2018 to 2028.

On August 24, 2013, we sold to an investor ({06 Convertible Debenture with a principal amooin$ 2,500,000 (the “DebentureQnde
the terms and conditions set forth in the Debentame (ii) a warrant to purchase a total of 48,388res of our common stock (the “Warrant”
under the terms and conditions set forth in therdrdr The Debenture has a term of two years, isexible into shares of our common stoc
a conversion price of $ 10.3%er share (subject to adjustment), and has an himeeest rate of 10%, with one initial paymentintferest onl
due February 28, 2014, and thereafter, the priheipeount is payable in six equal quarterly printipayments of $ 250000 plus accrued a
unpaid interest. Six months after the issue dath@Debenture, we have the right to redeem theeteibe if our common stock has a clo:
price of $ 13.33subject to adjustment) for 20 consecutive tradlags. The Warrant has an exercise price of $10e25spare (subject
adjustment) and expires on August 28, 2016. Inethent there is an effective registration statenmegistering the shares of common s
underlying the Warrant, we have the right to reguexercise of the Warrant if our common stock hatoaing price of $13.33 (subject
adjustment) for 20 consecutive trading days. Weal sbe Debenture and Warrant to the investor in igaf@ transaction and recei
consideration of $ 2,500,000 .




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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F. Long-term Debt — continued

The fair value of the warrants was estimated t& 841,735 in accordance with FASB ASC 8Fair Value Measurementsusing a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model using the followingigiged average assumptions:

Volatility 26 %
Expected life 1.5 years
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.38%

The cost of the warrants has been recognized ssautht on the related debt and will be amortizeer dhe life of the debt.

The Debenture also had a beneficial conversionufeavalued at $ 32,467has been recognized as a discount on the redateidand will b
amortized over the life of the debt.

The proceeds from the sale of the Debenture andamarin August 2013 are intended to be utilizedhtke future acquisitions, and may
utilized for working capital and general corporpteposes.

An adviser to the Company received compensatiothénamount of $150,000, which was capitalized a@® lorigination cost and will |
amortized over the life of the debt, in connectidgth advising the Company regarding the debt.

Future maturities of long-term debt consist of fiblléowing, net of debt discount: (in thousands)

2014 $ 8,830
2015 9,204
2016 7,971
2017 12,932
2018 7,607
Thereaftel 32,048
Total maturities of lon-term debt, net of debt discot $ 78,592
G. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes on continuing operet consisted of the following for the years en8egitember 30:

(in thousands 2013 2012 2011
Current $ 5240 $ 2,519 $ 1,627
Deferred 261 1,855 3,776
Total income tax expen: $ 5501 $ 4,374 $ 5,403

Income tax expense on continuing operations diffiens the “expectedincome tax expense computed by applying the Ueréd statutor
rate of 34 % to earnings before income taxes felyhars ended September 30 as a result of thevintio

(in thousands 2013 2012 2011
Computed expected tax expel $ 5116 $ 4,194 $ 5,323
State income taxes, net of federal ber 146 140 140
Stock-based compensation and other permanent
differences 239 40 (60)

Total income tax expent $ 5501 § 4374 $ 5,403




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

G. Income Taxes- continued
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe€teemporary differences between the carrying am®uifitassets and liabilities for financ

reporting purposes and the amounts used for incaxepurposes. The significant components of the @om's deferred tax assets
liabilities at September 30 were as follows:

(in

thousands 2013 2012
Deferred tax assets (liabilities
Definite and indefinite lived intangible $ (16,481 $ (14,954
Property and equipme (9,873 (8,627
Patron tay 4,351 3,447
Net operating loss carryforward and ot 267 (194

Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (21,736 $ (20,328

The net deferred taxes are recorded in the balsimeets as follows:

2013 2012
Current assel $ 4618 $ 3,635
Long-term liabilities (26,354 (23,963
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (21,736 $ (20,328

Included in the Company’s deferred tax liabilit@sSeptember 30, 2013 is approximately $ hillon representing the tax effect of indefir
lived intangible assets from club acquisitions whire not deductible for tax purposes. These defetax liabilities will remain in tt
Company'’s balance sheet until the related clubsaic

The Company may recognize the tax benefit from tagetax positions only if it is at least moredlig than not that the tax position will
sustained on examination by the taxing authoritiesed on the technical merits of the position. Exebenefits recognized in the finan
statements from such a position should be measiaseld on the largest benefit that has a greaterfifitya percent likelihood of being realiz
upon settlement with the taxing authorities. Weogggze accrued interest related to unrecognizedbemefits as a component of inte
expense. We recognize penalties related to unréedjtax benefits as a component of miscellanencsnie (expense) in accordance !
regulatory requirements.

The Company recognizes interest accrued relateshtecognized tax benefits in interest expense amélfies in operating expenses. Du
the years ended September 30, 2013, 2012 and #84 Company recognized no interest and penaltiesificecognized tax benefits. 1
Company or one of its subsidiaries files incomerttarns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and gas states. The last three years remain
to tax examination. The Company’s income tax reddon the years ended September 30, 2012 and 28lcueaently under examination.

For tax purposes, the Company has recognized ddosax purposes of approximately $ 18nlion for the year ended September 30, 2
upon the closing of the Las Vegas club. The losslted in a loss for tax purposes for the yearpgraximately $ 2.3nillion. This loss wa
carried forward to the subsequent year for tax psep.

H. Put Options and Temporary Equity

As part of certain of the Company’s acquisitiomgactions, we have entered into Lock-Up/L€&ak- Agreements with the sellers pursuat
which, on or after a contractual period after thasing date, the seller had the right, but notdhkgation, to have the Company purchase -
seller a certain number of our shares of commorksssued in the transactions in an amount andatesof not more than a contractual nun
of the shares per month (the “Monthly Shares”) dlalied at a price per share equal to a contrasaiak per share (“Value of the Riek’
Shares”) At our election during any given month, we coulther buy the Monthly Shares or, if we elected ndbiy the Monthly Shares frc
the seller, then the seller could sell the MontBhares in the open market. Any deficiency betwoaenamount which the seller received fi
the sale of the Monthly Shares and the value ofttares could be paid by us within three (3) bissirdays of the date of sale of the Mon
Shares during that particular month. Our obligatomurchase the Monthly Shares from the Sellerlgvéerminate and cease such time &
the seller received a contractual amount from tile sf the Rick’s Shares and any deficiency. Untler terms of the Lock-Up/LeaRul
Agreements, the seller could not sell more thanrdaractual number of our shares per 30-day perighrdless of whether the seller “Pthe
shares to us or sold them in the open market @roibke.
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H. Put Options and Temporary Equity - continued

During April and May 2009, we completed renegotiatof terms of certain of our long term debt arsigmificant portion of outstanding
options. Before the renegotiation, the maximumigattion that could be owed if our stock were val@dzero was $ 13.fillion and wa
recorded in our consolidated balance sheet as Temp&quity. If we were required to buy back anytleése put options, the bipack
transaction would be purely a balance sheet tréinsa@ffecting only Temporary Equity or Derivatiléability and StockholdersEquity ant
would have no income statement effect. The ondpine statement effect from these put options isrterk to market’valuation quarterly ¢
the derivative liability.

We finished liquidating the put options during tingarter ended March 31, 2013 and we have no mdigatibns under the put options.
l. Stock Options

In 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Of®ilam (the “1995 Plan™jor employees and directors. In August 1999, then@an
adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Bland in 2010, the ComparsyBoard of Directors approved the 2010 Stock Opfitam (th
“2010 Plan”) (collectively, “the Plans”)The 2010 Plan was approved by the shareholderseofCompany at the 2011 Annual Meetin
Shareholders. The options granted under the Playshe either incentive stock options or rpralified options. The Plans are administere
the Board of Directors or by a compensation congaitrf the Board of Directors. The Board of Direstbas the exclusive power to se
individuals to receive grants, to establish thenteof the options granted to each participant, igiex\/that all options granted shall be grantt
an exercise price equal to at least%8%f the fair market value of the common stock cedeby the option on the grant date and to mal
determinations necessary or advisable under thesPla

Following is a summary of options activity:

Weighted
Average Aggregate
Weighted Remaining Intrinsic
Average Contractua Value at
Exercise Term Septembe
(in thousands, except exercise prices and conahigms) Options Price (Years) 30, 2013
Outstanding at October 1, 20 565 $ 9.94
Grantec 35 7.15
Forfeited (55) 8.57
Exercisec (25) 7.55
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 520 10.01
Grantec 755 8.41
Expired or cancelle (490 10.18
Exercisec -
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 785 8.36
Grantec 10 8.70
Expired or cancelle (30) 7.15
Exercisec - -
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 765 $ 8.41 83 $ 2,585
Exercisable at September 30, 2( 755 $ 8.41 82 $ 2,554

As of September 30, 2013, the range of exercigegifior outstanding options was $ 8.35 - $8.78 .

In August 2011, the Company issued 35,000 stocloogtunder the 2010 Plan to Directors and certaipleyees. These options becc
exercisable in August 2012, had a strike price ftH5 per share and expired in August 20Ithe fair value of options issued for the
ended September 30, 2011 were estimated to be5848} the date of grant using a Black-Scholesoogiricing model using the followir
weighted average assumptions:
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l. Stock Options- continued

Volatility 50 %
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.19%

On June 27, 2012, the Company issued 100,000 aptmthe Companyg’ directors. These options become exercisablerie 2013, have
strike price of $ 8.78 per share and expire in ROft. The fair value of these options were egtohéo be $ 160,488t the date of grant usi
a Black-Scholes option-pricing model using thedwling weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 37 %
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.31%

On July 2, 2012, the Company issued 655,000 optiortertain Company employees. Of these optiong,500were exchanged for existi
options which were to expire in September 2012 s€heew options become exercisable in July 2013 hastrike price of $ 8.3%r share ar
expire in July 2014. The fair value of these omsiavas estimated to be $ 966,493 at the date ot gsang a Black-Scholes optigmicing
model using the following weighted average assuongti

Volatility 37 %
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.30%

In June 2013, the Company issued 10,000 optioas@ompany employee. These options become exereisaliine 2014, have a strike p
of $ 8.70 per share and expire in June 2015. @hevalue of these options was estimated to be,670Llat the date of grant using a Black
Scholes option-pricing model using the followingigi#ed average assumptions:

Volatility 27 %
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.27%

The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed fa s estimating the fair value of traded optiongiick have no vestit
restrictions and are fully transferable. In addifi@ption valuation models require the input oftiygsubjective assumptions including
expected stock price volatility. Because changeshim subjective input assumptions can materialliecafthe fair value estimate,
management's opinion, the existing models do noésmarily provide a reliable single measure of fiie value of its employee sto
options. The expected life of awards granted iegrts the period of time that they are expectdoetoutstanding. The Company determ
the initial expected life based on a simplified hoet in accordance with ASC 718 (also formerly SA® N10,Shared-Based Paymentgiving
consideration to the contractual terms, vestingedules and pre-vesting and pwessting forfeitures. The Company has utilized timeptified
method in accordance with ASC 718 for the follownegsons. Earlier in the Company’s existence, Iotgyen options (generally Yyear lives
were issued to employees, Directors and outsidiermore recent years, option terms have generaboime shorter ( 1 - @ear lives) an
options were issued principally to management ai@drs. Then in 2010, short-term options (y2ar lives) were issued to Directc
management and a substantial number of employagstdthe changes in the terms of the option gramtisthe type of persons receiving
options, we believe that the historical exercisgdaay no longer provide a reasonable basis upachvib estimate expected term. Therel
the Company believes that the use of the simplifiredhod for determining the expected term of then@any’s options has been appropriate.
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l. Stock Options- continued

During the years ended September 30, 2013, 20122atd, the Company recorded $ 847,183 , $ 314,76l $a8,254 of stockase!
compensation, respectively. Unamortized stock corsaion expense amounted to $ 8,753 at Septemb2038.

J. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases certain equipment and facilitreder operating leases, of which rent expense apasoximately $ 3.6 million, ®.¢
million and $ 3.0 million for the years ended Sepmber 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Reperese for the Compars/'operatin
leases, which generally have escalating rentals iveterm of the lease, is recorded using thegétrdine method over the initial lease te
whereby an equal amount of rent expense is atétibtd each period during the term of the leasegridgss of when actual payments are v
Generally, this results in rent expense in excésash payments during the early years of a leaderent expense less than cash payme
the later years. The difference between rent expeesognized and actual rental payments is recoadedther londerm liabilities in th
consolidated balance sheets.

Future minimum annual lease obligations as of $epéx 30, 2013 are as follows:

(in thousands)

2014 $ 4,015
2015 3,847
2016 3,680
2017 3,448
2018 3,066
Thereaftel 15,622

Total future minimum lease obligatio $ 33,678

Legal Matters

Beginning January 1, 2008, the Company’s Texassché#tame subject to a new state law requiring elathto collect and pay a $shircharg
for every club visitor. A lawsuit was filed by thEexas Entertainment Association (“TEA'3n organization to which the Company
member, alleging the fee amounts to be an uncatistial tax. On March 28, 2008, a State Distriou@ Judge in Travis County, Texas rt
that the new state law violates the First Amendnterihe United States Constitution and is therefovalid. The judges order enjoined tl
State from collecting or assessing the tax. TlaeSappealed the Cowsttuling. In Texas, when cities or the State gie¢ice of appeal,
supersedes and suspends the judgment, includinmjimection. Therefore, the judgment of the DistrCourt cannot be enforced until
appeals are completed. Given the suspension gltiggnent, the State gave notice of its right teod the tax pending the outcome ol
appeal but took no affirmative action to enforcatttight. On June 5, 2009, the Court of Appeatstii@ Third District (Austin) affirmed tt
District Court’s judgment that the Sexually OriehtBusiness (“S.0.B.”JFee violated the First Amendment to the U.S. Cantstin but ol
August 26, 2011, the Texas Supreme Court reversegutigment of the Court of Appeals, ruling tha OB Fee does not violate the F
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and remandect#se to the District Court to determine whetherfée violates the Texas Constitution.

TEA appealed the Texas Supreme Court's decisiotihg¢oU.S. Supreme Court (regarding the constitutignaf the fee under the Fil
Amendment of the U.S. Constitution), but the U.8pi®@me Court denied the appeal on January 23, Zisequently, the case was rema
to the District Court for consideration of the raniag issues raised by TEA. On June 28, 2012, tisritx Court in Travis County held
hearing on TEA’'s Texas Constitutional claims andJaiy 9 entered an order finding tithe tax was a constitutional Occupations Tax.
Court denied the remainder of TEAConstitutional claims. TEA is now in the proce$sppealing this new decision to the Texas Thiodid
of Appeals.

The Company has not made any payments of thesg sin@e the first quarter of 2009 and plans nahédke any such payments while the
is pending in the courts. However, the Company edlitinue to accrue and expense the potentiaiahxity on its financial statements, so i
ultimate negative ruling will not have any effect ibs consolidated income statement and will offfga the consolidated balance sheeth#
final decision of the courts is ultimately in th@m@pany’s favor, as it believes it will be, then empany will record a ontme gain of th
entire amount previously expensed.
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Since the inception of the tax, the Company had pare than $ Pnillion to the State of Texas under protest forfailr quarters of 2008 a
the first quarter of 2009, expensing it in the aditgted financial statements (except for two lawa in Dallas where the taxes have not |
paid, but the Company is accruing and expensindiabdity). For all subsequent quarters, as ailtesf the Third Cours 2009 decision, tl
Company has accrued the tax, but not paid the .Steteordingly, as of September 30, 2013, the Carggwas approximately $ 13rillion in
accrued liabilities for this tax. Patron tax expemmounted to approximately $ 3.2 million and@million for the years ended September
2013 and 2012, respectively. The Compariiexas clubs have filed a separate lawsuit agtirs$tate in which the Company raises addit
challenges to the statute imposing the fee ordamanding repayment of the taxes the Company hdsupder this statute. The courts have
yet addressed these additional claims. If the Gompps successful in the remaining litigation, #meount the Company has paid under pr
should be repaid or applied to any future, conitifial admission tax or other Texas state tax llids.

The Companys subsidiary that operated the club in Las Vegasréeently been audited by the Department of Taraif the State of Neva
for sales and other taxes. The audit period was fhe date of opening in September 2008 throuth3ly 2010. As a result of the audit,
Department of Taxation contends that the Compabgss Vegas subsidiary owes approximately $ritlion, including penalties and intere
for Las Vegas Live Entertainment Taxes. The Compdoes not believe it is subject to the Live Erdiennent Tax and is protesting the a
results. Accordingly, the Company has not accrtlegl contingent liability in the accompanying condaled financial statements. It
unknown at this time whether the resolution of timgertainty will have a material effect on the Quamy’s operations.

Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. (“RCII") and sitharies RCI NY, Inc. (“RCI NY”) and Peregrine Emnprises, Inc. (“PeregrineBave bee
defendants in a federal court action, pending siMaech 30, 2009, in the Southern District of Newrk celating to claims under the Fair La
Standards Act and New Yosk'wage and hour laws. While Plaintiffs do not sfiegily allege the amount of monetary relief soughtheil
Complaint, Plaintiffs have alleged that they areksgg judgment equal to any unpaid wages, liqudla@@mages, interest, costs and attorney
fees pursuant to the FLSA and New York Labor LawlIRRCI NY and Peregrine deny liability in this tter, are vigorously defending t
allegations and have asserted counterclaims amunaftive defenses for offset and unjust enrichm®iscovery is how complete and
September 10, 2013, the court ruled on the partiestions for summary judgment. The court granted reany judgment in favor of tl
Plaintiffs on their causes of action for minimumgeaand held that entertainers at RicKlY are employees, that Peregrine was an emptd
the Plaintiffs and that under federal law, Rick’5l statutory duty to pay minimum wages was nois§iad by the performance fees Plaintiffs
received. The court has not yet ruled on whetlegfopmance fees can offset minimum wages under Nexk state law. The court denied
Plaintiffs’ attempt to hold RCII or RCI NY liable as joint eropkrs with Peregrine and the issue of whether R@Hd RCI NY are als
employers will be determined at a triallhe court asked for further briefing as to ceriasues, which may limit the decision as to thesee:
and additional motions are presently pending betbeescourt. Ultimately, the RCIl, RCI NY and Periegr intend to appeal the summ
judgment ruling

In September 2011, the Company’s subsidiary, RGéfainment Las Vegas, Inc. (“RCI Las Vegas”) aridk®s Cabaret International we
sued by the lessor of its club in Las Vegas foabheof contract and other issues relating to RGI Vagas'lease. This suit was settled in J
2013 and the Company paid $ 150,000 to settldalhs.

The Company settled a bodily injury lawsuit durithg quarter ended June 30, 2013. The Company pad$00 of the settlement af
insurance proceeds.

In September 2011, the Company and its CEO weré isuBistrict Court in Travis County Texas by a elder for damages as a resu
the plaintiff's alleged inability to sell shares on the open rtadkie to restrictive legends which the plaintiféges that the defendants faile:
remove in a timely manner. On March 21, 2012, toenany agreed to a settlement in the case. Thestefrthe settlement provide for

payment of $ 2,650,000 to the plaintiff and a &rnld complete release of the Company and the Congp@B0.The settlement amount will

paid with approximately $850,000 in insurance peatseand a cash payment from the Company of appateiyn$1.8 million.No admission ¢
liability was made by the Company. The parties cletegl the settlement documents and an Order of Bssthwas entered into on April .
2012. The $ 1.8 million has been expensed in tletguended March 31, 2012.

The Company and its subsidiaries were insured uadiability policy issued by Indemnity Insurancer@oration, RRG (“lIC")througt
October 25, 2013—the Company switched to a diffeiresurer on that date By order dated November 7, 2013, the Court of Cagnof the
State of Delaware declared IIC impaired, insolvantd in an unsafe condition and placed IIC under ghpervision of the Insurar
Commissioner of the State of Delaware (“Commissinia her capacity as receiverThe order empowers the Commissioner to rehabi
[IC through a variety of means, including gatheramgets and marshaling those assets as necesBarther, the order has stayed or ab
pending lawsuits involving IIC as the insurer uilay 6, 2014. As a result, it is unclear to what degree, if athge Company and
subsidiaries will have insurance coverage undetidifdity policy with IIC until after the rehabiiation plan is completed and the stay is li
on May 6, 2014. Currently, there are multipleildawsuits pending or threatened against the Com@and its subsidiariesThere is also tt
potential that other lawsuits of which the Companyrently is unaware could be filed against the @any for incidents that occurred bel
October 25, 2013. There can be no assuranceésaimpany will have adequate insurance coveragenfpiofthese lawsuits.It is unknown &
this time what effect, if any, this uncertainty Mikve on the Company.
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K. Common Stock
During the year ended September 30, 2011, theviolp common stock transactions occurred:
Stock options totaling 25,000 shares were exerdigegimployees and directors for proceeds of $188,75
The Company acquired 415,384 shares of common #bodke treasury at a cost of $ 3.3 million. Téebares were subsequently retired.

The Company issued 26,320 shares of common stoaefit aggregating $ 269,780 .

The Company transferred 70,000 shares aggregatingillion from temporary equity to permanent equityconnection with the settlem
of certain cross-litigation.

During the year ended September 30, 2012, thewiolp common stock transactions occurred:

Warrants totaling 118,856 shares were exercisetbliers for proceeds of $ 1.0 million.

The Company acquired 262,054 shares of common ftotke treasury at a cost of $ 2.1 million. Téaehares were subsequently retired.
During the year ended September 30, 2013, theviolpp common stock transactions occurred:

The Company acquired 192,455 shares of common $bodke treasury at a cost of $ 1.6 million. Téaebares were subsequently retired.
In connection with the acquisition of a busineks, Company issued 100,000 shares of common staktled at $863,000.

L. Employee Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a Simple IRA plan (the “Plantjich covers all of the Comparsytorporate employees. The Plan allows the corg
employees to contribute up to the maximum amoulowald by law, with the Company making a matchingntdbution of 3% of the
employee’s salary. Expenses related to matchingribations to the Plan approximated $ 64,000 , 66 and $ 55,00€br the years end:
September 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

M.  Acquisitions

2011 Acquisitions and Openings

RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway)

On January 3, 2011, the Company’s wholly owned iglidrses, RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway)¢li{*RCI Dining”) and RCI Holdings
Inc. (“RCI") completed the purchase of a new ganti@’s club adjacent to the south end of the DdflasVorth International Airport and t
purchase of the underlying real property, for amgragate price of $ 4,565,000 . A Purchase Agre¢namd Build-toSuit Turnke
Construction Agreement had previously been entitedn December 2009, which agreement providedHerconstruction of the new club :
the purchase of the real property located at 120fjibrt Freeway (Highway 183), Fort Worth, Texas.
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M.  Acquisitions - continued
2011 Acquisitions and Openings — continued

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and lisdsilat the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 3,126
Equipment and sigr 289
SOB license 1,150
Net asset $ 4,565

Gold Club of Indy, LLC

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, RCI Din@grvices (Indiana), Inc. (“RCI Indiana”) and RCobldings, Inc. (“RCI Holdings},
entered into a Third Amendment to Purchase Agreeélftea “Amended Purchase Agreement”) with the Goldb of Indy, LLC (“GCI"), the
Estate of Albert Pfeiffer, deceased, and Lori Péejfpersonal representative of the Estate of AlPéeiffer, deceased, and sole membe
GCIl. GCIl owned and operated an adult entertainroaiparet known as “The Gold Clubigcated at 3551 Lafayette Road, Indianapolis, Ing
46222. GCI also owned the real property where Ghkl Club is located. The Amended Purchase Agreétnansactions closed on April
2011, whereby (i) RCI Indiana acquired from Pfaiféél assets which are used for the business ofGtle Club for $ 825,00@nd (ii) RC
Holdings acquired from GCI the real property wh&he Gold Club is located, including the improvensetiitereon, for $ 850,000for tota
aggregate consideration of $ 1,657,000 , net dateaccrued property taxes.

Also at closing of the Amended Purchase Agreemeanri, Pfeiffer entered into a No@ompetition Agreement with RCI Indiana, pursuat
which she agreed not to compete with The Gold @litbin Indianapolis, Indiana or any of the adjaceotinties for a period of five years.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets and lisdsldt the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 750
Equipment and furnitur 90
Noncompete 100
Goodwill 708
Net asset $ 1,648

The results of operations of this entity are inelddn the Compang’ consolidated results of operations since Aprjl Z2L1. This acquisitic
was made to further the Company’s growth objectifeacquiring nightclubs that will quickly contributto the Compang’ earnings p
share. Proforma results of operations have nat peavided, as the amounts were not deemed matetilaé consolidated financial statements

Schieks Palace Royale

Our wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Dining Services M#th Street), Inc., a Minnesota corporation (“R@ihnesota”),entered into an Ass
Purchase Agreement with Classic Affairs, Inc., anhdisota corporation (“Classic’gnd VCG Holding Corp., a Colorado corpora
(“WCGH"). Classic is a wholly owned subsidiary WCGH and owned and operated an adult entertaincararet known as “SchiekPalac
Royale,”located at 115 South 4th Street, Minneapolis, Méot@ The parties amended the Asset Purchase ragnteon April 14, 2011 al
on May 31, 2011, which amendments reduced the pseclprice and extended the closing date of thesdddion. The Asset Purch
Agreement, as amended, closed July 28, 2011, wid€lh Minnesota acquired substantially all of ttesets associated or used in conne
with the operation of Schiek’s Palace Royale fer plurchase price of $ 2,875,000 .
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M.  Acquisitions - continued
2011 Acquisitions and Openings — continued

In connection with the Asset Purchase AgreementManch 22, 2011, our wholly owned subsidiary, RGildings, Inc. (“RCI Holdings),
entered into a Real Estate Purchase AgreementtitBtreet Partnership LLLP, a Minnesota limitebiiity limited partnership (“4th Streét”
which owned the real property where SchieRalace Royale is located. The parties amendeR¢al Estate Purchase Agreement on Ma
2011 and on July 26, 2011. The Real Estate Puechgeeement, as amended, closed on July 28, 2drely RCI Holdings acquired the 1
property where Schiek’s Palace Royale is locatea fourchase price of $ 3,250,000 .

At closing of the above transactions, VCGH, Clas3ioy Lowrie (the Chief Executive Officer of VCGH)nd Micheal Ocello (the Chi
Operating Officer and President of VCGH) each estténto a Noncompetition Agreement pursuant to which each agre¢do compete wi
RCI Minnesota, Schiek’s Palace Royale or any ofr thffiliates for a period of five years in the sgvcounty, twireity metropolitan area
Minneapolis-St. Paul, Minnesota.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets and liadsldt the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 3,280
Equipment and furnitur 526
Noncompete 300
Goodwill 2,023
Net asset $ 6,129

The results of operations of this entity are ineldidh the Compang’ consolidated results of operations since Juh2@&1. This acquisition w
made to further the Company’s growth objective ofjuaring nightclubs that will quickly contribute tthe Companys earnings pr
share. Proforma results of operations have nat peavided, as the amounts were not deemed materié consolidated financial stateme
The Company incurred approximately $ 100,00@:gal costs associated with the 2011 acquisitidhich are included in legal and professit
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateofiémtome.

2012 Acquisitions and Openings
The New West

Our wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Dining Servicesaffant County), Inc., a Texas Corporation (“RCI raat County”),entered into &
Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Membership Witts Fred McDonald (“Seller”) for the purchase 10 % of the membership units
12291 CBW, LLC (*12291 CBW”). 12291 CBW owned aogerated an adult entertainment cabaret known he New West'located &
12291 Camp Bowie West, Aledo, Texas. The Agreerf@mPurchase and Sale of Membership Units closewtser 5, 2011, whereby R
Tarrant County acquired the membership units 08122BW for the purchase price of $ 380,00the Company now operates the BYOB 1
as “Temptations”. The entire purchase price of $,380 was allocated to SOB License.

Silver City

Our wholly owned subsidiaries, RCI Dining Servi¢€seemmons), Inc. (“RCI Stemmons”), RCI Dining Sess (Inwood), Inc. (“RCI Inwood”
and RCI Dining Services (Stemmons 2), Inc. (“RChiDg”) entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (Hréor Agreement”)with Mr.
Thanasi Mantas, Green Star, Inc. (“Green StarfeMining Club, Inc. (“Fine Dining”), Blue Star Ertainment Inc. (“Blue Star")Adelphi
Group Ltd. (“Adelphi”) and PNYX Limited Partnersh{tPNYX"). The Prior Agreement was amended on December 28,. Z01 January 1
2012, (i) Green Star, Fine Dining, Mr. Mantas, Asté] PNYX, RCI Stemmons, RCI Dining and RCI Hold#ngnc., our wholly owne
subsidiary (“RCI Holdings”), entered into a new &d urchase Agreement (the “Silver City PurchaseeAment”)and (ii) Blue Star, M
Mantas, PNYX, RCI Inwood and RCI Holdings enteneibia separate Stock Purchase Agreement (the ‘BarePurchase Agreementiyhich
was subsequently terminated. The entry into theeSiCity Purchase Agreement and the Blue Star Rseci\greement terminated the F
Agreement, as amended.
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Green Star owns and operates an adult entertaincadaret known as “Silver City Cabareptated at 7501 N. Stemmons Freeway, Ds
Texas 75247. Fine Dining has a concession to peoaicdohol sales and services to Green Star atilther €ity Cabaret. Mr. Mantas owndd(
% of the stock of Green Star and Fine Dining. Pamsuo the Silver City Purchase Agreement, Mr. Mardgreed to sell (i) all the stock
Green Star to RCI Stemmons for the purchase pfi§e10400,000n the form of a promissory note and (i) all theck of Fine Dining to RC
Fine Dining for the purchase price of $ 100,00@he form of a promissory note. Each of the prontigsmtes are payable over §éars an
have an adjustable interest rate of 5.5 %. Thes ratust to prime plus 2.5% in the 61st month,tacexceed 9%This transaction closed
January 17, 2012.

Adelphi owned the real properties where the SilRéy Cabaret is located, including 7501 N. StemmBrseway, Dallas, Texas 75247
7600 John West Carpenter Freeway, Dallas, Texad775ahd PNYX owned certain adjacent real propetty56 John West Carper
Freeway, Dallas, Texas 75247. In transactions eélad the Prior Agreement, Adelphi and PNYX hadvjmasly entered into real est
purchase agreements with RCI Holdings on Novemf@er2011, which agreements were subsequently ameaslgzhrt of the Silver Ci
Purchase Agreement transaction. Pursuant to theeseste purchase agreements, as amended, (i) dmpeed to sell the real propertie
7501 N. Stemmons and 7600 John West Carpentehnéqguurchase price of $ 6,500,000 , payable $ 300iD08ash and $ 6,200,0@®the forn
of an adjustable 5.5 % promissory note that is pleyaver 1lyears, and (ii) PNYX agreed to sell the real progpat 7506 John West Carpet
for the purchase price of $ 1,000,000 , payablé®a00 in cash and $ 300,000 in the form of ansdple 5.5% promissory note that
payable over 11 years. The rates adjust to prinus gl5% in the 61st month, not to exceed 9%he real estate transactions clc
contemporaneously with the Silver City Purchaseeggrent. At closing of the Silver City Purchase Agnent transactions, Mr. Man
entered into a NoGompetition Agreement providing for him to not caetg with our subsidiaries by owning, participatmgoperating a
establishment featuring adult entertainment withadlas County and all contiguous counties (excepthe property located at 1449 Inw
Road, Dallas, Texas 75247).

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and lisdsilat the purchase date.
(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 6,510
Equipment and furnitur 130
Noncompete 100
Inventory and other current ass a7
Goodwill 774
SOB license! 2,213
Deferred taxe (774
Net asset $ 9,000

The Company incurred approximately $ 76,000egal costs associated with the acquisition,clvhare included in legal and professic
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateofiémtome.

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offgethte deferred tax liability recorded as a restithe difference in the basis of the net asset
tax and financial purposes. The goodwill is notwigible for income tax purposes. The results ofratiens of these entities are included in
Company’s consolidated results of operations siteceiary 17, 2012. This acquisition was made ttnéurthe Companyg’ growth objective «
acquiring nightclubs that will quickly contribute the Company earnings per share. Proforma results of opesatiame not been provided,
the amounts were not deemed material to the cafseli financial statements.
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M.  Acquisitions - continued

2012 Acquisitions and Openings - continued

Jaguars

On August 3, 2012, our wholly owned subsidiary, ubag Acquisition, Inc. (“JAI"), entered into a Phase Agreement (thePurchas
Agreement”) with Bryan S. Foster and 13 entitiesed by him (the “Companies™o acquire nine operating adult cabarets and tviei
licensed locations under development (collectivéhg “Foster Clubs”)Ten of the clubs are located in Texas, includingoslin Tye (ne:
Abilene), Lubbock (two clubs), Odessa (two clulid)Paso, Harlingen, Longview, Edinburg and Beaumantl one club is located in Phoe
Arizona. On September 17, 2012, the parties entitedan Amendment to Purchase Agreement, wheredyBeaumont acquisition will

effected through an asset purchase rather thaock gurchase. The Amendment also made minor chatogesrtain representations
warranties within the Purchase Agreement.

On September 17, 2012, JAI and its subsidiariesecldhe transactions contemplated by the Purchgssefent, as amended, and comp
the acquisitions of nine of the 11 Foster Clubse @hquisitions of the remaining two clubs, whicé kcated in Beaumont and Longview, w
completed shortly after final permitting had bedatained from the local jurisdictions, at which tire closing documents for those two cl
were released. Longview was closed on Septemb&®2 and Beaumont on October 12, 2012. As coraiderfor the purchase of the Fo:
Clubs, JAI and its subsidiaries paid to Foster twedCompanies at closing $ 3,500,000 cash and@P@D00pursuant to a secured promiss
note (the “Club Note”). The Club Note bears inteshe rate of 9.6 per annum, is payable in 144 equal monthly ilvetaits and is secur
by the assets purchased from the Companies. Upsinglof the Real Estate Agreement (as defineddjeldAl and its subsidiaries paid Fo:
the remaining $ 500,000 cash consideration due thétpurchase of the Foster Clubs.

The Club Note also provides that in the event agulatory or administrative authority seeks to ecgoor attempts to collect any tax
obligation or liability that may be due pursuanthie Texas Patron Tax (sometimes referred to asPthle Tax”) or related legislation, then 1
then outstanding principal amount of the Club Nateof the date the tax is enforced, will immedjabe reduced by an amount calculate:
multiplying 1,200,000 by the dollar amount of therqperson tax implemented (the “Reduction Amountfhe Reduction Amount cant
exceed $ 6,000,000By way of example, if exactly two years aftergifqy, a $2.00 per person tax is implemented andresd, the Reductic
Amount would be $ 2,400,000 and the then princgmabunt of the Club Note would be reduced $ 2,40D,0he Texas Patron Tax is currel
enacted to be $5 per person which would equates&@0,000 Reduction Amount if enforced.

At closing of the Purchase Agreement, Mr. Fostéerea into a five-year nocempetition agreement providing for him to not catgpwith u
or our subsidiaries by owning, participating or @timg an establishment featuring adult entertamnwethin a radius of 50 miles of t
location of any of the adult clubs owned by oursidiaries, excluding the adult cabaret locatedl®2¥ Reeder Road, Dallas, Texas, 75229.

As previously disclosed on August 9, 2012, in catioa with the Purchase Agreement, our wholly owsatsidiary, Jaguars Holdings, |
(“JHI"), entered into a Commercial Contract (thegd® Estate Agreementjvhich agreement provides for JHI to purchase théestate whe
the Foster Clubs are located. The transactionsenwpiated by the Real Estate Agreement closed onb@ctl6, 2012. See below for
explanation of the real estate transaction.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets and liadsldt the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Equipment and furnitur $ 478
Noncompete 450
Inventory and other current ass 16
Goodwill 19,133
SOB license: 5,923
Net asset $ 26,000

The Company incurred approximately $ 316,000 imlegsts and findes' fees associated with the acquisition, which ackuded in legal ar
professional expense in the accompanying conselidstatement of income.
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The results of operations of these entities aréudledd in the Companyg’ consolidated results of operations since Septerhbe2012. Thi
acquisition was made to further the Company’s gnoglijective of acquiring nightclubs that will quiglcontribute to the Compang’'earning
per share.

The following unaudited pro forma information pretethe results of operations as if the acquisitiad occurred as of the beginning of
immediate preceding period. The pro forma inforomais not necessarily indicative of what would hageurred had the acquisition been n
as of such periods, nor is it indicative of futwesults of operations. The pro forma amounts gfieceto appropriate adjustments for the
value of the assets acquired, amortization of mitalas and interest expense.

FOR THE YEAR
ENDED SEPTEMBER 3C

2012 2011
Revenue! $ 109,723 $ 97,769
Net income $ 8,660 $ 8,966
Net income per sha~ basic $ 0.89 $ 0.90
Net income per sha~ diluted $ 0.89 $ 0.90
Weighted average shares outstan basic 9,691 9,930
Weighted average shares outstanc diluted 9,697 9,932

2013 Acquisitions and Openings

In connection with the acquisition of the Fosteulfd, as explained above, the Companyholly owned subsidiary, Jaguars Holdings,
(“JHI™), entered into a Commercial Contract (theed® Estate Agreement'\vhich agreement provided for JHI to purchase tla¢ estate whe
the Foster Clubs are located. The transactionengiaited by the Real Estate Agreement closed oob®@ctl6, 2012. The purchase price o
real estate was $ 10.1 million (discounted to $rlilion as explained below) and was paid with ®BB0 in cash, $ 9.fillion in mortgag:
notes, and an agreement to make a one-time payh8&r&50,000 in twelve years that bears no intefdst note bears interest at the rat®.6f
%, is payable in 143 equal monthly installments @ndecured by the real estate properties. The @oynpas recorded a debt discount
431,252 related to the otiere payment of $650,000. The Company reduced pusly recognized goodwill because the purchasheofbste
Clubs operations and the real estate were considerde one purchase transaction with multiple iolys and were included in the s¢
purchase agreement.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets at the psectate. (in thousands)

Buildings and lant $ 10,066
Goodwill (431)
Net asset $ 9,635

On March 4, 2013, the Company completed the adgqrisdf a second adult business in midtown Manaftdie Company plans to open a |
gentlemen's club at the 61 West BBtreet location, just east of Sixth Avenue. RidRabaret paid $ 3 million for the business, witl.$
million paid in cash and the remaining $ 8lion in six percent promissory notes convertibito shares of Rick's Cabaret common stock
conversion price of $ 10.25 . The notes call fomthty payments of $ 16,653 , including principatlanterest, and mature in 128onths. A
the option of the noteholders, the principal amafrthe notes and the accrued but unpaid intehesebn may be converted into shares @
Company’s common stock at $ 10.28r share. The notes are redeemable by the Conghamy time if the closing price of its common &
for 20 consecutive trading days is at least $ 1pet7share.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012
M.  Acquisitions - continued
2013 Acquisitions and Openings - continued

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and lisdsilat the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Noncompete $ 150
Goodwill 997
SOB license: 2,850
Deferred taxe (997
Net asset $ 3,000

The Company incurred approximately $ 34,000egal costs associated with the acquisition,clvhare included in legal and professic
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateofiémtome.

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offgetite deferred tax liability recorded as a restithe difference in the basis of the net assel
tax and financial purposes. The goodwill is nadwlgtible for income tax purposes. The resultspdrations of this company are include
the Company'’s consolidated results of operationsesMarch 5, 2013. This acquisition was made tth&urthe Companyg growth objective «
acquiring nightclubs that will quickly contribute the Company earnings per share. Proforma results of op&istiave not been provided
the amounts were not deemed material to the catadell financial statements.

On May 29, 2013, our wholly owned subsidiary, RQtdftainment (Delamo), Inc., completed the acquoisibf the remaining 506 of 195°
Delamo, LLC, which owns a new adult cabaret in Logeles County, California that is scheduled torotiés summer. We issued0,00(
restricted shares of our common stock to an indafidn consideration for outstanding membershigriedéts of 1957 Delamo, LLC. Thi
shares were valued at $ 863,000 . The Company teaibpsly paid $ 600,000 in cash for the initiabbthvestment.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets at the psectate. (in thousands)

Furniture and equipme $ 200
SOB license: 1,263
Net asset $ 1,463

The Company incurred approximately $ 7,000egal costs associated with the acquisition,chtdre included in legal and professional exp
in the accompanying consolidated statement of ircom

The results of operations of this company are ihetlin the Compang’consolidated results of operations since May28Q@3. This acquisitic
was made to further the Company’s growth objectifeacquiring nightclubs that will quickly contributto the Compang’ earnings p
share. Proforma results of operations have nat peavided, as the amounts were not deemed matetilaé consolidated financial statements

In June 2013, the Company’s subsidiary, RCI Dirfsegvices (Beaumont), Inc. acquired, for $ 300,08 sexually oriented business lice
rights to operate an adult cabaret at a propertytiith another Company subsidiary had purchasd8esumont, Texas. Of this amoun
245,000 has been allocated to licenses.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

N. Discontinued Operations

The accompanying consolidated financial statemesftsct the following as discontinued operationsodsnd for the years ended Septer
30, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

In March 2011, we made the decision to sell our \/agas location and, in April 2011, sharply redudsdoperations in order to elimin;
losses as we sought a buyer for the property. Titewas shuttered and the landlord took over tlogguty in June 2011. Therefore, this clu
recognized as a discontinued operation in the apaoging financial statements and has recognizezssa dn the closure of $ 2rfillion in
discontinued operations.

In August 2011, the Company sold a controlling jportof the membership interest in the entity thavpusly operated its Rick’Cabaret i
Austin, Texas. Accordingly, the Company deconsadéidahe subsidiary and carried it as an eqoigthod investment. The Company had
received any cash flows from the entity since thle and did not anticipate any in the near futdreew nightclub has not been opened ir
space since the Company sold its controlling irstier® June 2013, the Company sold the remainintjguoof its membership interest in
entity to a third party and recognized a gain gpragimately $ 2,300n the sale. Accordingly, the club is recognizedaadiscontinue
operation in the accompanying consolidated findrst&ements.

Following is summarized information regarding thecdntinued operations:

Revenues of discontinued operations amounted to, zaro and $ 2.6nillion for the years ended September 30, 2013,2284d 201:
respectively.

(in thousands Year Ended September &

2013 2012 2011
Loss from discontinued operatio $ (220, $ (264, $ (1,107
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operati 2 - (2,270
Income tax- discontinued operatior 75 92 1,182
Total loss from discontinued operations, net of $ (143 $ 172, $ (2,195

Major classes of assets and liabilities includedssets and liabilities of discontinued operatassf:
September 3(

2013 2012
Current assel $ 2 3% 30
Property and equipme 18 40
Other asset 1 2
Current liabilities (15) (130;
Long-term liabilities (33) (33)
Net assets (liabilities $ @7) $ (91)

Loss on sale of discontinued operations above septe actual loss or impairment of the Las VegdsAarstin clubs.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

0. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Revenue:
Income (loss) from continuing operatic
Net income (loss
Basic income (loss) per sha
Income (loss) from continuing operatic
Net income (loss
Diluted income (loss) per shai
Income (loss) from continuing operatic
Net income (loss
Basic weighted average shares outstan
Diluted weighted average shares outstan

Revenue:
Income from continuing operatiol
Net income
Basic income per shar
Income from continuing operatiol
Net income
Diluted income per shar.
Income from continuing operatiol
Net income
Basic weighted average shares outstan
Diluted weighted average shares outstan

Revenue:
Income from continuing operatiol
Net income
Basic income per shar
Income from continuing operatiol
Net income
Diluted income per shar.
Income from continuing operatiol
Net income
Basic weighted average shares outstan
Diluted weighted average shares outstan

(in thousands, except per share data)

Fiscal Year 201:
Quarters Ende

Dec. 31 March 31 June 3( Sept. 3C
$ 27,14. $ 28,728 $ 28,308 $ 28,031
$ 2,71 $ 2,801 $ 2372 % 1,658
$ 2,641 $ 2,745 $ 2,195 $ 1,604
$ 0.2¢ $ 029 $ 024 $ 0.17
$ 0.2¢ $ 029 $ 023 $ 0.17
$ 0.2¢ $ 029 $ 024 $ 0.17
$ 0.2¢ $ 029 $ 023 $ 0.17
9,57¢ 9,514 9,479 9,504
9,83: 9,988 9,647 9,603
Fiscal Year 201.
Quarters Ende
Dec. 31 March 31 June 3( Sept. 3C
$ 22,019 $ 25414 $ 23,921 $ 23,866
$ 2,286 $ 2,257 $ 1,898 $ 1,521
$ 2,185 $ 2,117 $ 1,823 $ 1,453
$ 023 % 023 % 0.19 $ 0.15
$ 023 % 022 $ 0.19 $ 0.15
$ 023 % 023 $ 0.19 $ 0.15
$ 023 $ 022 $ 0.19 $ 0.15
9,685 9,720 9,725 9,633
9,687 9,731 9,731 9,636
Fiscal Year 201.
Quarters Ende
Dec. 31 March 31 June 3( Sept. 3C
$ 19,669 $ 21,580 $ 20,791 $ 21,451
$ 2,348 $ 3,285 $ 2,530 $ 2,089
$ 2,076 $ 2923 $ 888 $ 1,959
$ 023 $ 033 % 025 % 0.21
$ 021 % 029 $ 0.09 $ 0.20
$ 023 % 032 $ 025 $ 0.21
$ 021 $ 029 $ 0.09 $ 0.20
10,043 9,937 9,924 9,815
10,045 10,771 9,941 9,817




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 AND 2012

P. Gain on Settlement of Deb

In April 2011, the Company settled certain crbsgation with the former sellers of the Las Vegelsb. As a result of the settlement,
Company paid the sellers approximately $ tiflion in cash as full settlement of its obligatiznder a debt instrument with a remait
principal and interest balance at the time of $mibion. The Company has recorded a gain of apipnately $ 900,000n the year ende
September 30, 2011 as a result of the settlemeaiddition, the Company and the sellers agreednoeat the Lock-up/Leakut Agreement ar
the Company’s obligation to purchase from the selé@y of the remaining 70,0@Bares which the sellers hold. This resulted inGhenpan
transferring $ 1.4 million from Temporary EquityRPermanent Equity in the year ended September(3a,.2

Q. Subsequent Events

A subsidiary of the Company closed a transadtignlving the air rights above the Compa®183rd Street club in Manhattan in October 2
The subsidiary entered into a contract to buy #relland building for $ 10 million at any time iretnext five yearsConcurrent with th
building transaction, a third party (the “Third BaPurchaser’purchased the balance of the air rights of the gntggthat are not subject to
Option Agreement. The purchase price for theseigtits was $ 13,000,000 , of which the Companylss@liary contributed $ 5,200,000
connection with the overall business transactiime transactions are part of a previously announi@tsaction under which the Comp
agreed to purchase the land and building for $ #flBom The new agreement also amends the leasthéothreestory building at 50 West 32
Street to $ 100,000 per month for the next fivergeather than the $ 180,000 per month calledrfohé original agreement.

On October 15, 2013, the Company sold to certaiastors (i) 9 % Convertible Debentures with an aggte principal amount of4525,00!
(the “Debentures”), under the terms and conditisesforth in the Debentures, and (ii) warrants tocpase a total of 72,4CGhares of tr
Company’s common stock (the “Warrantdijyder the terms and conditions set forth in therdrdas. Each of the Debentures has a term of
years, is convertible into shares of our commorkstat a conversion price of 12.50per share (subject to adjustment), and has an &
interest rate of 9 %, with one initial payment ofeirest only due April 15, 2014. Thereafter, thingpal amount is payable in 1€qua
quarterly principal payments, which amounts to taltof $ 452,50Q plus accrued and unpaid interest. Six months #fiee issue date of t
Debentures, we have the right to redeem the Delmmnifithe Compang common stock has a closing price of $16.25 (stiltigeadjustmen
for 20 consecutive trading days. The Warrants tevexercise price of $ 12.50 per share (subjeefljostment) and expire ddctober 1t
2016. In the event there is an effective registratitatesnent registering the shares of common stocknlyidg the Warrants, we have the ri
to require exercise of the Warrants if our commtartls has a closing price of $16.25 (subject to stdjent) for 20 consecutive trading di
The Company sold the Debentures and Warrants tm#astors in a private transaction and receivaetsicteration of $ 4,525,000An advise
to the Company received compensation in the amobr$# 271,500in connection with advising the Company regardihg sale of th
Debentures and Warrants.

In October 2013, the Company purchased 49 perdeatomrporation that operates the Dallas club “$PPlatinum "and also acquired t
building and personal property. Total cost of tlamsaction was $ 500,000 .




Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Account&on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
There have been no changes in or disagreementaedthuntants on accounting and financial disclasure
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

In accordance with Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchangg &s of the end of the period covered by #nsual Report on Form 10-Knanagemel
evaluated, with the participation of our princigakcutive officer and principal financial officéhe effectiveness of the design and operati
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defindgiule 13ai5(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on their eigin of these disclost
controls and procedures, they have concluded tivadisclosure controls and procedures were effessof the date of such evaluation.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and tai@ing adequate internal control over financigbading, as such term is defined
Exchange Act Rule 13a5(f). Because of its inherent limitations, intdrrntrol over financial reporting may not prevent detec
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibreffectiveness to future periods are subjectigk that controls may become inadeq
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfeompliance with the policies or procedures rdateriorate. Management assesse
effectiveness of our internal control over finahegporting as of September 30, 2013. In making &ssessment, management used the ¢
set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organixetiof the Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) iftnternal Control—ntegrated Framewol
”. Based on this assessment, we believe that, agptdr8ber 30, 2013, our internal control over finahcgéporting was effective based on tf
criteria. Our internal control over financial refing as of September 30, 2013, has been auditebiley Penn LLP, an independ
registered public accounting firm, as stated inirtheport which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

During the three months ended September 30, 20i&3e thave been no changes in our internal contret Ginancial reporting that ha
materially affected or are reasonably likely to emaly affect internal control over financial regiog.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None
PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance.
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Our Directors are elected annually and hold officeil the next annual meeting of our stockholdersiatil their successors are elected
qualified. Officers are appointed by the Board d@febtors annually and serve at the discretion efBbard of Directors (subject to any exis

employment agreements). There is no family relatigm between or among any of our directors andwiexofficers. Our Board of Directc
consists of six persons. The following table setthfour Directors and executive officers:

Name Age Position

Eric S. Langat 45 Director, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Presit
Phillip Marshall 64 Chief Financial Office

Travis Rees: 44 Director and Executive Vice Preside

Robert L. Watter: 62 Director

Steven Jenkin 56 Director

Luke Lirot 57 Director

Nour-Dean Anaka 56 Director




Eric S. Langan has been a Director since 1998 andPresident since March 1999. He has been invdlvede adult entertainment busin
since 1989. From January 1997 through the presenhas held the position of President of XTC Cabane. From November 1992 ur
January 1997, Mr. Langan was the President of BgtBeauties, Inc. Since 1989, Mr. Langan has eseticmanagerial control over more t
a dozen adult entertainment businesses. Througte thetivities, Mr. Langan has acquired the knowdedgd skills necessary to success
operate adult entertainment businesses.

Phillip Marshall has served as our Chief Finan€ifficer since May 2007. He was previously contnotié Dorado Exploration, Inc., an oil a
gas exploration and production company, from Felyr@2@07 to May 2007. He previously served as Chiaefincial Officer of CDT Systen
Inc., a publicly held water technology companypnirduly 2003 to September 2006. In 1972, Mr. Matdedan his public accounting car
with the international accounting firm, KMG Main Himan. After its merger with Peat Marwick, Mr. Maadl served as an audit partne
KPMG for several years. After leaving KPMG, Mr. Mhell was partner in charge of the audit practicdagkson & Rhodes in Dallas fri
1992 to 2003, where he specialized in small pupleld companies. Mr. Marshall is also a trustedJofted Mortgage Trust and Unit
Development Funding IV, publicly held real estateeistment trusts.

Robert L. Watters is our founder and has been aackvr since inception. Mr. Watters was our Prestdand our Chief Executive Officer fr(
1991 until March 1999. Since 1999, Mr. Watters lbamed and operated Rick’Cabaret, an adult entertainment club in New @d
Louisiana, which licenses our name. He was alssuader in 1989 and operator until 1993 of the CGadorBar & Grill, an adult club located
Houston, Texas and in 1988 performed site selectiegotiated the property purchase and oversawlébigin and permitting for the club t
became the Cabaret Royale, in Dallas, Texas. Mttahapracticed law as a solicitor in London, Endland is qualified to practice law in N
York. Mr. Watters worked in the international tasogp of the accounting firm of Touche, Ross & Gmww succeeded by Deloitte & Touc
from 1979 to 1983 and was engaged in the privadetige of law in Houston, Texas from 1983 to 1986en he became involved in our full-
time management. Mr. Watters graduated from thedbanSchool of Economics and Political Science, ©rsity of London, in 1973 with
Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree and in 1975 wiMaster of Laws degree from Osgoode Hall Law SEhaark University.

Steven L. Jenkins has been a Director since Ju@g. Zince 1988, Mr. Jenkins has been a certifiddipaccountant with Pringle Jenkins
Associates, P.C., located in Houston, Texas. Mikids is the President and owner of Pringle Jenkin&ssociates, P.C. Mr. Jenkins he
BBA Degree (1979) from Texas A&M University. Mr.nléns is a member of the AICPA and the TSCPA.

Travis Reese became our Director and Executive Viasident in 1999. From 1997 through 1999, Mr.deelead been a senior netw
administrator at St. Vincent's Hospital in Santa New Mexico. During 1997, Mr. Reese was a compaystems engineer with Deloitte
Touche. From 1995 until 1997, Mr. Reese was Viasident with Digital Publishing Resources, Inc. laternet service provider. From 1¢
until 1995, Mr. Reese was a pilot with Continerddllines. From 1992 until 1994, Mr. Reese was afpivith Hang On, Inc., an airli
company. Mr. Reese has an Associate’s Degree ion&ettical Science from Texas State Technical Celleg

Luke Lirot became a Director on July 31, 2007. Mrot received his law degree from the UniversifySan Francisco in 1986. After serving
an intern in the San Francisco Public Defersl@ffice in 1986, Mr. Lirot returned to Florida aedtablished a private law practice wher
continues to practice and specializes in adultreaitenent issues. He is a past President of the Bimendment LawyerdAssociation and hi
actively participated in numerous state and fedegal matters.

Nour-Dean Anakar became a Director on September 14,.2B10 Anakar has over 20 years of experience inicsepositions in th
development and management of betting and gampwissand entertainment, and hospitality and leispyperations in the United Sta
Europe, and Latin America. From 1988 until 200thk#l executive management and business develogositions with Ladbrokes USA a
Ladbrokes South America. In 2001, Mr. Anakar becémeemanaging partner of LCIN LLC and LCIN S.A.nJaiego and Buenos Aires ba:
gaming companies, which were contracted by Grupde@»of Spain to oversee the development of all femlinology gaming projects ¢
operations in Latin America. He received his BAManagement Science from Duke University and CHAlaspitality Management from t
Conrad Hilton College at the University of Houston.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee whose memberSstaven Jenkins, Nollrean Anakar and Luke Lirot. Mr. Jenkins, Mr. Analaat
Mr. Lirot are independent Directors. The primarypgmse of the Audit Committee is to oversee the Camg[s financial reporting process
behalf of the Board of Directors. The Audit Commétmeets privately with our Chief Financial Offi@rd with our independent registe
public accounting firm and evaluates the respobgefie Chief Financial Officer both to the factegented and to the judgments made b
outside independent registered public accountimg. fOur Audit Committee has reviewed and discussgdaudited financial statements for
year ended September 30, 2013 with our manage®@e&ven L. Jenkins serves as the Audit Comn’s Financial Expert.




In May 2000, our Board adopted a Charter for theliAGCommittee. A copy of the Audit Committee Chartan be found on our website
www.ricksinvestor.com. The Charter establishesitigependence of our Audit Committee and sets firéhscope of the Audit Committe
duties. The Purpose of the Audit Committee is tadumt continuing oversight of our financial affaifehe Audit Committee conducts
ongoing review of our financial reports and othieafcial information prior to their being filed \withe Securities and Exchange Commis:
or otherwise provided to the public. The Audit Coitte® also reviews our systems, methods and preeedf internal controls in the areas
financial reporting, audits, treasury operatior@porate finance, managerial, financial and SE@uaieting, compliance with law, and ethi
conduct. A majority of the members of the Audit Guittee will be independent. The Audit Committeeigective, and reviews and asse
the work of our independent registered public antiog firm and our internal audit department.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed thearmtiequired by SAS 61 and our audited financialestents for the fiscal year en
September 30, 2013 with management and our indepémdgistered public accounting firm. The Auditn@uittee has received the writ
disclosures and the letter from our independenistexggd public accounting firm required by Indepmmce Standards Board No. 1, and
Audit Committee has discussed with the independegistered public accounting firm the independetgistered public accounting firr
independence. The Audit Committee recommendede®tiard of Directors that the Company's auditedrfaial statements for the fiscal y
September 30, 2013 be included in our Annual Repoform 10-K for the fiscal year ended SeptemiBe2813.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

The Company has a Nominating Committee whose mesrdoer Steven Jenkins, NoDean Anakar and Luke Lirot. In July 2004, the B«
unanimously adopted a Charter with regard to thecess to be used for identifying and evaluating ineas for director. The Char
establishes the independence of our Nominating Gtmemand sets forth the scope of the Nominatingy@dtee's duties. A majority of t
members of the Nominating Committee will be indegmnt. A copy of the Nominating Committee’s Chaxtan be found on the Company’
website at www.ricksinvestor.com

COMPENSATION COMMITEE

The Company has a Compensation Committee whose eremabe Steven Jenkins, Nddean Anakar and Luke Lirot. Decisions concer
executive officer compensation for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2013 were made by the Commen&aimmittee. Eric S. Langan ¢
Travis Reese are the only directors of the Compamy are also officers of the Company. The primarppse of the Compensation Commi
is to evaluate and review the compensation of dkexofficers.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXC HANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of418juires our directors and executive officersl persons who own beneficially more t
ten percent of our common stock, to file report®@whership and changes of ownership with the Seesirand Exchange Commission. Be
solely upon a review of Forms 3, 4 and 5 furnisbedis during the fiscal year ended September 303,2@e believe that the directc
executive officers, and greater than ten percenefigal owners have complied with all applicabilin§ requirements during the fiscal y:
ended September 30, 2013, with the exception ofiFiReese, our Director and Executive Vice Pregideho was one day late in the filing
a Form 4.

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Prindipadcutive and Senior Financial Officers, a copymbich can be found on our website
www.ricksinvestor.com

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This compensation discussion and analysis desctlimsnaterial elements of the Compangompensation programs as they relate t
executive officers who are listed in the compemsatiables appearing below. This compensation disgnsand analysis focuses on
information contained in the following tables amthted footnotes. The individuals who served asGbmpanys Chief Executive Officer al
Chief Financial Officer during fiscal 2013, as wadl the other individuals included in the Summaoyn@ensation Table, are referred to a:
“named executive officers.”




Overview of Compensation Committee Role and Regiiies

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directmversees our compensation plans and policiegwsvand approves all decisit
concerning the named executive officecempensation, which may further be approved byBbard, and administers our stock option
equity plans, including reviewing and approvingcktmption grants and equity awards under the plaih® Compensation Committee’
membership is determined by the Board and is coatpestirely of independent directors.

Management plays a role in the compensation-sefitngess. The most significant aspects of managemesle are to evaluate emplo
performance and recommend salary levels and eqaitypensation awards. Our Chief Executive Officéermimakes recommendations to
Compensation Committee and the Board concerningpeasation for other executive officers. Our Chigé&utive Officer is a member of 1
Board but does not participate in Board decisi@garding any aspect of his own compensation. Thmp@asation Committee can ref
independent advisors or consultants.

Compensation Committee Process

The Compensation Committee reviews executive cosgian in connection with the evaluation and appl@f an employment agreement
increase in responsibilities or other factors. Wehpect to equity compensation awarded to oth@lmmes, the Compensation Committe
the Board grants stock options, often after reogia recommendation from our Chief Executive OffidBhe Compensation Committee ¢
evaluates proposals for incentive and performago&yeawards, and other compensation.

Compensation Philosophy

The Compensation Committee emphasizes the impditdnbetween the Comparg/performance, which ultimately affects stockholdalue
and the compensation of its executives. Therefibre,primary goal of the Comparsyexecutive compensation policy is to try to alige
interests of the executive officers with the instseof the stockholders. In order to achieve tlgalgthe Company attempts to, (i) o
compensation opportunities that attract and regaacutives whose abilities and skills are crittoathe longterm success of the Company
reward them for their efforts in ensuring the sscef the Company, (ii) align the Company’s compéna programs with the Company’
long-term business strategies and objectives, aifgiovide variable compensation opportunitiesittiare directly linked to the Companry’
performance and stockholder value, including antggtiake in the Company. Our named executive efficcompensation utilizes two prims
components — base salary and long-term equity cosgimn —to achieve these goals. Additionally, the CompgosaCommittee me
award discretionary bonuses to certain executivesed on the individual's contribution to the ackieent of the Company’ strategi
objectives.

Setting Executive Compensation

We fix executive base compensation at a level wieve enables us to hire and retain individuals icompetitive environment and to rew
satisfactory individual performance and a satisfigctievel of contribution to our overall businessats. We also take into account
compensation that is paid by companies that weseelio be our competitors and by other compani¢is which we believe we genere
compete for executives.

In establishing compensation packages for executifieers, numerous factors are considered, inalgdhe particular executive'experienc
expertise and performance, our compargverall performance and compensation packagéshbleain the marketplace for similar positions
arriving at amounts for each component of compémsabur Compensation Committee strives to strikeappropriate balance between t
compensation and incentive compensation. The Cosgten Committee also endeavors to properly alodmtween cash and noast
compensation and between annual and long-term ausagen.

The Role of Shareholder Say-on-Pay Votes

At our annual meeting of shareholders held on Audiis 2011, approximately 97.0% of the shareholddns voted on the “say-on-pay”
proposal approved the compensation of our namedugéixe officers, as disclosed in the proxy statetm@ithough this advisory shareholi
vote on executive compensation is rionding, the Compensation Committee will considee butcome of the vote when making fu
compensation decisions for named executive officers

Base Salan

The Company provides executive officers and othgpleyees with base salary to compensate them feices rendered during the fiscal yt
Subject to the provisions contained in employmegreaments with executive officers concerning badarg amounts, base salaries of
executive officers are established based upon cosatien data of comparable companies in our matketexecutives job responsibilitie
level of experience, individual performance andtdbation to the business. We believe it is impottéor the Company to provide adeqt
fixed compensation to highly qualified executivasour competitive industry. In making base salaggisions, the Compensation Commi
uses its discretion and judgment based upon pdrkapwledge of industry practice but does not apmty specific formula to determine
base salaries for the executive officers.




Equity-Based Awards—Equity Compensation Plans

The Compensation Committee uses equity awards]lysnahe form of stock options, primarily to meéte our named executive officers
realize benefits from longeerm strategies that increase stockholder valug tapromote commitment and retention. Equity awareist upo
the achievement of performance criteria that then@any believes are critical to its long-term susces

The Compensation Committee believes that stockongtare an important form of logrm incentive compensation because they alig
executive officers interests with the interests of stockholders;esiine options have value only if our stock priveéases over time. From ti
to time, the Compensation Committee may consideugistances that warrant the grant of full valuams such as restricted stock u
Examples of these circumstances include, amongxth#racting a new executive to the team; reaggia promotion to the executive tei
retention; and rewarding outstanding long-term gbations.

Our equity grant practices require that stock aygtiand other equity compensation have prices datechbased on at least the fair ma
value on the date of grant. The fair market valti@ur stock option awards has historically beez MASDAQ closing price on the date
grant.

Retirement Savings Pl¢

The Company maintains a retirement savings plath®@benefit of our executives and employees. Guple IRA Plan is intended to qual
as a defined contribution arrangement under thernat Revenue Code (the “CodeBarticipants may elect to defer a percentage df
eligible pretax earnings each year or contribufixed amount per pay period up to the maximum dbation permitted by the Code. ,
participants’ plan accounts are 100% vested dinadls. All assets of our Simple IRA Plan are cutlseimvested, subject to participadirectec
elections, in a variety of mutual funds chosen frime to time by the Plan Administrator. Distrilirti of a participans vested intere
generally occurs upon termination of employmentluding by reason of retirement, death or disabiltWe make certain matchi
contributions to the Simple IRA Plan.

Perquisites and Other Personal Bene

The Company’s executive officers participate in @@mpanys other benefit plans on the same terms as othplogees. These plans inclt
medical, dental, life and disability insurance. ¢daltion benefits also are reimbursed and are iddally negotiated when they occur. *
Company reimburses each executive officer foredbonable business and other expenses incurréeinyin connection with the performa
of their duties and obligations under their empleyinagreements. The Company does not provide naredutive officers with ar
significant perquisites or other personal benefitsept for an auto for each executive’s business us

The following table reflects all forms of compernesatfor services to us for the fiscal years endedt&mber 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011 of ce
executive officers.

Summary Compensation Table

Non-
Equity Nonqualified
Incentive Deferred
Plan Compensatic  All other
Name and Stock Option Compensatic compensatic
Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards Earnings Total
Position Year (©)] ($) ($) $) $) % %) %)
(@ (b) (c) (d) (e) (® ()] (h) @® 0]
Eric S. 2013 764,423 -0- -0- 249,38(1) -0- -0- 99,85¢1) 1,113,66¢
Langan, 2012 623,077 0 0 83,12¢1) -0- -0- 72,6841) 778,88¢
President 2011 600,00C 0 0 -0- -0- -0- 53,7241) 653,72¢
CEO
Phillip 2013 223,813 -0- -0- 44,267(2) -0- -0- 28,14%2) 296,225
Marshall, 2012 215,00C 10,00((4) -0- 14,89¢(2) -0- -0- 30,6152) 270,511
CFO 2011 204,615 30,00((4) -0- -0- -0- -0- 27,42¢2) 262,041
Travis 2013 231,538 -0- -0- 56,3043) -0- -0- 18,19%3) 306,03t
Reese 2012 204,615 -0- -0- 18,80¢3) -0- -0- 27,8643) 251,285
Executive 2011 200,00C -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 37,9643) 237,96¢

Vice Presiden
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Mr. Langan received 155,000 options to purchaseeshaf our common stock at an exercise price ofZ8.6n September 30, 2010.

Langan received 215,000 options to purchase slo@rmsr common stock at an exercise price of $8:/39udy 2, 2012, of which 155,0
were replacement of the September 30, 2010 optMnsLangan received 10,000 options to purchaseeshaf our common stock at
exercise price of $8.78 on June 27, 2012. Thesaaramounts paid to or realized by the executivessumptions used in the calculal
of these compensation costs are included in Naighe Company’s audited financial statements uhetlin this Form 1. Mr. Langar
and his family also received the use of certaiomobiles in each yea

Mr. Marshall received 20,000 options to purchasaresh of our common stock at an exercise price of(58s a performance bonu
August 2007. Mr. Marshall received 20,000 optiomptirchase shares of our common stock at an egquoise of $10.25 on Septem
30, 2010. Mr. Marshall received 40,000 optionptiochase shares of our common stock at an exqrose of $8.35 on July 2, 2012,
which 20,000 were replacement of the September B0 options. These are not amounts paid to orizeshl by thi
executive. Assumptions used in the calculatiothee compensation costs are included in NotetthéoCompanys audited financii
statements included in this Form-K. Mr. Marshall and his family also received the ud certain automobiles in each ye

Mr. Reese received 5,000 options to purchase slods common stock at an exercise price of $&7%uly 2009. Mr. Reese recei\
25,000 options to purchase shares of our commak stiban exercise price of $10.25 on Septembe2@D0. Mr. Reese received 40!
options to purchase shares of our common stock aixarcise price of $8.35 on July 2, 2012, of wH2&000 were replacement of
September 30, 2010 options. Mr. Reese received@®pPtions to purchase shares of our common stbak axercise price of $8.78
June 27, 2012. These are not amounts paid to bzeday the executive. Assumptions used in thiewation of these compensat
costs are included in Note | to the Company’s auatifinancial statements included in this FormKLOMr. Reese also received the us
an automobile in each yei

Mr. Marshall received a bonus of $10,000 in 201& $80,000 in 2011 for outstanding performar

2012 GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

The following table sets forth information regarglithe 2012 annual option incentive programs anfbpaance-based awards. No nequity
incentive plan awards were made in 2012 for officer

Estimated Future Payouts Under Equity
Incentive Plan Award

Threshold Target Maximum
Grant Date #(1) #(1) #(1)
Eric Langar 6/27/2012 10,000 10,000 10,000
Eric Langar 71212012 215,000 215,000 215,000
Phillip Marshall 7/2/2012 40,000 40,000 40,000
Travis Rees: 6/27/2012 10,000 10,000 10,000
Travis Rees: 7/2/2012 40,000 40,000 40,000

(1) The stock option awards described in this tchare granted pursuant to the Compan3010 Stock Option Plan. In this case, the ni
executives were not required to reach any spep#idormance level to receive these awards. RatherCompensation Committee grar
these awards to reward overall outstanding perfoomaf the named executives during fiscal year 20TBere were no stock option aws
during the 2013 fiscal year.




Outstanding Equity Awards at Fisca

Year End
OPTION AWARDS STOCK AWARDS
Equity
Equity Incentive
Incentive Plan
Plan Awards:
Equity Awards: Market or
Incentive Number Payout
Plan of Value of
Awards: Unearned Unearned
Number of Number Market Shares, Shares,
Number of  Securities of Shares  Value of Units or Units or
Number of  Securities Underlying or Units Shares or Other Other
Securities  Underlying Unexerciset of Stock Units of Rights Rights
Underlying Unexercisec Option that have  Stock that that have that have
Unexercisec  Options Unearned Exercise Option not have not not not
Options (#) #) Options Price Expiration Vested Vested Vested Vested
Name Exercisable Unexercisabl #) ($) Date #) ($) (%) $
(@) (b) (©) (d) (e) (e) (@) (h) 0] 0)
Eric S. Langat 10,000 0 0 8.78 6/27/14 0 0 0 0
215,00C 0 0 8.35 712114 0 0 0 0
Phillip Marshall 40,000 0 0 8.35 712114 0 0 0 0
Travis Rees 10,000 0 0 8.78 6/27/14 0 0 0 0
40,000 0 0 8.35 712114 0 0 0 0
OPTION EXERCISES
One of the named executive officers exercised stptions in 2011.
Option Awards
Number of
Shares
Acquired Value Realized
Name on Exercise on Exercise
Travis Rees: 5000 $ 14,415

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We have not paid any cash directors' fees untiB20tien we paid $15,000 to each of the non-execulineztors. We pay the expenses of |
directors in attending board meetings. In August120wve issued 7,500 stock options to each Direstor is not a member of managem
These options became exercisable in August 20X® atstrike price of $7.15 per share and expiredugust 2013. These options were r
exercised. In September 2010, we issued 10,00@ sfmions to each Director who is not a member ahagement and 5,000 shares to
Director who is a member of management. These apti@came exercisable in September 2010, hadka ptice of $10.25 per share with
expiration date in September 2012. These options wrchanged on July 2, 2012, for an equal numbeptions, with a strike price of $8.
per share, which become exercisable in July 2083e=apire in July 2014. Each naxecutive Director also received 20,000 optiongwme 27
2012 and each executive director also received0DO0pptions. These options become exercisable ia 2083, have a strike price of $8.78
share and expire in June 2014. Following is a sdleeaf the value of the options issued in the yrated September 30, 2013:




Nonqualified

Fees Earned Non-Equity Deferred
or Paid in Stock Option Incentive Plan  Compensation All Other
Cash Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation Total
Name $) $) $) $) $) $) %)
(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) V) )] (h)
Robert Watter: 15,000 -0- $ 35,140 -0- -0- -0- $ 50,140
Nourdean Anaka 15,000 -0- % 35,140 -0- -0- -0- % 50,140
Steve Jenkin 15,000 -0- $ 35,140 -0- -0- -0- $ 50,140
Luke Lirot 15,000 -0- $ 35,140 -0- -0- -0- $ 50,140
Eric Langar -0- 0- % 17,570 -0- -0- 0% 17,570
Travis Rees: -0- -0- $ 17,570 -0- -0- -0- $ 17,570
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

On July 23, 2012, we entered into a new Employnfegreement with our Chief Executive Officer and Rdest, Eric Langan. His previo
employment agreement expired on April 1, 2012. kv agreement has a term of three years and peo¥idean annual base salary
$750,000 for the first year of the term and an ahtase salary of $825,000 for the second and ffged of the term. Under the terms of
agreement, Mr. Langan is bound to a confidentiglityvision and cannot compete with us for a pedpdn termination of the agreement.

On July 23, 2012, we entered into a new Employmfggreement with Travis Reese, our Executive V.P. @hief Technology Officer. +
previously served under the title “Executive V.RdaDirector of Technology.His previous employment agreement expired on Felpri;
2012. The new agreement has a term of two yearpmavitles for an annual base salary of $230,00@h@ffirst year of the term and an ani
base salary of $240,000 for the second year ofetme. Under the terms of the agreement, Mr. Reebeund to a confidentiality provision &
cannot compete with us for a period upon termimatibthe agreement.

On June 27, 2013, we entered into an Employmenedégent with Phillip K. Marshall to serve as our &@Htinancial Officer. Mr. Marshal’
Employment Agreement extends through May 30, 2@h@, provides for an annual base salary of $245{00¢he first year, 250,000 for t
second year and $255,000 for the third year. Utderterms of his Employment Agreement, Mr. Marshslbound to a confidentiali
provision and cannot compete with us upon the afipin of his Employment Agreement.

The employment agreements of Messrs. Langan, Reeb&larshall each provide that, in the event waitgate such employee without ca
or such employee terminates his employment becaaseduce or fail to pay his compensation or mallgrchange his responsibilities, s
employee is entitled to receive in one lump sumnpayt the full remaining amount under the term af drinployment agreement to whick
would have been entitled had his agreement not tezerinated.

We have not established long-term incentive plardefined benefit or actuarial plans.
EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting andimiety qualified personnel, we believe that ouufatsuccess will depend in part on
continued ability to attract and retain qualifieetgonnel. We pay wages and salaries that we bedieveompetitive. We also believe that ec
ownership is an important factor in our ability dtract and retain skilled personnel. We have asbgtock option plans (the “Planggr
employees and directors. The purpose of the Ptatwsfurther the interests of the Company, our islidnses and our stockholders by provid
incentives in the form of stock options to key eoaygles and directors who contribute materially to success and profitability. The gre
recognize and reward outstanding individual perfomoes and contributions and will give such persansroprietary interest in us, tf
enhancing their personal interest in our continsigccess and progress. The Plans also assist umuasdbsidiaries in attracting and retair
key employees and directors. The Plans are admieisty the Board of Directors. The Board of Dioesthas the exclusive power to selec
participants in the Plans, to establish the terfrth@ options granted to each participant, provitted all options granted shall be granted :
exercise price equal to at least 85% of the fairketavalue of the common stock covered by the optia the grant date and to make
determinations necessary or advisable under thesPla

In August 1999, we adopted the 1999 Stock Optiam Pthe “1999 Plan™)vith 500,000 shares authorized to be granted alddusamler the 19¢
Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approved an Aiment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amendmentihich increased the total number of sh
authorized to 1 million. In July 2007, shareholdapproved an Amendment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amed”), which increased the to
number of shares authorized to 1.5 million. The9lB@an was terminated by law in July 2009. Ourr8a# Directors approved the 2010 St
Option Plan on September 30, 2010. The 2010 Pmapproved by the shareholders of the Compargdioption at the 2011 Annual Meet
of Shareholders. As of September 30, 2013, ther&@%5,000 stock options outstanding.




COMPENSATION POLICIES AND PRACTICES AS THEY RELATE TO RISK MANAGEMENT

We attempt to make our compensation programs disneey, balanced and focused on the long term.béleve goals and objectives of
compensation programs reflect a balanced mix ohtifaéive and qualitative performance measuresvimicaexcessive weight on a sin
performance measure. Our approach to compensatamtiqges and policies applicable to employees amtbwtants is consistent with t
followed for its executives. Based on these factars believe that our compensation policies andtioes do not create risks that
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effaatis.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disdusith management the Compensation DiscussiorAaatysis to be included in tt
Form 10K. Based on the reviews and discussions refeoeabbve, the Compensation Committee recommendwet8dard of Directors th
the Compensation Discussion and Analysis refemeabbve be included in this report.

The foregoing has been furnished by the Compenms&@nmittee.

Steven L. Jenkins
Luke Lirot
Nour-Dean Anakar

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partipation

The Compensation Committee is comprised of Mesenskins, Lirot and Anakar. No interlocking relasbip exists between any membe
the Compensation Committee and any member of drgr abmpany’s Board of Directors or compensatiamrittee.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Mattet

The following table sets forth certain informatiahDecember 2, 2013 , with respect to the benéfiwimership of shares of common stoct
(i) each person known to us who owns beneficialyrerthan 5% of the outstanding shares of commarks{é) each of our directors, (i) ea
of our executive officers and (iv) all of our exéga officers and directors as a group. Unless mifee indicated, each stockholder has
voting and investment power with respect to theeshahown. In computing the number and percentage of shanesficelly owned by eac
person, we include any shares of common stockdbald be acquired within 60 days by the exercisepifons or warrants. These share
however, are not counted in computing the percentagnership of any other persoms of December 2, 2013, there were 9,561,430 slud
common stock outstanding.

Number of Percent o
Name/Addres: shares Title of class Class (8
Eric S. Langat
10959 Cutten Roa
Houston, Texas 770¢ 1,445,60(1) Common stocl 14.77%

Phillip K. Marshall

10959 Cutten Roa

Houston, Texas 770¢ 50,63((2) Common stocl 0.53%
Robert L. Watter:

315 Bourbon Stre

New Orleans, Louisiana 701. 30,00((3) Common stocl 0.31%
Steven L. Jenkin

16815 Royal Crest Driv

Suite 16C

Houston, Texas 770t 30,00((4) Common stocl 0.31%
Travis Rees:

10959 Cutten Roa

Houston, Texas 770¢ 61,33((5) Common stocl 0.64 %

Nour-dean Anaka
3978 Sorrento Valley Drive, #1(

San Diego, California 9212 30,00((6) Common stocl 0.31%
Luke Lirot

2240 Belleair Road, Suite 1!

Clearwater, FL 3376 30,00((7) Common stocl 0.31%
All of our Directors and Officers as a Group of eB\(7) person 1,677,56 Common stocl 16.78%

E. S. Langan. L.F
10959 Cutten Roa
Houston, Texas 770¢ 578,63: Common stocl 6.05 %

(1) Mr. Langan has sole voting and investmeantgr for 641,977 shares of common stock he owreztir. Mr. Langan has shared
voting and investment power for 578,632 shareshbaiwns indirectly through E. S. Langan, L.P. Mangan is the general partner
of E. S. Langan, L.P. This amount also includeongtto purchase up to 225,000 shares of commah sthich are presently



exercisable

(2) Includes 10,630 shares of common stockvresalirectly. This amount also includes optionpuiochase up to 40,000 shares of
common stock which are presently exercisz

(3) Includes options to purchase up to 30,000 sharesrmafmon stock that are presently exercise
(4) Includes options to purchase up to 30,000 sharesrafnon stock that are presently exercise

(5) Includes 11,330 shares of common stockvresalirectly. This amount also includes optionpuochase up to 50,000 shares of
common stock which are presently exercisz

(6) Includes options to purchase up to 30,000 sharesrmafmon stock that are presently exercise

(7) Includes options to purchase up to 30,000 sharesrafnon stock that are presently exercise
The Company is not aware of any arrangements thad cesult in a change in control of the Company.
The disclosure required by Item 201(d) of RegutafeK is set forth in Item 5 herein and is incogted herein by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence.
Our Board of Directors has adopted a policy thatlmsiness affairs will be conducted in all respdnt standards applicable to publicly t
corporations and that we will not enter into anjufa transactions and/or loans between us and flicers, directors and 5% shareholc
unless the terms are no less favorable than coaldbtained from independent, third parties and wdl approved by a majority of ¢
independent and disinterested directors. We ctiyréave four independent directors, Steven JenRilmsir-Dean Anakar, Robert Watters
Luke Lirot. We know of no related transactionsttee years ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.
Review, Approval, or Ratification of Transactions
Currently, we rely on our Board of Directors toiew related party transactions on an ongoing hasggevent conflicts of interest. Our Bo
of Directors reviews a transaction in light of #iféiliations of the director, officer, or employe@ad the affiliations of such perssnmmediat
family. Our Board of Directors will approve or rfgtia transaction if it determines that the tranigecis consistent with our best interests ant
best interests of our shareholders.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The following table sets forth the aggregate fesd pr accrued for professional services and thygegte fees paid or accrued for auditec

services and all other services rendered by Whilegn LLP for the audit of our annual financialtataents for fiscal years 2012, 2011
2010.




2013 2012 2011

(in thousands

Audit fees $ 295 $ 266 $ 261
Audit-related fee: - 120 -
Tax fees 78 63 67

All other fees -

$ 373 $ 449 % 328

Total

The category of “Audit feesincludes fees for our annual audit, quarterly regieand services rendered in connection with regojdilings
with the SEC, such as the issuance of comfortreetiad consents.

The category of “Audit-related fees” includes asifion audits, internal control reviews and accaumtonsultation.
The category of “Tax fees” includes consultatiolated to corporate development activities.
All above audit services, audit-related serviced t@x services were papproved by the Audit Committee, which concludeat the provisio

of such services by Whitley Penn LLP was compatiité the maintenance of that firmindependence in the conduct of its auditing fions
The Audit Committee’s outside auditor independenaléecy provides for pre-approval of all servicesfpemed by the outside auditors.




PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
Exhibit 21- Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Exhibit 23- Consent of Whitley Penn LLP, independent auditors

Exhibit 31.1- Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Rick'Cabaret International, Inc. required by Rule 138€t) or Rule 15d 14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putgaaBection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 31.2- Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Rick’Cabaret International, Inc. required by Rule 13€t) or Rule 15d - 14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putgaaection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 32.1- Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiginancial Officer of Rick’s Cabaret Internationaic. pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Section X858 U.S.C. 63.




SIGNATURES

In accordance with the requirements of Sectionflb@d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant haseduhis report to be signed or
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrine December 16, 2013.

Rick's Cabaret International, Ir
/sl Eric S. Langal

By: Eric S. Langat
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange A, report has been signed below by the followiagspns in the capacities anc
the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/sl Eric S. Langal
Eric S. Langat Director, Chief Executive Officer, and Presid December 16, 201

/s/ Phillip K. Marshal
By: Phillip K. Marshall Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accountingfioér December 16, 201

/sl Travis Rees
Travis Rees: Director and Executive Vice Preside December 16, 201

/s/ Robert L. Watter
Robert L. Watter: Director December 16, 201

/s/ Nou-Dean Anaka
Nour-Dean Anaka Director December 16, 201

/sl Steven Jenkir
Steven Jenkin Director December 16, 201

/s/ Luke Lirot
Luke Lirot Director December 16, 201




Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of the Registran

Name

State of Organizatio

12291 CBW LLC

1957 Delamo LLC

BMB Dining Services (Austin), Inc
BMB Dining Services (Beaumont), In
BMB Dining Services (Stemmons), Ir
BMB Dining Services (Webster), In
Bobby's Novelty, Inc

Broadstreets Cabaret, Ir

CA Ault Investments, In

Cabaret North Parking, In

Citation Land LLC

E. D. Publications, Inc

Fine Dining Club Inc

Global Marketing Agency, Inc

Green Star Inc

Hotel Development Texas Lt
lllusions Dallas Private Club LL!
Jaguars Acquisition, In

Jaguars Holdings, In

JAI Dining Services (Beaumont), Ir
JAI Dining Services (Edinburg), In
JAI Dining Services (El Paso), In

JAI Dining Services (Harlingen), In
JAI Dining Services (Longview), In
JAI Dining Services (Lubbbock), In
JAI Dining Services (Odessa ), Ir
JAI Dining Services (Odessa), Ir

JAI Dining Services (Phoenix), In
JAI Dining Services (Tye), In

Joint Ventures, Inc

Miami Gardens Square One, I

New Spiros, LLC

North IH 35 Investments, Ini
Peregrine Enterprises, Ir

PNC Marketing

RB Restaurants, In

RCI Dating Services, In

RCI Debit Services, Inc

RCI Dining DFW, Inc.

RCI Dining Services (Vee), Ini

RCI Dining Services (37th Street), Ir
RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway), Ir
RCI Dining Services (Beaumont), Ir
RCI Dining Services (Charlotte), In
RCI Dining Services (Imperial Valley), In
RCI Dining Services (Indiana), In
RCI Dining Services (Inwood), In
RCI Dining Services (Manana), In
RCI Dining Services (New York), In
RCI Dining Services (Round Rock), Ir

Texas
California
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Florida
Texas
Texas
New York
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
North Caroling
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
New York
Texas




RCI Dining Services (Stemmons), Ir Texas

RCI Dining Services (Stemmons2), It Texas
RCI Dining Services (Sulphur), In Louisiana
RCI Dining Services (Superior Parkway), li Texas
RCI Dining Services (Tarrant County), Ir Texas
RCI Dining Services MN (115 S. 4th Street), | Minnesota
RCI Dining Services MN (4th Street), Ir Minnesota
RCI Entertainment (3105-35), Inc. Texas
RCI Entertainment (3315 N FWY FW), In Texas
RCI Entertainment (Austin), Ini Texas
RCI Entertainment (Dallas), In Texas
RCI Entertainment (Delamo), In Texas
RCI Entertainment (Las Vegas), It Nevada
RCI Entertainment (Media Holdings), Ir Texas
RCI Entertainment (Minnesota), Ir Minnesota
RCI Entertainment (New York), In New York
RCI Entertainment (North Carolina), Ir North Caroline
RCI Entertainment (North FW), In Texas
RCI Entertainment (Northwest Hwy), In Texas
RCI Entertainment (Philadelphia), Ir Texas
RCI Entertainment (San Antonio), Ir Texas
RCI Entertainment (Texas), In Texas
RCI Entertainment MN 300 South 3rd Street, | Minnesota
RCI Holdings, Inc Texas
RCI Internet Holdings, Inc Texas
RCI Internet Services, In Texas
RCI Leasing LLC Texas
RCI Management Services, Ir Texas
RCI Wireway, Inc. Texas
Rick's Cabaret International, Ir Texas

S Willy's Lubbock LLC Texas
Sadco, Inc Texas
Spiros Partners Ltc Texas
Stellar Management, In Florida
StorErotica Magazine, Ini Delaware
Tantra Dance, Inc Texas
Tantra Parking, Inc Texas
TEZ Management LL( Pennsylvani:
TEZ Real Estate LI Pennsylvani:
The End Zone, In Pennsylvani:
Top Shelf Entertainment LL! North Caroline
Trumps, Inc. Texas
TT Leasing Inc Texas
WKC, Inc. Texas
XTC Cabaret (Dallas), In Texas

XTC Cabaret, Inc Texas




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrdggstration statement (No. 333-174207) on For&h@-Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc.

(i) our report dated December 16, 2013, with respethe consolidated balance sheets of Rigkabaret International, Inc. and subsidiarie
of September 30, 2013 and 2012, and the relatesbidated statements of income, comprehensive ir¢caimanges in permanent stockholder:
equity, and cash flows for each of the years inttineeyear period ended September 30, 2013 and (ii)eport dated December 16, 2013, \
respect to the effectiveness of internal contr@rdinancial reporting for the fiscal year endegt®eber 30, 2013, which reports appear it
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rick’s Cabaret Inggianal, Inc. for the fiscal year ended Septemlifier2813.

/s! Whitley Penn LLP

Dallas, Texas
December 16, 2013




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric S. Langan, Chief Executive Officer of RiskCabaret International, Inc., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Rick's Cabaret International, In

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adner financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under 1
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhteubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpor, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be design
under my supervision, to provide reasonable assaraggarding the reliability of financial reportiagd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsingport our conclusiol
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contral$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyetlis report based
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during tt
registrant's most recent fiscal year that has nadlferaffected, or is reasonably likely to matelyahffect, the registran
internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | baglisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatidntefal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's independent reggstgrublic accounting firm and the audit committé¢he registrant's board of direct
(or persons performing the equivalent functiol

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesge the design or operation of internal controkmofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrant's ability to record, process, summaenré report financi
information; anc

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesamagement or other employees who have a signifioalet in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: December 16, 2013 By: /s/ Eric S. Langal
Eric S. Langat
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.Z

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Phillip K. Marshall, Chief Financial Officer arférincipal Accounting Officer of Rick’s Cabaret énhational, Inc., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Rick's Cabaret International, In

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adner financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under 1
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhteubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpor, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be design
under my supervision, to provide reasonable assaraggarding the reliability of financial reportiagd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsingport our conclusiol
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contral$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyetlis report based
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during tt
registrant's most recent fiscal year that has nadlferaffected, or is reasonably likely to matelyahffect, the registran
internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | baglisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatidntefal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's independent reggstgrublic accounting firm and the audit committé¢he registrant's board of direct
(or persons performing the equivalent functiol

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesge the design or operation of internal controkmofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrant's ability to record, process, summaenré report financi
information; anc

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesamagement or other employees who have a signifioalet in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: December 16, 2013 By: /s/ Phillip K. Marshal
Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer/Principal Accounting Offic




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR
RULE 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Rick’s Catdnternational, Inc. (the "Company") on FormHK@er the year ended Septem
30, 2013 as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmmission on the date hereof (the "Report"), theeusigned Chief Executive Officer &
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursugh®b of the Sarban&xley Act of 200z
that based on their knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; an

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiodi and results «
operations of the Compar

/sl Eric S. Langal

Eric S. Langat

Chief Executive Office
December 16, 201

/s/ Phillip K. Marshal
Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Office
December 16, 201

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906, or other document authenticatiegnowledging, or otherwise adopting
signature that appears in typed form within thetetaic version of this written statement requitsdSection 906, has been provided to Rick’
Cabaret International, Inc. and will be retainedRigk’s Cabaret International, Inc. and furnished toSkeurities and Exchange Commis:
or its staff upon request.

The foregoing certification is being furnished tw tSecurities and Exchange Commission as an exbiliiie Form 1k and shall not
considered filed as part of the Form 10-K.




